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Statement from our Clinical Chair and 
Accountable Officer 
 
Welcome to the NHS County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group’s (CCG) Annual Report 
and Accounts for the 2020/21 financial year.   
 
This report is our first as NHS County Durham CCG, following the merger last year of NHS 
North Durham CCG and NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield (DDES) CCG.  It has 
been a year that has been dominated by the Coronavirus Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
This report provides an overview of our role and responsibilities as a CCG planning and 
purchasing health care services on behalf of our population of around 520,000 people.  
The report is split into a number of sections; the performance section provides an overview of 
who we are and how we have performed against national standards.  The accountability report 
provides detail about our committees and governance structures as well as information about 
our member GP practices.   
 
The last section of the report is our annual accounts and provides detail about how we have 
spent the budget allocated to us to plan and purchase health care services on behalf of our 
local population.  In 2020/21 this was significantly impacted by the temporary financial 
arrangements implemented across the NHS in response to the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
Integration is very much at the heart of what we do in County Durham and has served us well 
in ensuring a system-wide response to the Covid-19 pandemic by working very closely with our 
partners as part of the County Durham Care Partnership. 
 
The Partnership brings together NHS organisations, Durham County Council and other health 
and care providers in a true collaboration, driving our ambition to further develop system-wide 
integrated models of care.  Over the past four years the Partnership has been successfully 
developing opportunities to provide health and social care services in an integrated way to the 
people of County Durham. This has been evidenced with the implementation of a new 
community service model, wrapped around primary care, as well as the emerging integrated 
commissioning function.  
 
As we reflect on 2020/21, with the rollout of the Covid-19 vaccination programme we hope that 
we will be able to return to some form of normality in the not too distant future and continue our 
focus on providing services that meet the needs of our local communities.  The pandemic has 
resulted in new ways of working with our staff having to adapt to working from home supported 
by appropriate information technology developments, with many being redeployed to support 
the different responses required.  This has included individuals being redeployed to frontline 
services to support colleagues in secondary care, being moved to completely different areas of 
work to provide project support, for example for the management of the provision of Protective 
Personal Equipment (PPE) or supporting our member practices in delivering the Influenza 
vaccination programme and more latterly the Covid-19 vaccination programme. 
 
2020/21 has further highlighted the need for us to address inequalities in health across our 
area.  This is something that our Lay Members and Secondary Care Clinician on the 
Governing Body championed during the year and will help us to focus on how the outcomes of 
work that we undertake will have an impact on existing inequalities, ensuring positive 
improvements. 
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It has also been a difficult year in which to engage with patients and our communities due to 
the impact of Covid-19 and social distancing measures.  However, we have used virtual means 
such as Microsoft Teams and Zoom to maintain those strong community and stakeholder links 
and have been pleased with the response to a recent new phase of activity on Shotley Bridge 
Hospital which will continue into the next financial year when we look forward to having 
conversations with the population we serve face to face. 
 
Our work has continued to be led by local clinicians working within our member practices and 
local health systems. They work to ensure a continued focus on the specific health needs of 
our local populations, working closely with Durham County Council and local NHS providers. 
 
The Covid-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on performance against Constitutional 
standards.  All non-urgent routine services were suspended for part of the year, with significant 
capacity constraints being experienced throughout the whole year as resources were 
necessarily diverted to the pandemic response.  Unfortunately, this is reflected in the 
performance against the standards.  Recovery of performance will be prioritised in 2021/22, 
 
From a regional perspective, we have remained a key NHS partner in the North East and North 
Cumbria Integrated Care System (ICS) which is supported by four Integrated Care 
Partnerships (ICPs), playing a key leadership role in the Central ICP area, which ensures we 
have regional influence, insight and leadership. 
 
Finally, looking ahead to 2021/22 it is inevitable that the impact of the pandemic will continue to 
be felt for a long time to come.  Covid-19 has had an unprecedented impact on the health and 
social care system and while we have in the North East made fantastic progress with the 
rollout of the vaccination programme, there will be many challenges ahead as we look at the 
associated impact on many of our services.   
 
Our thoughts go out to all of those who lost loved ones to the pandemic not least the families of 
our colleagues Dr Poornima Nair of Station View Medical Practice and Dr K V Reddy who had 
retired, and our grateful thanks to all our health and social care staff and other keyworkers for 
their spirit, determination, skill and dedication.   
  
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

Dr Jonathan Smith     Dr Neil O’Brien 
Clinical Chair     Accountable Officer  
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PERFORMANCE REPORT 
Performance Overview 
 
NHS County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) has an annual duty to review 
national planning guidance and agree a range of priorities for the financial year that form the 
basis of our annual operating plans.  The purpose of the following overview section of our 
annual report is to enable you to understand the CCG, our purpose, our challenges, our 
approach, our priorities, and any associated risks to the achievement of those priorities. It also 
outlines how we have performed during the year and should enable you to have an overview of 
the CCG and work that we do without the need to look further into the Annual Report.   
 
The content that follows contains further detail including that about accountability and decision-
making. The sections being: 
 

• a performance analysis, 
• a Corporate Governance Report, 
• a Remuneration and Staff Report,  
• a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report, 
• the CCG’s Financial Statements. 

 
In this overview we start with information specific to our CCG, our population, our geographical 
area and how our member practices work together locally to help to address health 
inequalities. 
 
We then explain our role in regional collaborative working across the health and social care 
system across the North East and North Cumbria which is the NHS England / NHS 
Improvement geographical area within which we operate.     
 
Focussing on local arrangements we turn to the integrated approach we take with our local 
partners as part of the County Durham Care Partnership. Our key partners include Durham 
County Council, County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust which is our main 
acute and community trust, and Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust our main 
provider of mental health services and services for those with learning disabilities. We 
reference our Health and Social Care Plan, our Joint Health and Wellbeing Board Strategy and 
our County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan for 2020-25.   
 
There are also a range of other areas that are essential to the successful delivery of our 
ambitions that we try never lose sight of. These include improving quality, engaging with our 
patients and the public, tackling our performance challenges, financial stability and the 
management of risk. 
 
We outline the priorities we focussed on in 2020/21 highlighting some examples of specific 
pieces of work which were predominantly in response to the global Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
Finally, we have a brief look ahead at the priorities for 2021/22.  
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About NHS County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group 
 
This is the first year of the existence of the NHS County Durham Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG).  As part of the application process for the merger of Durham Dales, Easington 
and Sedgefield CCG and North Durham CCG, resulting in the formation of County Durham 
CCG, we were required to prepare and submit Benefits Realisation Plans that identified key 
benefits to be achieved by the merger.  Achievement against these plans to be submitted to 
NHS England and NHS Improvement (NHSE/I) in late March/April 2021.   
 
The overriding aim of the merger was to create a stronger, clearer and more consistent 
commissioning voice for the area, built on the strong foundations of network-based, clinically-
led commissioning, and to be able drive forward the changes needed to deliver the resilient 
and sustainable NHS services that local people need.  In addition, by consolidating decision 
making, we have been able to work in a more collaborative way with our providers in order to 
collectively drive quality and focus on the important issues, working together to solve them. 
 
The five benefit outcome themes that we achieved and are outlined below: 
 

• improved health and wellbeing of the County Durham population whilst retaining local 
patient focus, 

• additional availability of resource for health care and improved patient outcomes, 
• improved collaborative working, team satisfaction and communication between staff and 

stakeholders, 
• reduced financial and corporate risk, including improved control and increased power of 

negotiation / influence,    
• a number of the priorities of the NHS Long Term Plan were delivered. 

 
The CCG's Executive Committee received an update against progress in October 2020 and 
then approved the final version for submission to NHSE/I at a meeting in March 2021. 
 
Our Vision, Objectives and Values 
 
One of our first priorities as a newly established CCG was to agree our vision, our objectives 
and our values.  These were determined with input from our member practices and staff.  They 
were agreed by our Governing Body at the start of the year and align with those of our partners 
in the County Durham Care Partnership. 
 
Vision  

• Working together in County Durham for healthier lives. 
 
Objectives 

• Work with partners to ensure a planned and effective recovery from the impact of the 
Covid-19 pandemic. 

• Be an effective partner, aligning strategies, policies and activities to reduce duplication 
and ensure greater impact on the population’s health and wellbeing.   

• Develop and deliver high quality services with co-design and co-production with those 
who use services and those who provide support as the norm. 

• Maximise opportunities to work with local communities to reduce health inequalities and 
improve health and wellbeing. 

• Use our collective resources as partners to deliver the best possible health and 
wellbeing outcomes for population of county Durham.  
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• Make the best use of public funds to ensure health care meets the needs of patients and 
is safe and effective. 

• Ensure the CCG demonstrates effective corporate governance and risk management in 
everything it does. 

 
Values 

• We put people at the centre of everything we do  
• We achieve more by working with others 
• We aspire to find better and different ways of doing things 
• We value people's differences 
• We get the best value from all that we do 
• We are honest and open about what we can and cannot do 
• We ensure safe care and positive experiences 

 
Our People 
 
Our staff have had to work very differently this year as a result of the pandemic.  They have 
had to quickly adapt to working from home.  A great deal of flexibility has been demonstrated 
with some being redeployed to frontline services, others taking on significantly different tasks 
through the year and a considerable number volunteering to support our practices and Primary 
Care Networks in delivering the vaccination programmes. 
 
We established staff working groups to look at the different elements of new ways of working 
and ensured that all staff undertook risk assessments, particularly our most vulnerable 
members of staff who were shielding or of ethnic origin.  Our staff were also asked to complete 
regular questionnaires as part of our efforts to monitor wellbeing. 
 
The NHS People Plan for 2020/2021 set out what we can expect of each other and our 
leaders.  Work this year has been a step in the right direction but we will work with our HR 
team to develop a more structured approach for 2021/22 as life returns to normal. 
 
Our Constitution 
 
Our Constitution sets out our duties and how we make decisions. It sets out our responsibilities 
as commissioners of care for people in County Durham.  It describes our governing principles, 
rules and procedures that we adopt for the day to day running of our CCG and so enables us 
to achieve our vision. 
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Our Population 

 
Our health challenges 
People who live in County Durham area have significant health challenges and problems. They 
are also more likely to die sooner than those living in other parts of the country. The main 
causes of early death include high levels of cancer and diseases of the heart or blood vessels. 
With an ageing population, we also experience greater demand for hospital services and an 
increase in illnesses related to older people such as stroke, long-term conditions, and 
dementia.  
 
The large student population in Durham City results in a demand for sexual health, alcohol, 
and harm reduction services. Other key challenges facing County Durham CCG include: 
 

• health problems caused by unemployment and low incomes, 
• many local people are still smoking, drinking too much alcohol and are overweight, 
• people with disabilities have worse health than those without, 
• local children’s health and lifestyles are poorer than elsewhere in the country, 
• the environment can have an effect on health, for example changes in the weather or 

lots of traffic in some areas 
• social isolation. 

 
Reducing health inequalities  
 
The need to ensure that we continue to address health inequalities has been highlighted 
further this year as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic.  Work has been led by our Lay 
Members on the Governing Body to ensure that addressing health inequalities is at the heart of 
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everything we do.  Both the older population and BAME (black and minority ethnic) population 
have been affected disproportionately by the Covid-19 pandemic.  There have also been 
indirect consequences for children and adults with regard to education and employment, 
particularly affecting those lower income families.  Governing Body members have considered 
the CCG’s statutory responsibilities with discussion about the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA) and whether there was sufficient and appropriate focus on inequalities 
when work was undertaken.  It was felt that there needed to be more focus on strategic issues 
and proactive learning from strategic documents such as the Marmot Reviews.  It has been 
agreed that there will be greater focus on health inequalities going forward to make a 
difference across the range of vulnerabilities.   
 
We understand our local population and local health needs, through the use of the JSNA and 
we collate additional supporting data including local health profiles as well as qualitative data 
through our local engagement initiatives which aim to engage hard to reach groups.  
 
As the local commissioners of health services, we seek to ensure that the services that are 
purchased on behalf of our local population reflect their needs. We work in partnership with 
local NHS Trusts as well as local voluntary sector organisations and community groups to 
identify the needs of the diverse local community we serve to improve health and health care 
for the local population. More detailed information is provided in the Performance Analysis 
section from page 30.  
 
The pandemic had a significant impact upon the scope for patient and public engagement 
activities but we have continued to engage wherever possible in new ways.  Again, more 
detailed information is provided in the Performance Analysis section from page 49 onwards. 
 
Our area 
 
Our 61 member practices serve very different patient lists with significant variations in health, 
covering a mixture of rural and urban areas and a large and internationally diverse student 
population at Durham University. The CCG is coterminous with Durham County Council and 
about 97% of our population live within the council boundaries. The remainder live in the 
Gateshead and Sunderland Local Authority areas. 
 
Clinical Leadership 
 
We have continued to ensure strong clinical leadership throughout 2020/21. Our Clinical Chair, 
Clinical Accountable Officer and Medical Directors are all GPs who work within the CCG’s 
area.  In addition, we have a several Executive GPs and GP Clinical Leads who provide clinical 
advice and local knowledge across the range of our clinical priorities.  They take part in our 
governance arrangements as appropriate to ensure clinical challenge.  The leadership they 
provide has been particularly important this year in our response to the Covid-19 pandemic not 
just within the CCG but across the wider system, including both our Clinical Chair and Clinical 
Accountable Officer working on wards within our community hospitals in Bishop Auckland and 
Chester-le-Street.  Our GP Clinical Leads have supported both the Influenza Vaccination 
Programme and the Covid-19 Vaccination Programmes, with sessions being used to ensure 
the most vulnerable in our communities, such as the homeless receive their vaccinations. 
 
Our approach  
 
Led by our member general practices NHS County Durham CCG exists to secure high quality 
services for our local population. We are committed to ensuring that people get the same 
quality and access to health services, wherever they live. We aim to ensure that health 
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services meet the needs of patients, that the health of the community is improved, health 
inequalities are reduced, and that the CCG obtains value for money and efficiency from 
available resources.   
 
In doing this we follow national guidance and work collaboratively with our partners both 
regionally and locally.   
 
As outlined earlier the Covid-19 pandemic has further highlighted the need to focus on 
inequalities across our population and we have worked from Governing Body level with 
colleagues in public health in particular to ensure that tackling inequalities is central to our 
work.  
 
Our Primary Care Networks (PCNs) 
 
Primary Care Networks (PCN) bring together groups of practices to deliver services to 
populations of 30-50,000. They play a vital role in bringing together primary care and 
community services, mental health, the voluntary sector and pharmacy services to provide 
more joined up, proactive care for their patient populations.  We have 13 PCNs:    
 
Bishop Auckland PCN Chester-le-Street PCN Claypath and University PCN 
Derwentside PCN Durham East PCN Durham West PCN 
Easington Central PCN Easington District PCN North Easington PCN 
Sedgefield PCN Sedgefield North PCN Teesdale PCN 
Wear Valley PCN   
 
With the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic it was apparent very quickly that working 
collaboratively within PCNs could make a significant difference.  Supported by the CCG, PCNs 
and their constituent practices responded quickly, introducing measures to protect their 
patients and their staff.  More detail about this is included in the section on Key Pieces of Work 
from page 19. 
 
Despite the restrictions around the pandemic our PCNs continued to recruit to a range of 
additional roles to improve the care provided to their patients. These included Clinical 
Pharmacists, Pharmacy Technicians, First Contact Physiotherapists, Physician Associates, 
Care Coordinators, Social Prescribing Lind Workers and Nursing Associates. 
 
Regional Collaboration  
 
Local Resilience Forum (LRF) 
 
The Local Resilience Forum has undertaken a significant role this year in co-ordinating the 
response to the Covid-19 pandemic.  The LRF is a multi-agency partnership made up of 
representatives from local public services, including emergency services, the NHS, local 
authorities and others when necessary such as the military, voluntary organisations, the 
Highways Agency and public utility companies.  We have been an active member of the LRF 
across the year with a nominated Executive Director attending all meetings to ensure 
consistency throughout the pandemic. 
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The North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care System (ICS) and Integrated Care 
Partnerships (ICPs) 
 
We are part of the North East and North Cumbria (NENC) Integrated Care System (ICS) which 
is a regional partnership between the NHS, local authorities and others, taking collective 
responsibility for resources, setting strategic objectives and care standards, and improving the 
health of the 3.1 million people it serves. We are a highly interdependent health and care 
system, with longstanding clinical networks and mutual aid arrangements for managing 
surge/winter and challenges such as Covid-19. 
   
Our ICS builds on existing local place-based leadership and responsibilities of clinical 
commissioning groups to plan and arrange services for local populations. During 2020/21 the 
legislative proposals for a Health and Care Bill - ‘Integration and Innovation: Working together 
to improve health and social care’ build on the work the system has been doing since the 
publication of the NHS Long Term Plan, and is in line with the need to bring together NHS 
organisations, local government and wider partners at a system level to deliver more joined up 
approaches to improving health and care outcomes, coterminous with local authorities. We and 
our provider partners have broadly welcomed the direction of travel towards a statutory body 
status for our ICS. 
 
Our ICS is focused on ‘at scale’ priorities that multiply our collective impact around overarching 
clinical strategy and clinical networks, strategic commissioning, and shared policy 
development. It is supported by four Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs).   
 
Further detail about our Networks, regional arrangements and achievements is outlined from 
page 45.  
 
Our Integrated Care Partnership  
- the Durham, South Tyneside and Sunderland Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) 
 
In County Durham, South Tyneside and Sunderland, NHS organisations have come together 
working with local authorities, to lead and plan care for their population in a coordinated way as 
the Durham, South Tyneside and Sunderland Integrated Care Partnership (ICP).   The three 
CCGs in the ICP sharing the same Accountable Officer.  We have agreed to work together at 
scale where it makes most sense to do so, and to protect and emphasise the importance of 
‘place’ - local accountability to local populations and the ability to respond to local 
needs.  Durham, South Tyneside and Sunderland Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) will 
continue to work with our partners to develop further care models that support the balancing of 
capacity and demand across the health economy.   
 
North East and North Cumbria Urgent and Emergency Care Network  
 
The CCG is an active member of the North East and North Cumbria Urgent and Emergency 
Care Network (UECN), which brings together organisations across the Integrated Care System 
(ICS) to ensure the quality, safety and equity of urgent and emergency care services in the 
region. 
 
The Network provides a delivery team (based at North of England Commissioning Support), a 
Directory of Services (DoS) function and real time information through the UEC-RAIDR urgent 
care App, allowing providers to focus on operational delivery whilst the Network provides 
operational and programme management support. 
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The Network entered 2020/21 with clear aims aligned to the NHS Long Term Plan, designed to 
reduce pressure on emergency hospital services, provide alternative pathways to ambulance 
services, continue to enhance integrated urgent care services and reduce length of stay in 
hospital and delayed discharges. 
 
The unprecedented challenges of the Covid-19 pandemic from early 2020 brought an 
inevitable change in approach, with the Network partners focusing all their efforts on delivery of 
frontline services.  Details of how the Network supported the partners is available from page 
56.  It includes detail about the significant advances made in the digital framework for the 
Directory of Services used by '111', '999' and clinicians in urgent and emergency care services, 
the UEC-RAIDR App and how the Network distributed over £780,000 in non-recurrent winter 
funding to support the system. 
 
Great North Care Record   
 
Over the last year, the Great North Care Record (GNCR) project has helped health and care 
workers throughout the North East and North Cumbria to deliver collaborative care during 
unprecedented times.  
 
The GNCR electronically connects patient information from GPs, local hospitals, social care, 
community and mental health teams together across the system, helping to make care better 
and safer. It operates in the North East of England and North Cumbria and covers the 3.6m 
people living in our region.  
 
The GNCR has securely enabled all GPs, most hospital Trusts (including North East 
Ambulance Service), and a local authority to share patient data, such as medications, hospital 
visits, referrals and letters. To date, information is being shared on the GNCR by: 
 

• All 400 + GP practices in the North East and North Cumbria 
• Over 200 community services  
• Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS 
• North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust Foundation Trust 
• County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust  
• Cumbria, Northumberland Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust 
• South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust 
• North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 
• Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust 
• Sunderland City Council  

 
The system is being widely used by health and care workers, with approximately 220,000 
views per month, or 7,000 a day.    
 
The aim is for information to be available from all practices, trusts and local authorities across 
the North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care System in 2021.  
 
A second phase of the GNCR will also be fully launched in 2021. My Great North Care Record 
is set to give patients access to their personal information, including hospital appointments and 
repeat prescriptions, via the NHS App. For more information, please visit 
www.greatnorthcarerecord.org.uk. 
 
 
 

http://www.greatnorthcarerecord.org.uk/
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Partnership working locally  
 
'Place-based' arrangements for the CCG is County Durham. The CCG is coterminous with our 
Local Authority, Durham County Council. 
 
In County Durham, we have a strong and long-standing track record of effective partnerships 
and integrated working in the County Durham Care Partnership.   
 
Locally we worked closely and in collaboration with our partners which include: 
 

• Durham County Council including Public Health and social care, 
• our 13 Primary Care Networks (PCNs), 
• County Durham and Darlington Local Medical Committee (LMC), 
• County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT) our local provider of 

acute and community care,  
• Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust (TEWV) our local provider of mental 

health and learning disabilities services, and 
• other providers such as the North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust which 

provides services to a larger geographical area. 
 
We have a Director of Integrated Community Services working jointly across the CCG, Durham 
County Council and CDDFT as well as a Head of Integrated Strategic Commissioning who is 
employed jointly by the CCG and Durham County Council.  
Our vision is 'To bring together health and social care and voluntary organisations to achieve 
improved health and wellbeing for the people of County Durham' which aligns with the Health 
and Wellbeing Board’s vision ‘County Durham is a healthy place, where people live well for 
longer’. 

 
Our commitment to the people of County Durham is to: 

 
• deliver the right care to you by teams working together, 
• help you and those in your community lead a healthy life, 
• build on existing teams already working together to help you stay well and remain 

independent, 
• provide improved services closer to your home, 
• offer a range of services working alongside GP practices which meet your needs. 

Across County Durham health, social care and voluntary organisations have already come 
together to agree a model of integrated care, as represented in the figure below.  
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Our collaborative approach across the County Durham has enabled: 
 

• faster improvements in care, 
• improved health outcomes across whole populations, 
• an improved approach to prevention with a focus on joined up solutions, 
• less duplication across the system, making it easier to navigate for the public and staff, 
• maximising the impact of the Durham pound by using collective resources more 

efficiently.  
 
The positive relationships and integrated approach that we had already developed proved to 
be significantly beneficial in enabling us to work together effectively and speedily in our joint 
response to the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
Local priorities are set out in strategies such as our Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 
 
We also have Health and Social Care Plan for County Durham agreed with partners which 
describes three key elements:  
 

• an Integrated Governance Framework, 
• an Integrated provider model for community services, 
• a proposed Joint Strategic Commissioning Function. 

 
The CCG is supported by North of England Commissioning Support (NECS) in commissioning 
services. We contract with NECS to provide a range of support services including provider 
management, finance and data analysis.   
 
Health and Social Care Plan for County Durham 
 
As already outlined above County Durham, there is a strong and long-standing track record of 
effective partnerships and integrated working. Health and Local Authority organisations 
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(provider and commissioner) work in line with the following principles for health and care 
delivery.  
 

• A whole system approach, moving from fragmented to integrated care, with a 
willingness to put the needs of the public before the needs of individual organisations.  

• Person-focused to promote wellbeing, prevention and independence.  
• Providing the right care and support, in the right place, at the right time, by the right 

person. 
• Delivering a sustainable health and social care system within existing resources, using a 

multidisciplinary team approach. 
• A system built on trust, not only between leaders and organisations but also with local 

people and communities. 
• Supporting and developing staff to develop a shared culture, behaviours and ownership. 
• Everyone’s contribution matters – from local people, frontline teams, healthcare 

practitioners, providers, voluntary and community sector leaders and board members. 
• The integrated model will be developed to link with the wider system including housing, 
• employment, the environment, voluntary and community facilities, in order to align 
• priorities for the benefit of local communities. This evolving partnership approach will 
• involve primary care being at the centre of patient activity and taking a proactive role in 
• the commissioning of both NHS and integrated service provision. 
 

The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
 
The CCG continues to be an active member of the County Durham Health and Wellbeing 
Board, with our Chief Officer holding the role of Vice-Chair. As a member of the Board the 
CCG has helped to shape the local priorities for County Durham as influenced by the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment. The Health and Social Care Act 2012 places clear duties on 
local authorities and CCGs to prepare a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS). The 
Health and Wellbeing Board agreed the JHWS 2020-25 at its meeting in March 2020, to 
provide a holding position for a year while work was undertaken to ensure the Strategy took 
account of the County Durham Vision 2035 the Marmot 10 Year Review and the NHS health 
inequalities paper. At that time the impact of the global coronavirus pandemic, Covid-19, could 
not have been foreseen and it is acknowledged the impact this has had on our services across 
the County. The updated JHWS 2021-2025 which reflects the impact of the pandemic will soon 
be published by the Health and Wellbeing Board, and although recovery will take years, we will 
continue to work together to prevent health and wellbeing inequalities widening even further 
through the promotion of inclusive programmes of work. The strategy has been aligned to 
other plans including the County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan and 
the County Durham Vision.  
 
The County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan for 2020-2025 
 
Our County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan for 2020-25 was updated 
in September 2020 to reflect the progress made against actions detailed within each chapter, 
and to reflect the work being undertaken to restore services after the first wave of the 
pandemic. The plan continues to reflect both The County Durham Partnership Vision for 2035 
and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2021-25. The next expected iteration of the plan 
which was due in Spring 2021 has been placed on hold as services respond to the second 
wave of the pandemic, however work continues on developing a whole health and care 
outcomes framework to support the work of the Integrated Care Board, reflecting the Triple 
Aim of improving outcomes and patient experience, and a sustainable workforce.   
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Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) 
 
The CCG remains an active partner in each of the fourteen Action Area Partnerships (AAPs) 
within its geography.  The partnerships also consist of members of the public, representatives 
for Durham County Council, town and parish councils, police, fire, health, housing, business, 
the University and voluntary organisations. Together we: 
 

• work with communities and organisations to meet the needs of the communities, 
through identifying local priorities and actions required to tackle them, 

• allocate funding to local organisations and support their development, 
• monitor the difference that funding and support is making to communities, 
• ensure that residents can get involved with consultation activities and are aware of what 

is going on in their community. 
 
The County Durham and Tees Valley Mental Health and Learning Disabilities 
Partnership  
 
In April 2017 the five CCGs across County Durham and the Tees Valley began a formal 
partnership arrangement with Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust (TEWV) with 
the aim of working together as one responsive system to plan, buy and deliver high quality, 
best value services for people living with learning disability, autism or mental health needs. The 
partnership continues to develop, working alongside our six local authorities who all have seats 
on the Partnership Board.  
 
The Partnership was formed based on our shared aspiration for better quality and outcomes 
leading to an improved quality of life for people who need our services, this is set against an 
ever increasing financial challenge for the NHS and a requirement to deliver National and 
Local plans.    
 
The Partnership has a set of strategic outcomes which are based on a recovery and wellbeing 
approach for all of our services and an improved experience of those services for all people 
using them. We recognise that people with mental health problems, learning disabilities or 
autism often have poorer physical health than the general population and this is something we 
aim to address.   
 
In order to improve our services, we need to make sure that investment is available and also 
that it is spent wisely. Over the life of the partnership we have significantly increased the 
investment in mental health and learning disability services per head of population by an 
average of more than 20%.  
 
More detail about out key outcomes, principles and how we have used our funding is available 
on page 46.  
 
Our other priority areas that we never lose sight of 
 
Improving quality  
 
Quality is defined as care that is safe, effective and provides as positive an experience as 
possible for patients. Commissioning high-quality, person centred healthcare is at the heart of 
everything we strive to achieve for people across County Durham.  
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To assist in the delivery of this we use a variety of tools, processes and mechanisms when 
reviewing our commissioned services. This work is undertaken in a collaborative manner with a 
wide range of partners and stakeholders from the health and social care economy including 
patient representatives and their carers. This approach assists us in obtaining the appropriate 
levels of evidence-based assurance as well as an understanding of the reality of how these 
services feel for patients, families and carers. These activities inform and shape our quality and 
safeguarding annual work programme. More detail is provided in the performance analysis 
report on page 33.  
 
Engaging with our patients and the public  
 
There was clearly a significant impact of Covid-19 upon the scope for patient, public and staff 
engagement activities that were possible during the year. 
 
We were however able to significantly develop our integrated approaches with health and care 
partners during this time. As part of this we have been jointly formulating plans across the local 
health and care system for future engagement approaches. 
  
Specific conversations took place this year regarding, experiences of primary care services 
during the first pandemic peak – which subsequently informed our strategy for these services 
for the rest of the year and will do in the future. We also gathered feedback regarding the 
patient transport services delivered locally. A review of community equipment services across 
Durham and Darlington was also completed by listening to staff, patients and family carers.  
 
Further public engagement was also able to take pace in relation to an updated clinical model 
for future services delivered at Shotley Bridge Community Hospital. The formal public 
consultation regarding a site for their delivery is scheduled for summer 2021.  
 
Throughout this time, efforts have been taken to continually reach out to and expand the 
connections we have with our local population through the use of our MyNHS membership 
scheme.  
 
Further information about our engagement and consultation activity is included from page 49. 
 
Our Performance Challenges 
 
Information about the CCG’s performance against the requirements under the NHS 
Constitution and the health outcome measures, against which the CCG is assessed under the 
CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework developed by NHSE/I, is included from page 
30. It includes information about plans that have been put in place to address those areas 
where performance has been below expectations.  
 
The Covid-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on performance against these standards.  
All non-urgent routine services were suspended for part of the year, with significant capacity 
constraints being experienced throughout the whole year as resources were necessarily 
diverted to the pandemic response.  This is reflected in the performance against the standards 
shown in this year's Annual Report. 
 
The information within this report includes data up to and including Quarter 4 2020/21.  Due to 
pressures arising from Covid-19 pandemic, some of the information has not been collected 
through 2020/21 in accordance with guidance from NHSE/I. 
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Recovery plans have been developed with our local providers, utilising both capacity within our 
NHS hospitals and local Independent Sector providers, however these are also currently 
impacted by Covid-19 restrictions, for example social distancing, and related capacity 
constraints.  
 
Financial Statements 
 
Also included in this report are the CCG’s financial statements for 2020/21 (pages 116 to 137).  
One of the CCG’s objectives is to make the best use of public funds to ensure health care 
meets the needs of patients and is safe and effective. The financial review section includes 
information about the systems and processes in place to achieve this – see page 36 onwards.  
 
In response to Covid-19, a temporary financial regime was put in place for 2020/21 by NHS 
England and NHS Improvement (NHSE/I).  All NHS Providers were moved on to block 
contracts and a cost reimbursement process was implemented for CCGs and NHS Providers 
for reasonable additional costs. 
 
The funding for the CCG for the first half of 2020/21 was based on centrally determined 
allocations, block contracts and retrospective top up processes for reasonable additional costs.  
 
For the second half of 2020/21, the revised regime was based on the principles of system 
allocations, system performance and risk management, centrally set block contract values and 
fixed funding for expected Covid-19 costs.  
 
All key statutory financial duties and targets have been delivered by the CCG during the year, 
with an additional in-year surplus of £2.35 million delivered, reflecting the successful 
management of cost pressures within available funding envelopes. 
 
Temporary financial arrangements will continue over the first six months of 2021/22. 
 
Anti-fraud, Bribery and Corruption  
 
The CCG will not accept any level of fraud, bribery or corruption. We have continued to be 
committed to protecting our assets and are committed to promoting honesty and integrity in all 
our activities. We remain determined to prevent, deter and detect all forms of fraud, bribery and 
corruption committed against, whether by internal or external parties.  
 
Management of Risk 
 
The CCG has an effective risk management strategy, systems and controls in place. Risk is 
identified and embedded in the organisation via a number of mechanisms including a 
comprehensive risk register which identifies current and prospective risks to the CCG. The risk 
register incorporates the full comprehensive list of all risks facing the CCG at an operational 
and strategic level.  

 
All risks are reviewed on at least a monthly basis, with all corporate ‘red’ risks, identified as 
having the potential to have a significant impact on the CCG corporate objectives, escalated 
and specifically reviewed by Governing Body. For most of 2020/21 our two most significant 
‘red’ risks related to the Covid-19 pandemic and the delivery of NHS Constitutional Standards.  
Both represent a significant continued challenge for the CCG and the health and social care 
system in general. 
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More detail about the management of the risks to the CCG is included in the Governance 
Statement (page 88). 
 
Equality and Diversity 
 
County Durham CCG complies with the Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector Equality Duty 
and we have demonstrated our commitment to taking equality, diversity and human rights into 
account in everything we do, whether that is commissioning services, employing people, 
developing policies, communicating, consulting or involving people in our work. More detail is 
available from page 52. 
 
Emergency Preparedness 
 
The CCG’s Business Continuity Plan (BCP) was updated in March 2020 to better reflect our 
critical business functions.  This was done in anticipation of all staff being required to work from 
home as a result of the first national lockdown due to the Coronavirus Covid-19 pandemic.  
The update led to a more robust consideration of the identification of critical services and 
minimum requirements. The plan follows the NHS England model and complies with the NHS 
England checklist.   
 
Both our emergency preparedness arrangements and our BCP have been tested throughout 
the year and as referenced earlier the CCG has been an active member of the Local 
Resilience Forum.  We will continue to review our plans to ensure that any lessons learned are 
incorporated.  
 
Similarly, our member practices have appropriate business continuity plans in place which 
have been tested due to the pandemic.   
 
Key priorities achieved or progressed during 2020/21 
 
Towards the end of last year, the CCG prioritised a number of projects and work to progress 
during 2020/21 across a full range of areas.  The Covid-19 pandemic significantly impacted 
those plans.  Priorities were reviewed on an on-going basis and work focussed on supporting 
our member practices and our partners within the County Durham Care Partnership and wider, 
in response to the pandemic.  This not only included the direct response that was needed but 
also work to support those non-Covid-19 related services that were severely affected by the 
pandemic.  Some areas of work were accelerated such as information technology 
developments in primary care, more effective support for care homes and social services, and 
the development of specific clinical pathways.  A summary of some of the key pieces of work 
undertaken is included below. 
 
Key pieces of work 
 
Some specific pieces of work that we are particularly proud of are highlighted below with some 
others being outlined in the section about how we engage with our patients and the public 
(page 49). 
 
CCG's response to the Covid-19 Pandemic 
NHS England/NHS Improvement (NHSEI) declared a Level 4 National Incident on 30 January 
2020 in response to the Covid-19 pandemic.  In managing our response, the CCG worked 
closely with partners and established governance arrangements in line with best practice for 
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Joint Emergency Services Interoperability Principles (JESIP) and Emergency Planning, 
Resilience and Response guidance. 
 
An Incident Command and Control Centre was set up, as directed by NHSEI to lead on all 
Covid-19 issues.  An Executive Director routinely attended the Local Resilience Forum 
meetings whilst others attended the range of meetings across both health and social care, 
established to manage the different elements of the collaborative response that was required.   
The Chief Officers and Executive Team met remotely on a daily basis as a Tactical Command 
Cell.  This ensured effective communication and a co-ordinated approach to the management 
of the CCG's response.  A team of staff was established to manage a dedicated Covid-19 e-
mail inbox from 8.00 am – 8.00 pm seven days a week.  The in-box was used to receive all 
national instruction and guidance, and to receive and answer all enquiries from our member 
practices and stakeholders.   
 
All non-essential local work was stopped and CCG staff were instructed to work remotely from 
home. A number of our clinical staff, including our Chair and Accountable Officer, were re-
deployed to frontline services to help provide much needed leadership and capacity in the 
system. Pre-existing partnership arrangements came to the fore, to ensure a coordinated 
system-wide response in a rapidly changing situation. 
 
The CCG established a range of communications to ensure up to date information was shared 
on a regular basis. A significant amount of information and guidance was being received on a 
daily basis. The CCG's existing newsletter for member practices and staff, was adapted and an 
electronic 'Covid-19 Headlines' newsletter was issued on a daily basis. 
 
All of the arrangements outlined above were reviewed on regular basis.  The frequency of 
meetings and newsletters was adapted in accordance with the situation as it evolved. 
 
The information provided below includes more detail about some of the elements of the work 
that was done. 
 
BAME (Black and Minority Ethnic) Risk Assessments in Primary Care 
During the first few months of the pandemic all general practices were asked to undertake a 
Risk Assessment for all BAME staff within their organisation.  Both the CCG and our general 
practices achieved 100% coverage. 
 
In recognition of their contribution to health care the CCG will be hosting a GP annual health 
conference on behalf of the North East and the theme for this year will be 'BAME GPs and their 
contribution to Health Care'. 
 
Primary Care Networks (PCNs) 
Our PCNs mobilised 'hot' and 'cold' hubs, for the care of Covid-19 and non-Covid-19 patients, 
respectively.  PCNs moved quickly to adopt a ‘triage first’ model together with online and video 
consultation, to significantly reduce face to face contact during the first lockdown, except where 
clinically appropriate.  Since then practices increased the number of face to face appointments 
that were available where appropriate. 
 
PCNs also undertook measures to protect their staff, including risk assessments for all staff, 
enabling remote working where appropriate and coordinating distribution of PPE (personal 
protective equipment) to ensure no practice went without. 
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Both the CCG and PCNs moved rapidly to online forums using video conferencing, information 
sharing and social media platforms for general practices to be kept informed, particularly in 
relation to the fast-changing guidance for primary care.  
 
Our PCNs have performed extremely well in delivering the Covid-19 vaccination programme, 
working through the Joint Committee on Vaccinations and Immunisations (JCVI) cohorts in line 
with national targets despite significant challenges and managing the strict cold chain 
requirements.  All this whilst providing as many routine and extended general practice services 
as possible and supporting their colleagues in secondary care. 
 
Infection Prevention and Control 
The focus of our Infection Prevention and Control Team throughout the year has been to 
provide professional clinical support and advice to colleagues in primary care, secondary care, 
social care and care homes about the response to Covid-19.   The team undertook a 
significant amount of work.  They established a seven-day support service, provided clinical 
infection control advice across all settings including Education, a range of training using new 
technologies as appropriate and effective regular communications about fast changing national 
guidance.   
 
The team was part of the NHS Improvement 'Super Trainers' drive, they trained all care home 
providers in County Durham and Darlington within a given time frame.  As the sessions were 
delivered virtually, they also opened these up nationally via NHS England to support areas that 
did not have specialised IPC support.  A number of areas took up this offer and all sessions 
were very well attended. 
 
Personal Protective Equipment 
The CCG supported our General Practices, local NHS providers and patients with packages of 
care in accessing personal protective equipment (PPE).  A small team was mobilised to 
manage supply and demand at a local level to ensure services could continue to operate safely 
and effectively.  The CCG worked collaboratively as a member of the Local Resilience Forum 
(LRF) PPE cell and with colleagues in Sunderland CCG and South Tyneside CCG to ensure 
this vital resource was available to all.  The CCG also liaised with local organisations including 
Durham University as well as schools/colleges to produce face visors and to provide protective 
equipment fitting services for frontline care workers.   
 
Medicines Optimisation 
As with our Infection Prevention and Control Team described above, our Medicines 
Optimisation team focussed on providing clinical support and advice to colleagues across the 
local health and social care system in support of the response to the Covid-19 pandemic.  Two 
members of the team were redeployed to County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation 
Trust to support the pharmacy team on the wards and in the dispensary. 
 
The pandemic led to changes in the way patients were managed within primary care with a 
focus on reduction of face-to-face contact to reduce risk of viral transmission.  The team 
updated all clinical guidance where appropriate, which provided advice about changing to 
alternative medication for patients to reduce face to face monitoring.  At the same time the 
team ensured excellent access to medicines for patients by increasing the uptake of electronic 
repeat dispensing across County Durham and working collaboratively with the Local Authority 
for medicine delivery to patients. 
 
It was recognised nationally that the Covid-19 pandemic was likely to increase the need for 
access to End of Life medication.  The team worked collaboratively with community 
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pharmacies to expand the End of Life Pharmacy medication hubs and increased the number 
from 24 to 86 across County Durham.   
 
The team played a major role in supporting both the Covid-19 vaccination programme and the 
flu vaccination programme as already described. 
 
Detail about the work undertaken is provided from page 42. 
 
Digital technology 
A significant success of our response to the Covid-19 pandemic has been the roll out and use 
of digital technology.  The CCG recognises the importance of the digital agenda and already 
had an established team supporting innovation across primary and social care, specifically 
supporting our member practices and care homes.   
 
Throughout the year the team has supported the response to the pandemic and has 
accelerated the roll out of both software and hardware and the provision of appropriate 
training.  This included: 
 

• the procurement of video consultation software and equipment for all practices including 
900 large computer monitors with cameras and headsets,  

• sourcing and distribution of 480 laptops with remote access solutions to allow working 
from home during isolation,  

• setting up PCNs and general practice sharing, to allow access to patient records across 
all localities and shared appointment rotas, 

• procurement and support for messaging services and improved practice and PCN 
websites, 

• setting up sites including 'hot' and 'cold' hubs within practices and PCN vaccination 
sites, 

• providing range of training including for example the use of the Pinnacle vaccination 
system, total triage, data extraction, Teams. 

 
Enhanced Health in Care Homes 
Early in the pandemic all of our Primary Care Networks (PCNs) rapidly implemented key 
elements of the Enhanced Health in Care Homes service ensuring every care home in County 
Durham was aligned to a single practice, this include the establishment of weekly ward rounds 
and remote monitoring.  All Care Homes were provided with equipment to allow for virtual ward 
rounds. We also offered support to care providers in the use of digital solutions that interfaced 
with health and social care; promoting better use of technology in care homes through the 
accelerated roll out of telehealth solutions including Healthcall. 
 
This approach helped reduce the number of clinicians that needed to attend care homes 
thereby reducing the risk of transmission of the virus and ensuring closer working between 
general practices and care homes. 
 
Capacity Tracker 
Our CCG is one of the organisations using Capacity Tracker, which was developed by our 
partners at North of England Commissioning Support (NECS) in partnership with NHS 
England, Local Authority representatives and care home providers.  Capacity Tracker provides 
a platform for care homes, in-patient community rehabilitation, substance misuse and hospice 
providers to make visible their vacancies and other critical information through minimum input 
to provide information across health and social care organisations, such vacancies to help 
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reduce the time taken to discharge individuals from hospital and the provision of personal 
protective equipment (PPE) to enable rapid response from local/regional teams.  
 
It enables care homes to make their vacancies instantly visible to all discharge teams across 
England in real-time and is accessible from any desktop or mobile device. This helps 
individuals make the right choice, ensuring they do not stay in hospital any longer than is 
necessary when discharge to their own home is not possible. The simplified process reduces 
stress and anxiety for the individual and their families at a time when they need care and 
support. 
 
As part of the Covid-19 response, additional critical information on PPE, Covid-19 outbreaks, 
admission status and workforce was added to support national, regional and local oversight to 
enable a rapid response from health and social care teams to target support where it was most 
needed. Capacity Tracker continues to evolve thanks to the input from health and social care 
partners and users of the system. 
 
Covid Oximetry @ Home 
As treatment of Covid-19 improves, earlier detection of (silent) hypoxia at home could help 
further reduce mortality and morbidity.  The purpose of our Covid Oximetry @ Home service is 
to enable enhanced self-management by patients.  It is for patients discharged from a hospital 
setting, presenting at a  practice or by notification from '111', with likely or confirmed Covid; 
who are clinically stable at presentation, but remain at risk of deterioration because of their 
age, co-morbidities or other concerns identified at the initial clinical assessment. Enhanced 
self-management support, including the use of oximetry, will enable early identification of 
deterioration, in particular silent hypoxia, so that appropriate action can be initiated as quickly 
as possible. 
 
Patients who are suitable for the service will be offered an enhanced support package which 
includes a pulse oximeter and instructions on how to use it, and remote contact from practice 
staff at agreed times if required, for a maximum of 14 days. They will have an assessment with 
an appropriate clinician where their baseline data will be collected and agreed. Patients will 
then be required to record their clinical information (including oxygen saturations) three times a 
day, using a paper diary supplied as part of the suite of documents. They will receive clear 
instructions about what to do and who to contact if their symptoms or readings deteriorate at 
any point. 
 
Long Covid Services 
In November 2020 the Government set out details for a new national requirement to establish 
Long Covid Assessment Clinics across the country. In response to this we established a multi-
disciplinary team (MDT) with colleagues from primary, secondary, community and mental 
health services enabling a personalised approach to patients suffering from Long Covid. An 
enabler project was launched in December 2020 supporting health care staff with Long Covid 
to test out a new pathway and to learn what is needed for our wider communities in order to 
develop a longer-term, sustainable Long Covid service. 
 
In January 2021 referrals to the (MDT) Long Covid Assessment Service opened to referrals for 
patients from County Durham and Darlington through Primary Care. The service is only for 
those who are experiencing prolonged symptoms after a confirmed or suspected Covid-19 
infection which are significantly impacting how they can function in day-to-day life, 12 weeks or 
more after the initial illness.  
 
On completion of a series of initial investigations in primary care, the patient will be referred to 
the Long Covid Assessment Service. The service will send the patient a questionnaire for 
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completion. The completed questionnaire will be assessed by a member of the Clinical Team 
and the patient will either be offered: 
 

• a telephone or video consultation with the most appropriate member of the team, 
• a face to face appointment in a Long Covid MDT clinic (at Shotley Bridge or Darlington), 

or 
• an onward referral to an aligned service e.g. other clinical speciality, Wellbeing for Life, 

a service provided through Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT), etc.  
 
Influenza Vaccination Programme 
It was anticipated that the uptake of flu vaccinations would increase due to the Covid-19 
pandemic but the uptake in many patient groups across County Durham exceeded the regional 
and national uptake.  This higher uptake within County Durham can be attributed to the 
excellent partnership working within the Immunisation Board.  Our Clinical Chief Officer, 
Medical Director and the Medicines Optimisation team led the work of the Immunisation Board.  
Key successes of this year’s campaign are outlined in more detail in the section about 
Medicines Optimisation on page 42. 
 
There was a collaborative effort from both health and social care across the North East and 
North Cumbria to ask people to #DoYourBit to protect yourself, your loved ones and your 
community by having a free flu vaccination during winter. The campaign aimed to reassure our 
public that it was safe to have the vaccine – with robust infection control and social distancing 
measures in place across the region.  Our CCG staff volunteered to support our member 
practices to deliver the vaccination programme. 
 
Covid-19 Vaccination Programme  
Reference to the Covid-19 vaccination programme is made throughout this report as it was a 
national priority during the second half of the year. Our Medicines Optimisation, Infection 
Prevention and Control, and Primary Care Teams supported the roll out of the vaccination 
programme across County Durham.  This support has been multi-faceted, and complex, 
requiring joined up working across various aspects of the health economy; within the CCG with 
the primary care team, the dedicated Covid-19 e-mail inbox, the Infection Prevention and 
Control Team and the Executive and Medical Directors; locally with Trusts, the Local 
Pharmaceutical Committee and the Local Authority; regionally within the Integrated Care 
System and with the System Vaccination Operation Centre and also; nationally, requiring 
attendance at national webinars and communication with national bodies such as Specialist 
Pharmacy Service.   
 
Due to the fast-moving nature of the vaccination programme, with rapidly changing 
recommendations and guidance, the teams worked hard to ensure that all practices were kept 
up-to-date and aware of any changes and the impact of these on the delivery of the 
vaccination programme.  
 
We also worked with the Local Authority to ensure that vaccine was offered to patients in hard 
to reach groups, for example patients with Learning Disabilities, the Black and Minority Ethnic 
(BAME) Population, refugees and the homeless.  
 
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust also provided significant support with 
regard to the vaccination programme; their community nurses vaccinated the majority of our 
housebound patients and also supported the Primary Care Networks in the vaccination of care 
home residents and staff.  This demonstrates the strength of mutual support and integration of 
organisations across County Durham. 
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Covid Transport Hub for our residents 
In December 2020, we introduced a non-emergency patient transport service to local, Primary 
Care Network operated Covid vaccination clinics to support our most vulnerable patients and 
to maximise attendance of vaccination appointments.  In order to achieve this, we set up an in-
house transport booking facility for patients aged 80 years and over.  Our member practices 
were able to make referrals to the hub and patients were contacted directly. In February 2021, 
we extended this transport offer to those aged 70 years and over, and patients who were 
classed as Clinically Extremely Vulnerable.  Over 1,000 transport requests were organised.   
 
Working with and Supporting the Voluntary and Community Sector 
The CCG had previously funded Durham Community Action (DCA) to undertake engagement 
between the voluntary and community sector (VCS) and the NHS within our area.  The sector 
provided vital support both prior to and during the Covid pandemic.  We were aware of the 
impact of increasing numbers of people accessing support from VCS organisations and 
decreases in charitable donations that help our VCS organisations to continue to operate. 
 
The development of Social Prescribing Link Workers has increased the opportunities for 
referral to VCS organisations for support where appropriate, instead of a referral to health and 
care services.   Volunteering England report that every £1 spent on volunteering returns £4-£8 
or more in direct economic value.    
 
We recognised the need for longer-term funding for a VCS Local Infrastructure Organisation 
(LIO) and worked with Durham County Council to develop a joint agreement.  With Governing 
Body support we increased annual funding for VCS organisations, via Durham Community 
Action as the LIO, to £100k per year for three years from April 2021. 
 
Cancer campaign 
Like many other service areas, Covid-19 has had a significant impact on day-to-day cancer 
service delivery as well as planned programmes of pathway development over the last 12 
months. Anxious patients have been less likely to present with symptoms, resulting in fewer 
GP referrals for suspected cancer. National screening programmes were paused. Whilst 
referral rates have begun to recover, some tumour groups have been impacted worse than 
others, for example in lung where there is obvious cross-over with Covid-19 symptoms. 
Transformational programmes like Rapid Diagnostic Centre pathways were delayed as clinical 
teams were redeployed; diagnostic backlogs increased as social distancing measures reduced 
throughput.  
 
Despite these and other challenges, there are many achievements and successes to be 
acknowledged. National, regional and local public awareness media campaigns such as the 
#HelpUsHelpYou and #WhyWaitCancerDoesn’t have been part of the recovery in Durham, in 
collaboration with the Norther Cancer Alliance (NCA) and local stakeholders.  
 
Clinical teams at our local hospital trust, County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation 
Trust, have ensured that a Serious Non-Specific Symptoms (SNSS) pathway went live in 
Durham in October 2020 and the same team is one of the first regionally to go live in 2021 with 
a new combined Upper and Lower GI pathway. A new streamlined postal symptomatic FIT 
(faecal immunochemical) was implemented in November and new triage processes put in 
place. Two tumour groups, prostate and colorectal, have been worked up for stratified follow-
up which will go live in 2021. In the height of the two Covid waves, provider trusts collaborated 
to prioritise the most vulnerable patients and to share resources for diagnostics, surgery and 
treatment.  
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The Personalised Care agenda has progressed, with a new patient self-care App and further 
development of treatment summaries and care plans. Primary Care Networks (PCNs) have 
been supported to progress early diagnosis. Plans to address widening health inequalities in 
cancer have been developed. A new managed clinical network is under development to 
address key pressures in symptomatic breast services. The next twelve months will continue to 
challenge, particularly around workforce pressures and diagnostic capacity, but the 
achievements and progress made in 2020/21 are a significant step forward.  
 
Emergency Health Care Plans 
Emergency Health Care Plans (EHCPs) form part of the 'Deciding Right' framework for making 
care decisions in advance.  A Task Group was established to promote the effective production 
and use of EHCPs enabling better patient care and outcomes.  The intention was to implement 
systems that facilitated consistent effective completion of EHCP documentation, to create a 
more coordinated mechanism for sharing EHCPs between care settings, and to ensure 
education and training support for the effective creation and use of EHCPs across the system. 
 
The achievements of the work undertaken had been: 

• the production of a Standard Operating Procedure, 
• the pre-population of the EHCP template, 
• a mechanism to prompt a professional that an EHCP existed, 
• improving access to patient records including EHCPs for example from nursing homes, 
• regular support sessions for staff, 
• locality based alignment of Palliative Care Consultants, 
• a palliative care on-call advice line extended to care homes. 

 
Work had been suspended for a period of time but the opportunities going forward will include 
a refresh of the Palliative Care Strategy and a direct enhanced care service in care homes 
which will provide the opportunity to take forward the personalisation agenda, to ensure that 
individuals are supported, with an opportunity for earlier discussion about end of life 
preferences.   
 
Abusive head trauma also referred to as Shaken Baby Syndrome 
Working with regional and national partners our Safeguarding Children's Team launched a 
virtual programme to help parents and carers understand and respond to their crying baby. 
Research has shown that this knowledge helps to reduce risk and prevent the potential injuries 
caused by shaking. We know that some parents and carers may get frustrated when children 
are upset and we want to provide all the support we can to help them. The programme sets out 
clear steps parents and carers can take to relieve pressure so they don’t find themselves in a 
position where they may shake or strike a baby – it’s about providing support at a time when 
people are not always able to get help, especially in these times of social isolation. More 
information about this and other work of the Safeguarding Children can be found on page 44. 
 
Little Orange Book  
Being a new parent is rarely an easy job but when your child is sick it can be extremely 
worrying. County Durham CCG, working with Tees Valley CCG, produced the 'Little Orange 
Book', designed to help the parents of poorly babies and small children. The 'Little Orange 
Book' is a great resource and covers everything from common minor ailments like teething, 
constipation and colds, through to more serious conditions like urinary tract infections and 
wheezy chests. The booklet uses a traffic light system to help parents and carers decide what 
action to take when their child is sick. It points parents in the right direction, letting them know 
whether self-care, consulting with a primary care professional, a '111' call, or when necessary 
a visit to Accident and Emergency is the right course of action. 
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Primary Care and Investment Strategy 2020/21 – 2021/22  
Primary care is the cornerstone of our vision to deliver better care, closer to people’s homes, 
which is central to improving people’s health and wellbeing.  Our Primary Care Commissioning 
and Investment Strategy 2020/21 - 2021/22 describes our vision and priorities for primary care, 
mostly focusing on general practice.  The strategy aims to increase the scale and integration of 
‘out of hospital’ services, based around local communities and improve population health 
outcomes, through the ongoing development of Primary Care Networks (PCNs). Our ambition 
is to deliver more personalised, proactive and co-ordinated care to improve health outcomes; 
we also want to ensure the future sustainability of primary care. 
 
Our strategy outlines our plans for commissioning activity and where we will target increased 
investment over the next two years to support the delivery of our vision and priorities for 
primary care, in keeping with the implementation of the NHS Long Term Plan. 
 
Successful implementation of our strategy will also support the North East and North Cumbria 
Integrated Care System to deliver its ambitions for primary care and to improve health 
outcomes for the people of the North East and North Cumbria, whilst better managing the ‘here 
and now’ operational challenges and achieve sustainability. 
 
Detail about the work undertaken is provided from page 50. 
 
Learning Disabilities / Autism 
The CCG remains fully committed to learning from the premature deaths of people with a 
learning disability in order to influence change and implement service improvements across 
health and social care where necessary. Resources have been identified to secure three 
temporary reviewer posts, which enabled the CCG to complete over 75 reviews in accordance 
with the Learning Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDeR) programme. Learning and 
recommendations taken directly from completed reviews are detailed within the LeDeR Local 
Area Annual Report available to the public on the CCG's website.  Notable achievements to 
date from the learning from LeDeR reviews is included on page 42. 
 
Shotley Bridge Hospital 
During 2020/21 work has continued to progress on the Shotley Bridge Community Hospital 
project, albeit delayed due to the Covid-19 pandemic and the redeployment of staff across the 
local NHS.  In September 2020 we began to review the work done to date on the proposed 
clinical model in the context of the feedback from the public engagement exercise in 2019, as 
well as changes to ways of working due to the pandemic.   
 
Subsequently it was announced in Autumn 2020 that the project was included as part of the 
national Health Infrastructure Programme (HIP) with an increased indicative capital budget of 
£30 million.  Work continued throughout the year to develop an outline business case detailing 
the proposed clinical model as well as options for future estate solutions.  It is anticipated this 
will conclude in June 2021.  Challenging programme timescales are planned for 2021/22 and 
beyond with a view to having an estate solution with functioning service provision by early 
2024.    
 
Directory of Services 
The year saw significant advances in the digital framework for the Directory of Services, the 
central directory that is used by 111 and 999 staff if the patient does not require an ambulance, 
and by clinicians in urgent and emergency care services, to identify the most appropriate 
referral for the patient. 
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This includes increased detail in ranking of services to enable more accurate search results 
and a change so that services can be profiled within a local authority boundary rather than a 
CCG area, where this is appropriate. A number of additional services have also been made 
available for patients to be referred into, including Same Day Emergency Care, Sexual Assault 
Referral Centres, Mental Health Crisis and Urgent Community Response Services.   
 
A number of other changes were also made to ensure that patients are referred to their own 
GP or a pharmacy where this is more appropriate. Further work is also helping to increase 111 
Online referrals to Urgent Treatment Centres, where this is appropriate as an alternative to 
Accident and Emergency (A&E) Departments. This can help reduce pressure on A&Es, as well 
as meaning a better journey for the patient. 
 
Choice Policy for wet age-related macular degeneration (wet AMD) 
In 2018, the then 12 CCGs members of the Northern CCGs Joint Committee for Cumbria and 
the North East (see page 86) won a landmark legal case after two multinational drug 
companies challenged the new 'choice' policy in relation to wet age-related macular 
degeneration (wet AMD).  The policy gives patients the option to choose the drug Avastin for 
treatment of wet AMD, alongside the two existing options, Lucentis and Eylea.  A well-known 
cancer drug, Avastin is widely used around the world, including the EU and private practice in 
the UK, to treat wet AMD.  
 
Drug companies Novartis and Bayer took legal action to try to stop the CCGs from offering 
Avastin as an option to patients in this way – even though it had been found by NICE (the 
National Institute for Health and Care Excellence) to be just as clinically effective and safe. Not 
only is Avastin equally effective, it is much less expensive and could save up to £13.5 million 
per year for the CCGs involved, which can be reinvested into caring for our patients.   
 
In March 2020, the Court of Appeal decided in favour of the NHS following an appeal by the 
two multinational drug companies, and in November 2020 it was confirmed that Bayer and 
Novartis had been refused permission to appeal to the Supreme Court.  This ensures that 
there is no legal uncertainty over the choice policy, and clinicians can be reassured that the 
use of Avastin for the treatment of wet AMD is lawful, safe and effective. 
 
 
Looking forward to 2021/22  
The CCG’s priorities will need to continue to reflect the delivery requirements of the NHS Long 
Term Plan.   
 
A key component of the plan was the commitment to roll out Integrated Care Systems across 
England.  The proposed legislative changes to Integrated Care Systems (ICS), which have 
been recommended by NHS England and NHS Improvement and form part of the Government 
Whitepaper, would essentially result in CCG functions and responsibilities transferring to the 
ICS from April 2022.  This will clearly require a significant amount of work to be undertaken to 
enable this to happen effectively and safely.  Whilst there will be a number of potential benefits 
and opportunities from these proposals, there are clearly significant implications for staff and 
we recognise the potential risk of destabilising existing local place-based arrangements that we 
have developed in County Durham.  These potential risks will need to be carefully managed 
over the coming year.        
 
We will also need to implement the 2021/22 NHS Operational Planning and Contracting 
Guidance which was released in March 2021.  Work on our priorities will be set against a 
backdrop of the challenge to restore services, meet new care demands and reduce the care 
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backlogs that are a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, whilst supporting staff 
recovery and taking further steps to address inequalities in access, experience and outcomes. 
 
As a CCG we recognise the need to play our part in tackling climate change.  We will work in 
collaboration with our partners in driving and accelerating the sustainability agenda to reduce 
our carbon footprint and work to achieve a net Zero NHS across the North East and Yorkshire. 
 
Some of our key priorities are outlined below: 
 

• manage within agreed financial trajectories, 
• maintain and improve access to services during recovery from Covid-19, 
• work to address the significant impact the pandemic has had on performance against 

the Constitutional standards, 
• ensure a focus on health inequalities, 
• strengthen the work of the County Durham Care Partnership and our 'place-based' 

arrangements, 
• continue to transform services through system working, 
• expand primary and community services, 
• Shotley Bridge Community Hospital services project, 
• meet the Mental Health Investment Standard and deliver the mental health and learning 

disability elements of the NHS Long Term Plan, 
• continue to improve outcomes and care for people with a learning disability or autism, 
• implement the recommendations of the NHS People Plan, 
• contribute to reducing the NHS Carbon Footprint and drive forward the sustainability 

agenda, 
• manage the close-down of the CCG and transfer to the new integrated arrangements. 

 
 
 
 
 
Dr Neil O'Brien 
Accountable Officer  
11 June 2021  
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Performance analysis  
 
 
Performance against Constitutional Standards 
 
This section provides a summary of the CCG’s performance against key standards.  The 
information below includes data up to and including Quarter 4 2012/21.  Due to pressures 
arising from Covid-19 pandemic, some of the information has not been collected through 
2020/21 in accordance with guidance from NHS England / NHS Improvement (NHSE/I). 
 
The Covid-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on performance against these standards.  
All non-urgent routine services were suspended for part of the year, with significant capacity 
constraints being experienced throughout the whole year as resources were necessarily 
diverted to the pandemic response. 
 
Performance is reviewed by NHSE/I to ensure that CCGs are delivering quality outcomes for 
patients both locally, and as part of the national standards.  
 
Indicators described below include:  
 

• referral to treatment times, 
• diagnostic waiting times, 
• cancer waiting times, 
• Accident and Emergency (A&E) four hour waits, 
• ambulance response times, 
• mixed sex accommodation, 
• healthcare associated infections (MRSA and Clostridium difficile). 

 
Further information on performance against Constitutional Standards is reported to each of our 
Governing Body meetings.  This can be found in the performance report within Governing 
Body papers is available on the CCG's website.  
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Referral to Treatment and Over 52 Week Waits 
 
From the start of the Covid-19 pandemic until June 2020, all non-urgent routine services were 
suspended, which impacted on these performance indicators. Once non urgent routine 
services were reinstated a recovery plan was formulated to ensure patients were seen. 
However due to Covid-19 restrictions for example social distancing, activity levels have been 
significantly reduced causing patients to have to wait longer to be treated and staff have been 
redeployed to directly support the Covid-19 response. 
 
Acute providers have implemented robust measures to ensure that a clinical triage of all 
referrals is made by an appropriately qualified clinician. This can lead to the referrals being 
sent back to Primary Care with specialist advice for ongoing management. In addition to this, 
Clinicians are able to place patients in the most appropriate clinics to ensure that outpatient 
appointments are maximised – eg telephone appointment, virtual appointment or face to face 
appointment. 
 
Hospitals have had to review the way they work and have adapted a number of initiatives, 
which include the use of digital solutions including offering Advice and Guidance to GPs for the 
management of patient care, this has had a positive impact in reducing unnecessary demand 

Monthy/ 
YTD

Reporting 
Period

Operational 
Standard

% patients waiting for initial treatment on incomplete pathways within 18 weeks 92.0% 71.69%
Number patients waiting more than 52 weeks for treatment 0 2847

% patients waiting less than 6 weeks for the 15 diagnostics tests (including audiology) Monthly Mar-21 1.00% 9.90%

% patients spending 4 hrs. or less in A&E or minor injury unit 95.0% 88.4%
Handover between ambulance and A&E over 30 minutes 0 3285
Handover between ambulance and A&E over 60 minutes 0 474
Trolley waits in A&E not longer than 12 hours 0 4

C1 Mean (Target 7 Mins) 100% 00:07:22
C1 90th Centile (Target 15 Mins) 100% 00:12:56
C2 Mean (Target 18 Mins 100% 00:29:07
C2 90th Centile (Target 40 Mins) 100% 00:59:44
C3 Mean (Target 2 hrs) 01:08:14
C3 90th Centile (Target 2 hrs) 100% 02:49:21
C4 Mean (Target 3hr) 01:08:37
C4 90th Centile (Target 3hr hrs) 100% 02:31:47

Incidence of MRSA 0 0
Incidence of C Diff  Various 116

% of patients seen within 2 weeks of an urgent GP referral for suspected cancer 93.0% 82.90%
% of patients seen within 2 weeks of an urgent referral for breast symptoms 93.0% 62.21%
% of patients treated within 31 days of a cancer diagnosis 96.0% 96.67%
% of patients receiving subsequent treatment for cancer within 31 days - drugs 98.0% 98.24%
% of patients receiving subsequent treatment for cancer within 31 days - surgery 94.0% 92.17%
% of patients receiving subsequent treatment for cancer within 31 days - radiotherapy 94.0% 96.24%
% of patients treated within 62 days of an urgent GP referral for suspected cancer 85.0% 73.51%
% of patients treated within 62 days of an urgent GP referral from an NHS Cancer Screening Service 90.0% 72.38%
% of patients treated for cancer within 62 days of consultant decision to upgrade status N/A 80.45%

YTD Mar-21

Cancer

HCAI

YTD Mar-21

Ambulance response times

YTD

Mar-21

Mar-21

Diagnostic waits

A&E waits

YTD Mar-21

Referral to treatment access times

Mar-21Monthly

County 
Durham CCG



 Page 32  
 

into Secondary care. They are also participating in a Clinical Prioritisation programme utilising 
the e-Review system to ensure all patients waiting for treatment are appropriate and are 
prioritised for treatment accordingly. 
 
As part of the recovery work, additional capacity has been secured at our local Independent 
hospitals, to assist in reducing the backlog of patients waiting to be treated and to also support 
our NHS hospitals to continue to deliver urgent work, including cancer treatment. The 
additional Independent Sector activity is for Outpatients, non-urgent elective surgery and 
diagnostics.  
 
Diagnostics 
 
Non urgent diagnostic work was stood down due to Covid-19, which caused a significant 
backlog of activity and has resulted in the target being breached. The main area of backlog has 
been endoscopy.  As part of the agreed recovery plan, additional capacity was sought at 
Independent Providers which has supported in reducing the backlog. 
 
Cancer 
 
Although Cancer performance has worsened throughout the Covid-19 pandemic, it has always 
remained a priority to ensure that there is a continuation of services. There has been pressure 
in diagnostics due to strict infection control processes, however additional capacity was sought 
at Independent Hospitals which has helped reduced the backlog. A programme of patient and 
public communications was shared to recover two week wait referral rates amidst public 
anxiety around Covid-19 and attending appointments.  
 
Cancer hubs have been established within the North and South of North East Region, with 
representatives from the Acute hospitals and Northern Cancer Alliance to review the capacity 
within the system to ensure that patients with a high priority are seen appropriately. 
 
A&E four hour waits 
 
At the beginning of the year, the A&E four hour wait standard was being achieved, supported 
by patient behaviours and a reduction in the number of patients attending.  As A&E attendance 
numbers have increased during the year, performance against the four hour wait standard has 
deteriorated.  A medium-term plan has been agreed with our main provider, County Durham 
and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT), which will improve the Emergency 
Department position, including the following initiatives: 
 

• Same Day Emergency care (SDEC) – ensuring that those patients who require longer 
than 4 hours but not an overnight admission are catered for in a timely and effective 
way. 

• Emergency Department Staffing Model – ensuring a workforce fit for the future. 
• Care of the Elderly and Frailty – ensuring that frail patients have their very specific 

needs met in the best way possible and avoiding admission to acute sites wherever 
appropriate. 

 
Ambulance response times 
 
During the first part of the year, the North East Ambulance Services NHS Foundation Trust 
(NEAS) achieved its performance targets, supported by an increase in the level of patients 
being treated by NEAS under the ‘hear and treat’ and ‘see and treat’ model, rather than being 
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conveyed to hospital.  Over the year performance has declined, impacted by staff sickness and 
capacity constraints due to the increased vehicle cleaning required from national Infection 
Prevention Control guidance. 
 
Healthcare Acquired Infections (HCAI) 
 
Root cause analyses are completed when these occur to determine cause and action plans 
are produced and followed. 
 
 
Improving quality  
 
Quality is defined as care that is safe, effective and provides as positive an experience as 
possible for patients. Commissioning high-quality, person centred healthcare is at the heart of 
everything the CCG strives to achieve for people across County Durham. 
 
To assist in the delivery of this we use a variety of tools, processes and mechanisms when 
reviewing our commissioned services. This work is undertaken in a collaborative manner with a 
wide range of partners and stakeholders from the health and social care economy including 
patient representatives and their carers. This approach assists us in obtaining the appropriate 
levels of evidence-based assurance as well as an understanding of the reality of how these 
services feel for patients, families and carers. These activities inform and shape our quality and 
safeguarding annual work programme. 
 
This section of the report describes the work we have undertaken to assess and improve 
quality in the services we commission. 
 
Clinical Quality Assurance Framework 
 
County Durham CCG has continued to work to the Joint Quality Strategy (2017 to 2020) which 
sets a clear vision and direction for the quality agenda across the CCG. Clinical quality is 
fundamental to the commissioning process and the quality team within the CCG and North of 
England Commissioning Support (NECS) continue to input into the process at various stages 
in the pathway.  
 
The Quality Committee and Primary Care Quality Assurance Sub-Committee are now well 
established.  This year the committees were stood down for a number months to release our 
clinicians to allow them to prioritise the response to the Covid-19 pandemic.   
 
There has been significant work to improve the information available to primary care and the 
CCG about the quality of services and this has allowed the CCG to identify and support 
vulnerable practices. The CCG also continues to work with neighbouring CCGs to ensure a 
consistent approach to quality standards in all our providers. 
 
Serious incident monitoring 
 
NHS staff report incidents when aspects of care and treatment go wrong, or when care could 
have gone wrong. It is important the NHS system responds appropriately to ensure services 
and processes continue to improve. 
 
We are responsible for ensuring there is an effective governance process in place to manage 
incidents that occur within providers or within the CCG. Incident investigations are undertaken 



 Page 34  
 

to identify a root cause and timeline of events. We ensure that the governance process is 
followed to manage the incident and highlight lessons learnt and ensure improvements are 
embedded into practice. 
 
The governance process is managed through the Safeguard, Incident and Risk Management 
System (SIRMS) supported by the North of England Commissioning Support Unit (NECS) and 
CCG staff.  This has been a very different year for the NHS as a result of the Covid-19 
pandemic.  We have continued to work with providers throughout 2020/21 to maintain the 
quality of care provided.  
 
Complaints 
 
Complaints are a valuable source of information and they are monitored for themes and trends. 
Complaints that are investigated by the CCG, rather than the organisation providing the care, 
are reviewed by the Quality Committee. 
 
In line with NHS England/NHS Improvement guidance, over the summer of 2020, NHS 
organisations had the option of pausing their complaints processes during the Covid-19 
pandemic; this was to allow staff to prioritise actions required to support the response to the 
pandemic; however we decided to take a ‘business as usual’ approach to managing 
complaints.   
 
On behalf of the CCG, our Complaints Team in North of England Commissioning Support 
(NECS) conducted regular reviews to identify cases which were at risk of delay due to Covid-
19; plans for managing such cases were agreed between the CCG, the Complaints Team and 
the investigating officer. 
 
61 complaints/concerns were received from County Durham residents.  16 related directly to 
NHS County Durham CCG, the remaining cases were about other organisations, including 
NHS trusts.  Of the CCG cases, 6 were managed under the formal complaints procedure and 
10 were addressed as informal concerns or enquiries.  
 
Continuing Health Care (CHC) was the most frequently raised issue (6 cases) with concerns 
being raised about funding decisions and delays with the restitution process.  New processes 
have been put in place as a result of the complaints received.  No other themes were 
identified. 
 
NICE guidance compliance 
 
The CCG seeks assurance from the services it commissions that national guidance issued by 
the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance is being complied with. 
 
Committees and Groups 
 
We continued to operate the following groups that play different roles in the quality assurance 
process: 
 
Quality Committee 
 
The role of the Quality Committee is to examine and make recommendations with regard to the 
quality standards of commissioned services, pathway developments and quality indicators of 
new services against the clinical priority areas of the national Improvement and Assessment 
Framework (IAF). It supports the delivery of the CCG’s statutory duties to reduce inequalities in 
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the health of the local population and to ensure equity of health and access to services. It also 
ensures that innovative ways of working are considered and tested by using safe and 
measured approaches. It approves and ratifies any necessary quality related documents prior 
to submission to the Governing Body of each CCG. 
 
Membership of the committee is clinically focused.  As part of our response to the pandemic 
Quality Committee meetings were stood down for a number of months allowing our clinicians 
to focus on frontline services.  Views of members were still sought via e-mail, with any required 
business being taken through our Executive Committee for decision. 
 
Primary Care Quality Assurance Sub-Committee 
 
The role of the Primary Care Quality Assurance Sub-committee is to support delivery of the 
‘Primary Medical Services Assurance Framework’ (NHS England, April 2013) and implement 
local process as defined by NHS England (NHSE), Cumbria and the North East. The primary 
objectives of the Sub-Committee are to: 
 

• safeguard our patients from harm, 
• ensure continued development of appropriate high-quality provision of primary, 
• medical care services to the population, 
• secure rapid improvements to the quality of care in failing practices, 
• drive up quality and foster a culture of safety across primary medical care. 

 
Clinical Quality Review Groups / Quality Assurance Committee 
 
We work with local providers to monitor, evaluate and drive forward quality standards, and we 
have held or contributed to regular Clinical Quality Review Group (CQRG) / Quality Assurance 
Committee meetings. These meetings include clinicians from NHS Foundation Trusts and the 
CCG. This enables productive dialogue and provides an opportunity for the Trusts to identify 
innovation; best practice; areas for improvement; and increasingly, evidence patient outcomes. 
It also enables us, through analysis of specific quality indicators, to gain an insight into the 
quality of care delivered to local people as well as share and promote lessons learned. We use 
the CQRGs to continuously monitor areas that require improvement with our local providers, 
detailed action plans are submitted and we gain assurance that providers are taking action to 
improve the quality of care provided to patients. 
 
Quality Surveillance Groups 
 
Local Quality Surveillance Groups are led by NHS England / NHS Improvement. They bring 
together regulators, commissioners and providers of services to explore quality by sharing 
intelligence, particularly that which could help identify early signs of service failure or poor 
quality. They also include primary care services such as GP practices, dentists, pharmacists 
and optometrists. 
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Financial Review 
 

Overview  
 
In response to Covid-19, a temporary financial regime was put in place for 2020/21 by NHS 
England and NHS Improvement (NHSE/I).  All NHS Providers were moved on to block 
contracts and a cost reimbursement process was implemented for CCGs and NHS Providers. 
The aim of these arrangements was to provide certainty, resilience and increase the speed of 
the response to coronavirus and phased recovery from the pandemic, whilst maintaining 
appropriate financial governance and control.   
 
The funding for the CCG for the first half of 2020/21 was based on centrally determined 
allocations, block contracts and retrospective top up processes for reasonable Covid-19 and 
non-Covid costs above centrally determined allocations, leaving the CCG in a break-even 
financial position for that period.  
 
For the second half of 2020/21, the revised regime was based on the principles of system 
allocations, system performance and risk management, centrally set block contract values and 
fixed funding for expected Covid-19 costs. For County Durham CCG, the system funding was 
allocated at an Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) level.   
 
County Durham CCG is part of the ‘Central ICP’, alongside the following constituent 
organisations:  

 
• NHS South Tyneside CCG  
• NHS Sunderland CCG  
• County Durham and Darlington Foundation Trust  
• South Tyneside and Sunderland Foundation Trust  

 
Constituent organisations may achieve a surplus or deficit but as long as the ICP in total 
achieved at least a break-even position, the system and the member organisations will have 
been deemed to have achieved financial targets. 
 
The maintenance of financial control and stewardship of public funds has remained critical 
during the NHS response to Covid-19.  All financial controls have continued to operate as 
normal and the robust systems of financial governance and financial management processes 
have allowed all financial risks to be appropriately managed during the year enabling the 
delivery of financial targets.  
 
Further details on the CCG’s financial position can be found in the Governing Body (GB) 
finance reports published on the CCG’s website. 
 
This continues to be a challenging time for the NHS with significant financial pressures and 
uncertainty around the impact of the coronavirus pandemic.  The financial performance 
outlined in the CCG’s annual accounts is pleasing to see, reflecting the strong financial 
management within the organisation. 
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Financial targets and performance for the year 
 
CCG surplus position 
 
In addition to the requirement to fulfil its statutory duties, the CCG is expected by NHS England 
to deliver a cumulative surplus of at least 1% of its funding allocation.  This surplus is carried 
forward from one year to the next. 
 
For County Durham CCG, the cumulative surplus at 31 March 2020 from its predecessor 
organisations was £22.275 million (2.1% of funding allocation), which carried forward to 
2020/21.   
 
During 2020/21, County Durham CCG improved their performance against plan.  This resulted 
in the CCG delivering an in-year surplus of £2.35 million in total.   
 
A summary of the CCG’s final surplus position at the end of the year is as follows: 
 

  £ million % of total 
funding 

      

Surplus brought forward from prior year 22.28 2.1% 
      
Total funding allocation received for the year 1,059.15 100% 
Total spent by the CCG 1,056.81 99.8% 

Additional surplus delivered in year                  
2.35  0.2% 

      
Final surplus carried forward to 2021/22 24.62 2.3% 

 
 
It is important to note that this final surplus balance of £24.62 million is not a ‘profit’ or surplus 
generated during the financial year.  The majority of it reflects a historical balance carried 
forward from previous years, with an additional £2.35 million of surplus generated during 
2020/21 as a result of improved CCG performance and the impact of the temporary financial 
regime implemented for the year. 
 
The CCG’s successful results in 2020/21 are set out in the table below, with further detail 
included in note 24 of the full annual accounts published alongside this Annual Report. 
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Target Outcome 

 
Target 
Met? 

Maintain expenditure within ‘in-year’ 
funding allocation  

In-year surplus of £2.35 million 
against an in-year funding 
allocation of £1,059.15 million 

 

Maintain running costs within 
separate running cost allowance 

Surplus of £0.95 million delivered 
on running cost budgets  

Maintain capital spending within 
capital resource limit 

No capital resource required and 
no capital spend in year N/A 

Ensure cash spending is within the 
cash limit set 

Cash managed within available 
resources  

 
Expenditure not to exceed resource limits 
 
Unlike commercial companies which make a profit or loss, CCGs are set resource limits within 
which they must contain net expenditure for the year. There are separate resource limits set for 
revenue and capital expenditure, with revenue expenditure limits further split between 
programme spend and running costs. 
 
The CCG financial performance is reported on an in-year basis. 
 
The CCG’s final in-year programme budget allocation for 2020/21 was £1,048.7 million.  
 
As highlighted above, a separate running cost allowance is provided to all CCGs, to cover the 
administrative costs of running the CCG.  There is a requirement to manage administrative 
costs within this allowance. 
 
Total running costs for the year amounted to £9.5 million, compared to a running cost 
allowance of £10.5 million.  That underspend on running costs was used during the year to 
increase spend on direct healthcare. 
 
Capital resource limit 
 
The CCG had no capital expenditure in 2020/21 and therefore did not require any capital 
resource, hence this target is not applicable in the current year.  In future the capital 
requirements of the CCG, and any related capital resource received, are expected to be 
minimal. 
 

Other financial targets and disclosures 
 
In addition to the above statutory duties, CCGs have similar responsibilities to other NHS 
organisations to record performance against the Better Payment Practice Code (BPPC) 
published by the Department of Health. 
 
Compliance with Better Payment Practice Code  
 
The Better Payment Practice Code (BPPC) requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by 
the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later. 
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The NHS aims to pay at least 95% of invoices within 30 days of receipt, or within agreed 
contract terms.  
 
Details of compliance with the code are given in note 5.1 to the financial statements. 
 
Performance against the target is monitored by the CCG on a monthly basis with performance 
maintained at over 95% of invoices paid within 30 days of receipt, measured against both total 
invoice value and overall volume of invoices.  
 
Prompt payments Code 
 
In addition to compliance against the BPPC, on 11 February 2014 the CCG became an 
approved signatory of The Prompt Payment Code. This initiative was devised by the 
government with The Institute of Credit Management (ICM) to tackle the crucial issue of late 
payment and to help small businesses. Suppliers can have confidence in any company that 
signs up to the code that they will be paid within clearly defined terms, and that there is a 
proper process for dealing with any payments that are in dispute.  
 
Approved signatories undertake to:  
 

• pay suppliers on time,  
• give clear guidance to suppliers and resolve disputes as quickly as possible,  
• encourage suppliers and customers to sign up to the code.  

 
 
Setting of charges for information 
 
The CCG has complied with HM Treasury’s guidance on setting charges for information. 
 
Pensions 
 
Details of the accounting for pension liabilities can be found in the accounting policies and 
pension costs notes in the CCG’s financial statements (notes 1.7.2 and 3.3 respectively).  
Further details of senior managers’ pension benefits can be found in the Remuneration and 
Staff Report. 
 

Audit and Assurance Committee 
 
An Audit and Assurance Committee has operated throughout the year, chaired by the Lay 
Member for Governance and Audit.  Details of other members of the committee can be found 
within the Members Report. 
 
External auditors 
 
Following a procurement and selection process undertaken by the predecessor CCGs, Ernst 
Young were appointed as auditors to the CCG for 2020/21. 
 
The cost of audit services can be found in note 4 of the CCG’s financial statements. 
 
The auditors bring an annual work plan to the Audit and Assurance Committee for approval.  
This states that the audit team are independent of the CCG and also would include any details 
of non-audit work if applicable.  When considering whether the level of any non-audit work is 
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appropriate the CCG would consider the composition of the team (and whether any audit team 
members are involved) and the level of fees. 
 

Looking forward 
 
This continues to be a particularly challenging time for the NHS and wider health and care 
system, both.  Temporary financial arrangements will continue for the first half of 2021/22, and 
will build on the system based approach to funding and planning.  
 
County Durham CCG is committed to working with its partners in the Central ICP and wider 
Integrated Care System (ICS) to collectively manage the system financial position and any 
financial risk.   
 
 
Infection Prevention and Control (IPC)  
 
Covid-19 
Covid-19 has been the main focus for the last year, new ways of working also added to this 
challenge however Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) rose to the challenge.  One member 
of the team, with the appropriate skills, was redeployed on a short-term basis to County 
Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT) Intensive Therapy Unit (ITU) to help 
with caring for critically ill Covid-19 patients  
 
The team was heavily involved in supporting CDDFT colleagues in the setting up of testing 
pods for the public early in the pandemic.  Training was offered to CCG staff who were 
assisting CDDFT in the testing pods.  
 
The team offered a seven-day service for four months at the height of the pandemic to support 
both care homes and our colleagues in the Local Authority and primary care.  Covid-19 
guidance changed very frequently and working with the Local Authority they communicated the 
changes to our social care providers and primary care.  
 
One piece of work was ensuring social care providers were fit tested for the using FFP3 mask 
when doing aerosol generating procedures. 
 
Every registered care home in County Durham and Darlington was contacted between April 
and May 2020 and were asked to complete a checklist to ensure the home was compliant with 
IPC Covid-19 guidance, any issues were followed up with the Local Authority and the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC). The team continues to regularly contact care homes to discuss 
IPC compliance.  
 
Training 
Covid-19/Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) training was offered virtually to all care homes 
in County Durham, 18 virtual session were delivered to Care Homes.  In addition to this, 
targeted telephone training was given to Care Homes where a specific need arose.  They also 
took part in three regional webinars arranged by NHS England to offer IPC advice to Care 
Homes. 
 
The team was part of the NHS Improvement 'Super Trainers' drive, they trained all care home 
providers in County Durham and Darlington within a given time frame.  As the sessions were 
delivered virtually they also opened these up nationally via NHS England to support areas that 
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did not have specialised IPC support.  A number of areas took up this offer and all sessions 
were very well attended. 
 
Five virtual training sessions were delivered to Primary Care Nurses from our member 
practices. 
 
Other training outside of contractual arrangements 
The team felt it was vital during the challenge of Covid-19 that that they helped as much as 
they could despite not being contracted to cover some areas. 
 
Three training sessions were delivered to Special Educational Needs schools in July 2020 in 
readiness for children with Special Educational Needs returning to school in September 2020. 
 
The team attended a number of forums to support the Local Authority to deliver training and to 
undertake question and answer sessions.  Those sessions included domiciliary care and day 
care service staff. 
 
Eight virtual training sessions were delivered to adult health and social care in settings such as 
domiciliary care, elderly day care settings and some supported living providers. 
 
Care Home Support 
The team telephone Care Homes on a regular basis either because they have been identified 
as having issues related to Covid-19 outbreaks, PPE or other reported IPC issues.  A database 
is maintained to ensure regular contact with Care Homes even when no issues had arisen. 
 
When any concerns were identified in relation to Care Homes by the Local Authority, the CCG 
or CDDFT mutual aid meetings with extra IPC support fed into those Care Homes as required. 
 
Care Homes have not been accepting routine visits, however the IPC team undertook a 
number of visits to homes during the pandemic either because of concerns regarding the use 
of PPE or other IPC/outbreak issues causing concern. 
 
Primary Care 
Support was offered as and when needed to colleagues in Primary Care.  Advice on Covid-19 
secure environments, cleaning, PPE use and hand hygiene have been the subject of many 
queries received by the team.  
 
In December and January the team, alongside colleagues from our Medicines Optimisation 
team, visited all of the Primary Care Network (PCN) vaccination sites to ensure they were of an 
acceptable standard and that processes were in place to receive the volume of patients 
receiving vaccination. Staff in Primary Care also used the opportunity to discuss any IPC 
concerns they had. 
 
A standard operating procedure (SOP) was produced for dealing with positive Covid-19 cases / 
outbreaks amongst in staff in primary care.  IPC advice and support has been offered to all 
practices with positive cases. 
 
Infection Control in Educational Settings 
In September 2020 the Local Authority provided funding to enable the team to provide Infection 
Control Support to schools in County Durham who had children with Special Educational 
Needs.  Staff looking after some of these children have needed advice if undertaking Aerosol 
generating procedures or have dealt with challenging behaviour.  
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Other support offered 
The IPC team have been asked at contribute to a number of extra meetings across the local 
health and social care system during the pandemic.  These included outbreak control groups, 
the local health protection group, the Local Resilience Forum PPE Forum, mutual aid groups, 
the Care Home Managers' Forum and the Domiciliary Care Managers' Forum. 
 
Learning Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDeR) programme 
 
The CCG remains fully committed to learning from the premature deaths of people with a 
learning disability in order to influence change and implement service improvements across 
health and social care where necessary. Resources have been identified to secure three 
temporary reviewer posts, which enabled the CCG to complete over 75 reviews in accordance 
with the Learning Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDeR) programme. Learning and 
recommendations taken directly from completed reviews are detailed within the LeDeR Local 
Area Annual Report available to the public on the CCG's website.  Notable achievements to 
date from the learning from LeDeR reviews include the following: 
 

• improved governance arrangements and multiagency working through the service 
improvement group, 

• improving local intelligence by adding LeDeR cases onto  the Safeguard Incident 
Reporting Management System (SIRMS), 

• protected learning time sessions dedicated to learning disabilities across health and 
social care to share the learning from LeDeR,   

• production of a 'healthy lungs' exercise video in conjunction with NHS Physiotherapists 
and local drama group, 

• working to improve end of life experience by improving the quality and accessibility of 
emergency health care plans (EHCPs), 

• training and production of 'Tops Tips' for Primary Care in order to improve learning 
disability registers, 

• training and a seven minute briefing on Mental Capacity 'It’s in everybody’s best interest' 
initiative  

• exceeding expectations for completion of Annual Health Checks by working 
collaboratively to raise awareness of the importance of health checks and identifying 
additional resources to support primary care,    

• working collaboratively with the Learning Disability North East and Cumbria Network 
and other agencies to provide an array of advice and support during the Covid-19 
pandemic for people with a learning disability. 

 
Medicines Optimisation 
 
General support for the response to the Covid-19 pandemic 
The Covid-19 pandemic has led to changes in the way that patients were managed within 
primary care with a focus on reduction of face-to-face contact in order to reduce risk of viral 
transmission.  Our Medicines Optimisation team worked with other teams within the CCG, local 
hospital Trusts, Community Pharmacies, medicines wholesalers and manufacturers, the Local 
Authority and other partner organisations at both a local and wider regional and national level 
to ensure that practices within the County were supported to provide appropriate care to 
patients during this difficult time. This included updating all clinical guidance where appropriate 
and looking at changing to alternative medication for patients to reduce face to face monitoring.  
At the same time the team ensured excellent access to medicines for patients by increasing 
the uptake of electronic repeat dispensing across County Durham and working collaboratively 
with the Local Authority for medicine delivery to patients. 
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It was recognised nationally that the Covid-19 pandemic was likely to increase the need for 
access to End of Life medication.  Within County Durham CCG the Medicines Optimisation 
team liaised with both the Local Pharmaceutical Committee (LPC) and County Durham and 
Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT) to determine whether additional stocks of 
medication could be made accessible, both in and out-of-hours and by hubs that were being 
set up at a Primary Care Network (PCN) level. The team worked collaboratively with 
community pharmacies to expand the End of Life Pharmacy medication hubs and increased 
the number from 24 to 86 across County Durham.   
 
Additionally two of the CCG Medicines Optimisation pharmacists were redeployed to County 
Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust to support the pharmacy team on the wards 
and in the dispensary. 
 
Covid-19 Vaccination Programme 
The Medicines Optimisation team supported the roll out of the Covid-19 vaccination 
programme across County Durham.  This support has been multi-faceted, and complex, 
requiring joined up working across various aspects of the health economy; within the CCG with 
the primary care team, the dedicated Covid-19 e-mail inbox, the Infection Prevention and 
Control Team and the Executive and Medical Directors; locally with Trusts, the Local 
Pharmaceutical Committee (LPC) and the Local Authority; regionally within the Integrated Care 
System and with the System Vaccination Operation Centre (SVOC) and also; nationally, 
requiring attendance at national webinars and communication with national bodies such as 
Specialist Pharmacy Service.   
 
The team supported in-person with over 300 hours of pharmacist time at the vaccination sites 
including both our Primary Care Network (PCN) and community pharmacy vaccination sites. 
This included the initial site and assurance visits to all 14 sites to set up the local vaccination 
sites within each PCN; followed by onsite support as well as developing  governance 
procedures and supporting their implementation, for example Area Prescribing Committee 
Covid-19 vaccination policy; documentation to allow movement of the vaccine; managing 
incidents. 
 
Due to the fast-moving nature of the vaccination programme, with rapidly changing 
recommendations and guidance, the team worked hard to ensure that all practices were kept 
up-to-date and aware of any changes and the impact of these on the delivery of the 
vaccination programme in their hub. As well as maintaining up-to date resource websites they 
delivered four education sessions covering the legalities of different models for delivery as well 
as vaccine specific education.  These were attended by over 120 clinicians per session as well 
as being shared as a recording that has been viewed by many more.  
 
The team were available to answer both operational and clinical queries as needed via 
personal and team e-mail boxes, telephone and in person.  This has averaged in excess of 30 
queries per day relating to the Covid-19 vaccination programme. 
 
The team worked with the CCG primary care team and the Local Authority to ensure that 
vaccine was offered to patients in hard to reach groups, for example patients with Learning 
Disabilities, the Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME) Population, refugees and the homeless. As 
pharmacists, members of the team were part of a roving team who attended women refuges 
and homeless centres to ensure all patients in County Durham are vaccinated. 
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Influenza Vaccination Programme  
It was anticipated that the uptake of flu vaccinations would increase due to the Covid-19 
pandemic but the uptake in many patient groups across County Durham exceeded the regional 
and national uptake.  This higher uptake within County Durham can be attributed to the 
excellent partnership working within the Immunisation Board.  
 
The Medical Director and the Medicines Optimisation team led the work of the Immunisation 
Board.  The membership includes all key partners within the County and they have all been 
committed throughout the season to supporting the campaign.  Key successes of this year’s 
campaign have included: 
 

• ownership of Flu has widened across health economy, 
• creation of sub-groups – which allowed specialist/technical expertise, detailed planning 

and freed up the Board itself for wider discussions, 
• sub-groups producing local Durham materials that were shared regionally 
• CCG lead becoming a member of County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation flu 

meeting, 
• joint working with community nursing team and Vulnerable Adults Wrap Around Service 

(VAWAS) to vaccinate the housebound and all care homes (residential and nursing) in 
partnership with practices,  

• a greater understanding between providers,  
o understanding how school teams provide the flu vaccination service, 
o understanding of community pharmacy systems,  

• Health Visitors from Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust vaccinating on 
traveller sites, 

• support for the Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust learning disabilities 
team, 

• creating a SWAT team of vaccinators, 
• ensuring contingency stock at County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 

that was shared and moved to practices across County Durham. 
 
Safeguarding Children 
 
Working with regional and national partners our Safeguarding Children's Team launched a 
virtual programme to help parents and carers understand and respond to their crying baby. 
Research has shown that this knowledge helps to reduce risk and prevent the potential injuries 
caused by shaking. We know that some parents and carers may get frustrated when children 
are upset and we want to provide all the support we can to help them. The programme sets out 
clear steps parents and carers can take to relieve pressure so they do not find themselves in a 
position where they may shake or strike a baby – it’s about providing support at a time when 
people are not always able to get help, especially in these times of social isolation. 
 
The programme is being delivered across five key touch points throughout County Durham, led 
by the Designated Nurse for Safeguarding and Children Looked After, working with maternity 
services, 0-25 teams, local authority Early Help and Pre-Birth Teams and Primary Care. This is 
phase one of the roll out. The second phase will incorporate the wider safeguarding 
partnership. Training has been delivered to the GP practice safeguarding leads and practices 
have been given resources to support the delivery of these messages. The programme is 
endorsed by the RCGP and RCPCH and is recognised nationally.  
 
The Designated Nurse for Safeguarding and Children Looked After has worked with partners in 
the Durham Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) to develop processes that ensures all 
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GP's are made aware of statutory referrals in order to inform their own risk assessment when 
concerns are raised about the welfare of a child. All GP referrals into the MASH are quality 
assured. In addition, GPs are now made aware of all domestic abuse incidents, where a child 
is identified within the family, via a shared electronic record. 
 
The Designated Nurse for Safeguarding and Children Looked After Has led a multi-agency 
review on the Bruising in Non – Mobile Children Protocol. This was launched during 
safeguarding week and rolled out across County Durham. 
 
The Designated Professionals continue to undertake deep-dive commissioner assurance visits 
across provider services. Recently there has been a visit undertaken into Paediatrics. 
 
As lockdown was introduced it was essential that the Designated professionals continued to 
have oversight of our most vulnerable population. Children in care continued to have timely 
initial and review health assessments, using virtual platforms, to ensure every child was seen 
and their experiences and needs identified. 
 
 
The North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care System (ICS) and 
Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs) 
 
As already explained the North East and North Cumbria (NENC) Integrated Care System (ICS) 
is a regional partnership between the NHS, local authorities and others, taking collective 
responsibility for resources, setting strategic objectives and care standards, and improving the 
health of the 3.1 million people it serves. It is a highly interdependent health and care system, 
with longstanding clinical networks and mutual aid arrangements for managing surge/winter 
and challenges such as Covid-19. 
   
Our ICS builds on existing local place-based leadership and responsibilities of clinical 
commissioning groups to plan and arrange services for local populations. During 2020/21 the 
legislative proposals for a Health and Care Bill -‘Integration and Innovation: Working together 
to improve health and social care’ build on the work the system has been doing since the 
publication of the NHS Long Term Plan, and is in line with the need to bring together NHS 
organisations, local government and wider partners at a system level to deliver more joined up 
approaches to improving health and care outcomes, coterminous with local authorities. We and 
our provider partners have broadly welcomed the direction of travel towards a statutory body 
status for our ICS. 
 
Our ICS is focused on ‘at scale’ priorities that multiply our collective impact around overarching 
clinical strategy and clinical networks, strategic commissioning, and shared policy 
development. It is supported by four Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs).  Networks and 
regional arrangements include:  
 

• 16 clinical networks – including the Northern Cancer Alliance. 
• One Joint CCG Committee for decisions on policy and strategic commissioning. 
• Workforce Planning via HENE (Health Education England North East). 
• One NHS Digital network – coordinating cyber-security and the Great North Care 

Record. 
• One Academic Health Science Network (AHSN NE) and Applied Research 

Collaborative. 
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During 2020/21, we have seen ICS-level coordination of the Covid-19 response with: 
 

• Joint working with Local Authority Public Health and Social Care colleagues and local 
Police and Fire and Rescue Services to coordinate our response across organisational 
boundaries. 

• New ways of working to provide care differently and keep people safe – from the 
creation of GP 'hot' hubs to virtual consultations. 

• Digital innovation in clinical services e.g. ‘Attend Anywhere’/online consultations (but 
need to be mindful of digital exclusion). 

• Agile and flexible working of staff in multiple settings. 
• Working together to create our own sustainable supplies of Personal Protective 

Equipment (PPE) including the opening of the Northumbria Manufacturing and 
Distribution Hub. 

• The willingness and commitment of our VCSE (voluntary, community and social 
enterprise) partners to support service provision. 

• Joint delivery of NHS Charities Together funding via Durham and Cumbria Community 
Foundations on behalf of the ICS area 

• Working with HealthWatch to understand the impact of Covid-19 on our patients and 
communities. 

• Developing an ICS-wide offer of psychological support via Cumbria, Northumberland, 
Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust (CNTW) to health and care staff no matter where 
they work. 

 
Other ICS achievements include: 
 

• Academic Health Science Network (AHSN) relicensed for our ICS, and Applied 
Research Collaborative established. 

• Sunderland Medical School established – with a focus on GP development. 
• Jointly promoting the ICS area as a place to live, train and work for medical trainees 

through our Find Your Place campaign. 
• Investment in digital diagnostics to support Radiology, Pathology and Haematology 
• Digital tools such as the Great North Care Record (GNCR) and HealthCall rolled out 

across the ICS. 
• The North of England Commissioning Support (NECS) Capacity Tracker deployed to 

care homes across the ICS, and RAIDR (a systems intelligence tool) deployed to all 
regional CCGs and GP practices. 

• ICS Communications Network established leading the communications response to the 
pandemic and co-ordinating our #DoYourBit winter campaign. 

• Flu vaccination programme – higher uptake rates across all groups when compared to 
last year (85% over-65s compared to 73% last year). 

• ICS-wide Provider Collaborative established – building on the cross-boundary mutual 
aid developed during the pandemic and supporting service recovery. 

• Launch of our collective BAME (black, Asian and minority ethnic) Promise to tackle 
workplace discrimination. 

 
The County Durham and Tees Valley Mental Health and Learning 
Disabilities Partnership  
 
Again, as referenced earlier in April 2017 the five CCGs across County Durham and the Tees 
Valley began a formal partnership arrangement with Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust (TEWV) with the aim of working together as one responsive system to plan, 
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buy and deliver high quality, best value services for people living with learning disability, autism 
or mental health needs. The partnership continues to develop, working alongside our six local 
authorities who all have seats on the Partnership Board.  
 
The Partnership was formed based on our shared aspiration for better quality and outcomes 
leading to an improved quality of life for people who need our services, this is set against an 
ever increasing financial challenge for the NHS and a requirement to deliver National and 
Local plans.  
 
The Partnership identified a number of key outcomes including:  
 

• less reliance on hospital admissions through improved community services,  
• prevention, early identification and intervention,  
• shared ambitions and goals, 
• improved quality of life and peoples experience,  
• spending your money on the right things.  

 
These outcomes sit alongside our agreed principles: 
 

• mental health is as important as physical health,  
• we will be ambitious for the people we serve and the staff we employ, 
• we are equals in our partnership,  
• we will do the work once and avoid duplication,  
• we will share our problems and issues,  
• we will deliver services at the appropriate level, at the right time and as local as 

possible, 
• we will be honest that some services need to be at a larger scale,  
• we will build constructive relationships with all stakeholders, 
• we will take a shared approach to managing risks.  

 
The Partnership has a set of strategic outcomes which are based on a recovery and wellbeing 
approach for all of our services and an improved experience of those services for all people 
using them. We recognise that people with mental health problems, learning disabilities or 
autism often have poorer physical health than the general population and this is something we 
aim to address. 
 
In order to improve our services we need to make sure that investment is available and also 
that it is spent wisely. Over the life of the partnership we have significantly increased the 
investment in mental health and learning disability services per head of population by an 
average of more than 20%.  
 
Alongside previous year’s investments in enhanced perinatal mental health services, 
Children’s and Young People mental health services, we have further invested in 2020/21 in: 
 

• further expansion of our enhanced case management, 
• further development of our mental health liaison services in our acute hospitals, 
• integration of our community mental health teams into primary care networks, 
• working towards achieving the goals for transforming care to ensure that people with a 

learning disability or autism get out of unnecessary hospital placements,  
• development of specialist Persistent Physical Symptoms services,  
• development individual placement support to help people into employment, 
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• development of children’s’ safe space,  
• development of personal health budgets and increase options for respite care,  
• investment in our third sector providers,  
• development of new psychological wellbeing and treatment services, 
• 'Right Care, Right Place' programme (delivery of the community mental health 

framework), 
• development of whole pathway commissioning for children and young people mental 

health services.  
 
Looking beyond these developments we have a range of other targeted ambitions. We remain 
on track for delivery of the mental health and learning disability elements of the NHS Long 
Term Plan. We will also further develop our autism services to reduce waiting times and 
enhance support to improve outcomes for people affected by autism. We will continue to 
explore our options for better integrated working across health and social care and we have an 
ambition to further develop our financial approaches to include other budgets responsibilities 
as the partnership continues to develop. 
 
 
Sustainable Development  
 
As an NHS organisation, responsible for public funds, we have an obligation to work in a way 
that has a positive effect on the communities we serve. We have an identified lead for 
sustainability who is a member of our Governing Body. Sustainability means spending public 
money well, the smart and efficient use of natural resources and building healthy, resilient 
communities.  
 
By making the most of social, environmental and economic assets we can improve health both 
in the immediate and long term even in the context of rising cost of natural resources. 
Demonstrating that we consider the social and environmental impacts ensures that the legal 
requirements in the Public Services (Social Value) Act (2012) are met.  
 
We acknowledge this responsibility to our patients, local communities and the environment by 
working to minimise our carbon footprint. In order to embed sustainability it is important to 
explain where in our process and procedures sustainability features.  One of the ways in which 
we can embed sustainability is through the use of a Sustainable Development Management 
Plan (SDMP) and this will be considered for the future as part of our commitment to achieving 
a carbon net zero NHS in the North East and Yorkshire. 
 
We do not currently use the Sustainable Development Assessment Tool (SDAT) tool. Climate 
change brings new challenges both in direct effects to the healthcare estates, but also to 
patient health. Examples of recent years include the effects of heat waves, extreme 
temperatures and prolonged periods of cold, floods, droughts etc. As an organisation that 
acknowledges its responsibility towards creating a sustainable future, we help achieve that 
goal by taking opportunities to promote the benefits of sustainability to our staff.  
 
As a commissioning and contracting organisation, we will need effective contract mechanisms 
to deliver our ambitions for sustainable healthcare delivery. The NHS policy framework already 
sets the scene for commissioners and providers to operate in a sustainable manner. Our 
procurement processes ask potential suppliers of NHS services to demonstrate consideration 
of environmental and social impacts of their business and/or service.  
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As part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute towards 
the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, public health and 
social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28% reduction from a 2013 
baseline by 2020.  
 

Engaging people and communities 

Due to the Covid-19 pandemic there was a significant impact upon the scope for patient, public 
and staff engagement activities that were possible. During periods of 2020/21, engagement 
staff from the CCG were stood down from their substantive roles to enable them to provide 
direct assistance to services across our local health and care system as well as the vaccination 
programmes.  
 
This had a significant impact upon the ability to undertaken elements of our engagement 
activities. There was also the need to pause certain pieces of engagement planning that were 
taking place to allow time to reflect upon and learn from the impacts on services, before 
moving forward.  
 
Primary care experiences 
As part of the opportunities for reflection and learning, a period of public engagement looking 
at individuals’ experiences of contact with primary care services took place. This ran from the 
10 June to 3 July 2020 and was undertaken in collaboration with the CCGs from covering 
County Durham, South Tyneside and Sunderland.  
 
The engagement approaches used included an online survey for members of the general 
public to complete as well as a series of telephone interviews with some individuals who had 
accessed their GP practice since the Covid-19 lockdown that came into effect on the 23 March 
2020, and some who had not. 
 
In total, 1710 members of the public responded to the survey, 1157 for County Durham with 19 
individuals participating in the telephone interviews from across the Integrated Care 
Partnership (ICP) area. A copy of the full report summarising the findings is available on the 
CCG's website in the papers that went to the Primary Care Commissioning Committee in 
August 2020 – this report starts from page 170 of the portfolio of papers.  
 
The results from this were shared with relevant colleagues across the CCGs to help inform 
future service planning and arrangements. In particular, information from the matters 
highlighted through this engagement have been able to inform the development of the CCG's 
Primary Care Strategy for 2021. 
 
Community equipment services review 
Working collectively with Durham County Council and Darlington Borough Council the CCG 
undertook a review of the community equipment service for our population. The conversations 
for this work were broken down into a number of particular audiences that we reached out to 
directly; 
 

• professionals who liaise with this service, 
• service users and their families / carers, 
• wider public who may not have used the service, 
• staff in Primary Care. 

 

https://countydurhamccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/8/2020/08/20200818-PCCCttee-files.pdf
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The engagement looked to understand their experiences of the delivery / collection of items 
and where there are opportunities to improve for the future. Due to the existing social 
distancing requirements, there were opportunities for all the identified audiences to contribute 
through and online set of survey questions. Those individuals who have used the service within 
an identified timeframe are also being written to directly with a paper copy of the survey (and a 
freepost return envelope) if they would prefer to use that method too. A virtual focus group was 
also held with family carers across County Durham. This included staff from Durham County 
Carers Support to help articulate a broader range of experiences from carers they have worked 
with.  
 
The engagement launched in November 2020 and runs until January 2021. At the time of 
writing the annual report the content of the engagement was being analysed.  
 
Patient Transport experiences survey 
Between August - October 2020 County Durham CCG made attempts to collect feedback from 
people with experience of the existing patient transport service.  
 
Although a relatively small sample of responses were returned, it provided useful insights 
regarding the service provided to eligible patients for planned appointments in primary care 
(through general practices) or secondary care (such as the University Hospital North Durham) 
services.  
 
The write up of the feedback was provided to commissioners to help inform future 
developments in relation to this service for our residents.  
 
Primary Care Strategy development 
As part of supporting the development of a new County Durham Primary Care strategy the 
opportunity to review a draft version and provide comments was made available to our patient 
group members as well as the public more widely. Information about the draft plan and the 
opportunity to comment was made available on the CCG website as well as circulated directly 
to key partners, our MyNHS membership and through our social media profiles.  
 
As part of the information provided, a recorded presentation from the Director of 
Commissioning Strategy and Delivery (Primary Care) was used to outlie the key elements 
within the draft strategy.  
 
The information collected during November 2020 as a result was shared directly with staff in 
the CCG primary care team to help them refine further the content of the future strategy.  
 
Integrated Engagement approaches – System recovery 
Throughout the lockdowns in 2020/21, communications and engagement colleagues from 
across our health and care system (CCG, Durham County Council, Healthwatch County 
Durham and local provider organisations such as County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust and Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust) continued to 
integrate together and develop planning for future collaborative ways of working.  
 
Collectively, the partners involved produced an eight page supplement that was published in 
the Northern Echo in 12 December. A digital copy of the supplement was also been added to 
partners websites and shared through their social media profiles.  
 
The supplement contained a wide range of information and key messages about accessing 
services across our local area. This included accessing A&E services, adaptations to 

https://youtu.be/v7cHK_v8_us
https://youtu.be/v7cHK_v8_us
https://countydurhamccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/8/2020/12/NHS-PAGES.pdf
https://countydurhamccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/8/2020/12/NHS-PAGES.pdf
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community teams ways of working and flu. It was also able to highlight a range of experiences 
from frontline staff members during recent months too.  
 
This collaborative way of working is set to continue and also has paved the way for future 
strategic and operation elements of engagement across County Durham.  
 
Integrated Engagement approaches – Future CCG strategy 
As part of the evolving conversations and ways of working as a system, the CCG has led 
conversations with a range of partners as it looks to develop its future involvement strategy. 
This has been built around a ‘Compact’ that sets out the key principles behind how we are 
looking to co-ordinate ourselves as part of wider transitions happening locally, regionally and 
nationally in 2021.  
 
To develop the Compact and future involvement strategy, we undertook a series of 
conversations with key partners about existing and possible future approaches. There were 
specific opportunities to develop the thinking around this with our patient groups, staff across 
the CCG, staff working within partner organisations, some of our voluntary and community 
sector partners as well as the wider public.  
 
As part of helping to provide impartiality and objectivity in the process of gathering this 
feedback, the CCG specifically worked with Healthwatch County Durham and Durham 
Community Action to undertake elements of this work on behalf of the CCG.   
 
The information obtained through these conversations was used to shape the future CCG 
involvement strategy. This in turn, will strengthen further the integrated approaches to 
communications and engagement activities between our local partners. 
 
Care home services 
Working together with staff from the Integrated Commissioning team across the County 
(between NHS and Durham County Council commissioners), work was initiated in relation to 
care homes and home care provision. 
 
The objectives of this work are to be able to consider what is required to effectively deliver 
appropriate care for County Durham residents in later life for the future. This will be specifically 
considering the views and experiences of the full range of staff involved in delivering these 
services, the individuals receiving their care and the families of those individuals.  
 
However, due to the pressures in delivering the vaccination programme at the time this work 
was due to commence, it is currently on pause to allow frontline staff in care homes to be able 
to focus on the patient care they are able to provide. This will resume at the earliest 
appropriate time in 2021.  
 
Shotley Bridge Community Hospital services 
Throughout 2020, dialogue with clinicians, service managers, local councillors and patient 
representatives has been continuing as much as practically possible.   
 
The local reference group continued to meet where possible with representation from local 
councillors and the local MP as well as the dedicated patient representation group.  Both 
forums were used to feedback on progress as well as to facilitate an ongoing dialogue with the 
local community.   
 
The CCG provided a project update in July 2020, with a further update taken to the Adult Well-
being Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting on 2 October 2020.   In Autumn 2020 

https://countydurhamccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/8/2020/07/Shotley-Bridge-Community-Hospital-Services-Project-Update-July-2020.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s127114/Agenda%20Item%206%20-%20SBCH%20AWHOSC%20Update%20Sep%202020.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s127114/Agenda%20Item%206%20-%20SBCH%20AWHOSC%20Update%20Sep%202020.pdf
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it was publicly announced that the Shotley Bridge Community Hospital project would be part of 
the national Health Infrastructure Programme (HIP) with a capital budget of £30 million  
Having allowed time for clinicians to review the proposed clinical model, the public 
engagement commenced in February 2021 and ran up to the start of purdah ahead of the local 
elections. The information captured through this stage of the project will help to inform the 
clinical model included in the outline business case for the scheme.  
 
As with other engagement projects at this time, there needed to be an emphasis on the use of 
digital, telephone and where practical paper methods to gather feedback and views. A full 
programme of virtual engagement opportunities was included in the approaches. As part of the 
public materials a recording of a presentation from our lead clinician was shared to help ensure 
clarity regarding the latest developments, clinical model and wider national context that this 
conversation took place within.  
 
MyNHS and Patient, Public and Carers Engagement Committee public membership 
recruitment 
Across County Durham efforts were made to raise further awareness of the opportunities for 
our residents to hear from and participate in the work of the CCG.  
 
Promotional materials raised the profile of the MyNHS membership scheme and the ability for 
local residents to be able to keep connected to the work of the CCG and wider health partners. 
Also, this campaign highlighted the ways in which individuals can become actively involved in 
engagement opportunities taking place.  
 
The formal engagement committee at the CCG also advertised for four new public members as 
part of its efforts to be as inclusive as possible. The application period for this closed in 
February 2021, with informal interviews taking place to help individuals who applied decide if 
this was the most appropriate forum for them to participate in.  
 
Reducing health inequality 
 
Our commitment to equality and diversity is driven by the principles of the NHS Constitution, 
the Equality Act 2010 and the Human Rights Act 1998, and also by the duties of the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012 (section 14T) to reduce health inequalities, promote patient 
involvement and involve and consult with the public. 
 
We have demonstrated our commitment to taking Equality, Diversity and Human Rights 
(EDHR) in everything we do, whether that is commissioning services, employing people, 
developing policies, communicating, consulting or involving people in our work as evidenced 
below. 
 
Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 
 
We understand that we are required under the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) which is set 
out in s149 of the Equality Act 2010, to have due regard to: 
 

• eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other conduct prohibited 
by the (Equality) Act, 

• advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not, 

• foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those 
who do not. 
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We are also required as part of the Specific Duties Regulations 2011 to publish: 
 

• Equality objectives, at least every four years  
• Information to demonstrate our compliance with the public sector equality duty. 

 
Governance 
 
Equality, Diversity and Health Inequalities is governed and reports into the Governing Body. 
The committee ensures we are compliant with legislative, mandatory and regulatory 
requirements regarding equality and diversity, develops and delivers national and regional 
diversity-related initiatives within the CCG, provides a forum for sharing issues and 
opportunities, functions as a two-way conduit for information dissemination and escalation, 
monitors progress against the equality strategy and supports us in the achievement of key 
equality and diversity objectives. 
 
A quarterly Governance Assurance Report is submitted to the board outlining relevant updates 
in relation to Equality, Diversity and Health Inequalities. 
 
Equality Strategy 
 
Our Equality Strategy for 2020-2023 has been developed. The revised strategy highlights the 
aims set out within the ‘We are the NHS: People Plan 2020/21 – action for us all’ and outlines 
our strategic direction in how we foster a culture of inclusion and belonging, take action to 
develop a diverse workforce that is representative of the communities it serves, train our 
people, and work together differently to deliver patient care.  
The Equality Delivery System 2 - Our Equality Objectives 
 
We have continued to utilise the Equality Delivery System (EDS2) framework and have been 
using the tool to support the mainstreaming of equalities into all our core business functions to 
support us in meeting the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) and to improve our performance 
for the community, patients, carers and staff with protected characteristics that are outlined 
within the Equality Act 2010.  
 
We have used the NHS Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2) to continue monitoring our equality 
objectives outlined below: 
 
Objective 1 – Continuously improve engagement and ensure that services are commissioned 
and designed to meet the needs of patients in at least 6 protected characteristics. 
 
Objective 2 – Ensure processes are in place to provide information in a variety of 
communication methods to meet the needs of patients, in particular the ageing population and 
those with a disability. 
 
Objective 3 – Monitor and review staff satisfaction to ensure they are engaged, supported and 
represent the population they serve. 
 
Objective 4 – Ensure that the CCG Governing Body actively leads and promotes Equality and 
Diversity throughout the organisation. 
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Our Staff - Encouraging Diversity  
 
We encourage a diverse range of people to apply to and work for us as we recognise the 
benefits such diversity brings to the quality of our work and the nature of our organisation. 
We continue to offer guaranteed interviews to applicants with a 
disability who are identified as meeting the essential criteria for any 
advertised roles; and reasonable adjustments under the Equality 
Act 2010 are considered and implemented during the recruitment 
process and during employment.  
 
By working closely with DWP, we have maintained our ‘Level 2 Disability Employer’ status for 
2020 – 2021 by demonstrating our commitment to employing the right people for our business 
and continually developing our people.  
 
Workforce Race Equality Standard 
 
In accordance with the Public Sector Equality Duty and the NHS Equality and Diversity 
Council’s agreed measures to ensure employees from black and ethnic minority (BME) 
backgrounds have equal access to career opportunities and receive fair treatment in the 
workplace, the CCG has shown due regard to the Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES). 
We have due regard to the standard by seeking assurance of compliance from trusts and aim 
to improve workplace experiences and representation at all levels for black and minority ethnic 
staff. 
 
Equality Impact Assessments 
 
Our Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Toolkit has been reviewed in 2020 to continue the 
process to be embedded into core business processes and to provide a comprehensive insight 
into our local population, patients and staff’s diverse health needs.  
 
The tool covers all equality groups offered protection under the Equality Act 2010 (Race, 
Disability, Gender, Age, Sexual Orientation, Religion/Belief, Marriage and Civil Partnership and 
Gender Re-assignment) in addition to Human Rights and Carers,  as well as including prompts 
for engagement with protected groups the tool also aids compliance with the Accessible 
Information Standard. 
 
The EIA is embedded into our governance process and sign off from the Governing Body is 
required for monitoring and completion. 
 
Accessible Information Standard 
 
The Accessible Information Standard aims to make sure that people with a disability or sensory 
impairment have access to information that they can understand, and access to any 
communication support they might need. 
 
The CCG has due regard to the standard by obtaining feedback from Patient Reference 
Groups (PRG’s) in relation to how we can improve our communication methods and make 
them more accessible for all. 
 
Further information can be found at: 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/accessibleinfo/ 
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Health Inequalities 
 
We have regard to the need to reduce inequalities between patients in accessing health 
services for our local population. 
 
We understand our local population and local health needs, through the use of joint strategic 
needs assessments (JSNAs) and we collate additional supporting data including local health 
profiles as well as qualitative data through our local engagement initiatives which aim to 
engage hard to reach groups. 
 
We work in partnership with local NHS Trusts as well as local voluntary sector organisations 
and community groups to identify the needs of the diverse local community we serve to 
improve health and healthcare for the local population.  
 
We seek the views of patients, carers and the public through individual feedback/input, 
consultations, working with other organisations and community groups, attendance at 
community events and engagement activity including patient surveys, focus groups and 
Healthwatch. 
 
As the local commissioners of health services, we seek to ensure that the services that are 
purchased on behalf of our local population reflect their needs. We appreciate that to deliver 
this requires meaningful consultation and involvement of all our stakeholders.  We aim to 
ensure that comments and feedback from our local communities are captured and, where 
possible, giving local people the opportunity to influence local health services and enable 
people to have their say using a variety of communication methods enabling them to influence 
the way NHS health services are commissioned. 
 
Through our Commissioning Support Unit, we have continued to work closely with other local 
NHS organisations to support the regional working that has been a legacy of the Equality, 
Diversity and Human Rights Regional Leads Meetings. Also nationally we have been awarded 
E&D Partner status for 2016/17 and have continued to work closely with partners as part of the 
alumni programme. 
 
We continue to monitor the health profiles and data available which detail the health 
challenges of our population including the Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA) and Public 
Health Profiles. 
 
Further information can be found at: 
 
Health Profiles: Local Authority Health Profiles 
Public Health England – Local Health:  http://www.localhealth.org.uk 
 
North Durham JSNA: County Durham Joint Strategic Needs Assessment - Durham County 
Council 
 
North Durham CCG Health Inequalities Right Care Pack: https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2018/12/ehircp-ney-north_durham-ccg-dec-18.pdf 
 
Durham, Dales and Easington JSNA: http://www.durham.gov.uk/JSNA 
 
Durham, Dales and Easington CCG Health Inequalities Right Care Pack:  
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/ehircp-ney-
durham_dales_easington_and_sedgefield-ccg-dec-18.pdf 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles/data#page/13/gid/1938132696/pat/6/par/E12000001/ati/202/are/E08000022/cid/4
http://www.localhealth.org.uk/
http://www.durham.gov.uk/JSNA
http://www.durham.gov.uk/JSNA
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/ehircp-ney-north_durham-ccg-dec-18.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/ehircp-ney-north_durham-ccg-dec-18.pdf
http://www.durham.gov.uk/JSNA
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/ehircp-ney-durham_dales_easington_and_sedgefield-ccg-dec-18.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/ehircp-ney-durham_dales_easington_and_sedgefield-ccg-dec-18.pdf
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Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy  
 
The CCG continues to be an active member of the County Durham Health and Wellbeing 
Board, with our Chief Officer holding the role of Vice-Chair. As a member of the Board the 
CCG has helped to shape the local priorities for County Durham as influenced by the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment. The Health and Social Care Act 2012 places clear duties on 
local authorities and CCGs to prepare a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. The Board 
developed a strategy which included a number of areas of focus for partners across County 
Durham.  
 
We have chosen six objectives across our three strategic priorities that are of importance given 
the impact they have on people’s health and of where we want to be in 2025.  
We recognise these are challenging but by working together across our partnerships and local 
communities we can make a difference: 
 

• improve healthy life expectancy and reduce the gap within County Durham and between 
County Durham and England; 

• we will have a smoke free environment with over 95% of our residents not smoking and 
an ambition that pregnant women and mothers will not smoke  

• decrease overall levels of unemployment and specifically close the employment gap 
between the general population and those living with a long term physical or mental 
health condition, or with a learning disability  

• over 90% of our children aged 4-5 years, and 79% of children aged 10-11 years are of a 
healthy weight; 

• improved mental health and wellbeing evidenced by increased self-reported wellbeing 
scores and reduced suicide rates 

• increase the number of organisations involved in Better Health at Work Award (to 
improve health and wellbeing interventions at work). 
   

The reviewed Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2021-25 was signed off by the Board in 
March 2021.  
 
 
North East and North Cumbria Urgent and Emergency Care Network  
 
As explained in the overview section of the report the CCG is an active member of the North 
East and North Cumbria Urgent and Emergency Care Network (UECN), which brings together 
organisations across the Integrated Care System (ICS) to ensure the quality, safety and equity 
of urgent and emergency care services in the region. 
 
The UECN provides a delivery team (based at North of England Commissioning Support), a 
Directory of Services (DoS) function and real time information through the UEC-RAIDR urgent 
care App, allowing providers to focus on operational delivery whilst the Network provides 
operational and programme management support. 
 
The Network entered 2020/21 with clear aims aligned to the national Long Term Plan, 
designed to reduce pressure on emergency hospital services, provide alternative pathways to 
ambulance services, continue to enhance integrated urgent care services and reduce length of 
stay in hospital and delayed discharges. 
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The unprecedented challenges of the Covid-19 pandemic in early 2020 brought an inevitable 
change in approach, with the Network partners focusing all their efforts on delivery of frontline 
services.   
 
Support for Partners 
In order to support the partners, the Network continued to meet monthly informing and 
supporting the newly emerging operating models, activity and behaviours and agreeing a 
revised timeline for the development of local system winter plans for 2020/21. 
 
The rearranged annual winter debrief provided an opportunity for all system partners to come 
together virtually and to test their winter plans. A subsequent system resilience event focused 
on sharing best practice and developing OPEL escalation plans at Integrated Care Partnership 
(ICP) level.   
 
Changes in patient behaviour in the early months of the pandemic, with lower attendances at 
both emergency departments and primary care, as well as the ongoing need to prevent the 
spread of virus, made it possible for us to identify areas of learning from the use of new 
technology and pathways, and to accelerate the introduction of the national 'NHS 111 First' 
initiative, providing virtual access to advice, guidance and where necessary onward referral for 
patients.   
 
This initiative was piloted in the North ICP area before being embedded across the region and 
is now ensuring all patients following the pathway receive appropriate advice and where 
possible, avoid attending face-to-face services where they risk further spread of the virus.  
 
A regional project group has focused on reducing ambulance handover delays and making 
changes to processes as a result of Covid-19 and new infection prevention control 
requirements.   
 
This will also support further opportunities for ambulances to convey patients to alternative 
locations, away from crowded Emergency Departments. This could include direct admission to 
same day emergency care services, or referral to Urgent Treatment Centres or community 
services where appropriate. 
 
Directory of Services 
The year saw significant advances in the digital framework for the Directory of Services, the 
central directory that is used by 111 and 999 staff if the patient does not require an ambulance, 
and by clinicians in urgent and emergency care services, to identify the most appropriate 
referral for the patient. 
 
This includes increased detail in ranking of services to enable more accurate search results, 
and a change so that users can profile services within a Local Authority rather than a CCG 
area, to ensure an appropriate provider for the patient's location is offered as a referral option. 
 
A number of other changes were also made to ensure that patients are referred to their GP or 
a pharmacy where this is more appropriate than an urgent treatment centre or out-of-hours GP 
service, and to include sexual assault referral centres within the DoS as an alternative to 
emergency departments following a sexual assault. 
 
UEC-RAIDR app 
The UEC-RAIDR application provides insight and intelligence on all aspects of urgent and 
emergency care, playing an important role in the collective management of capacity and 
demand across the system. 
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During the past year, the app has been enhanced as a tool for managing Covid-related 
pressures and the team has worked intensively to embed the app within areas facing high 
levels of escalation over a sustained period. This has aided the intelligent conveyancing of 
ambulance-based patients and informed discussions about the provision of mutual aid.   
 
The Network has also worked to ensure that wherever possible the app displays key metrics 
on OPEL, emergency department and bed data in near-real time and that the system is 
prepared for the closure of the Flight Deck system at the end of the financial year.  
 
The app now contains a significantly enhanced suite of metrics on ambulance conveyancing 
and handovers. Looking ahead to 2021, the Network hopes to build on this by creating the 
ability to capture incident-level data and produce smart alerts that link conveyancing data to 
bed capacity.  
 
Winter funding 
The Network distributed over £780,000 in non-recurrent winter funding at short notice, to help 
local systems to deliver projects addressing our key priorities in urgent and emergency care 
provision. This included piloting new systems of intelligent conveyancing in North of Tyne, an 
innovative mental health street triage scheme in Cumbria, new equipment in Durham, South 
Tyneside and Sunderland, and support for the development of same day emergency care in 
Tees.  
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT  
Corporate Governance Report 
 
 
Members’ Report 
 
Council of Members 
 
The CCG is a membership organisation. The Council of Members comprises of an individual 
selected by each member practice belonging to one of the CCG’s three constituencies. The 
individual selected has authority to represent the practice’s views and to act on its behalf in its 
dealings between the practice and the CCG.  
 
The Council of Members has one representative that sits on the Governing Body, representing 
the views of member practices. 
 
The Council of Members: 
 

• contributes to, changes and approves the CCG’s Constitution and any amendments 
thereafter, 

• elects relevant members of the Governing Body, 
• reviews and agrees the annual delivery plan, 
• contributes to and agrees the commissioning intentions, 
• reviews year end performance of the Governing Body, 
• holds an Annual General Meeting open to the public. 
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Member Practices 
 
Below are hyperlinks to the websites of each of our 61 member practices (as at the end of 
2020/21). 
 
A map showing the location of each of our practices is available via our website. 
NHS County Durham CCG Member Practices 
 
 
 
Chester-le-Street 
 

1. Bridge End Surgery 
2. Cestria Health Centre 
3. Great Lumley Surgery 
4. Middle Chare Medical Group  
5. Pelton and Fellrose Medical Group 
6. Sacriston Surgery 
7. The Villages Medical Centre 

 
Derwentside 
 

8. Annfield Plain Surgery 
9. Browney House Surgery 
10. Cedars Medical Group 
11. Consett Medical Centre 
12. Leadgate Surgery 
13. Oakfields Health Centre 
14. Lanchester Medical Centre 
15. Queens Road Surgery 
16. Stanley Medical Group 
17. Tanfield View Medical Group 
18. The Haven Surgery 
19. West Road Surgery 

 
Durham 
 

20. Belmont and Sherburn Medical Group 
21. Bowburn Medical Centre 
22. Chastleton Medical Group 
23. Claypath and University Medical Group 
24. Coxhoe Medical Practice 
25. Cheveley Park Medical Centre 
26. Dunelm Medical Practice 
27. The Medical Group 
28. West Rainton Surgery 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Durham Dales 
 

29. Auckland Medical Group 
30. Barnard Castle Surgery 
31. Bishopgate Medical Centre  
32. Evenwood Surgery 
33. Gainford Surgery 
34. North House Surgery 
35. Old Forge Surgery 
36. Pinfold Medical Practice 
37. Station View Medical Centre 
38. Weardale Practice 
39. Willington Medical Group  
40. Woodview Medical Practice  

 
Easington 

 
41. Bevan Medical Group 
42. Blackhall and Peterlee Practice 
43. Byron Medical Group 
44. East Durham Medical Group 
45. Horden Group Practice 
46. Marlborough Practice  
47. Murton Medical Group 
48. New Seaham Medical Group 
49. Silverdale Family Practice 
50. Southdene Medical Centre 
51. William Brown Medical Centre 
52. Wingate Medical Centre 

 
Sedgefield  
 

53. Bewick Crescent Surgery 
54. Bishops Close Medical Practice 
55. Ferryhill and Chilton Medical Practice 
56. Hallgarth Surgery 
57. Jubilee Medical Group 
58. Peaseway Medical Centre 
59. Skerne Medical Practice 
60. St Andrews Medical Practice 
61. West Cornforth Medical Centre  

 

 
 
 
 
Governing Body   

https://countydurhamccg.nhs.uk/about-us/primary-care-member-practices/
http://www.bridgeendsurgery.com/
https://www.cestriahealthcentre.nhs.uk/
http://www.greatlumleysurgery.co.uk/
http://www.middlecharemedicalgroup.co.uk/
http://www.peltonandfellrose.nhs.uk/
http://www.sacristonsurgery.co.uk/
https://www.villagesmedicalcentre.nhs.uk/
https://www.annfield-plain-surgery.co.uk/
http://www.browneyhousesurgery.com/
http://www.cedarsmedicalgroup.co.uk/
http://www.consettmedicalcentre.co.uk/
http://www.leadgate.gpsurgery.net/
http://www.oakfieldshealthcentre.co.uk/
http://www.lanchestermedicalcentre.co.uk/
http://www.queensroadsurgery.co.uk/
http://www.stanleymedicalgroup.co.uk/
http://www.tanfieldviewmedicalgroup.co.uk/
http://www.thehavensurgery.co.uk/
http://www.westroadsurgery.com/
https://www.intrahealth.co.uk/surgeries/sherburn-surgery
https://www.intrahealth.co.uk/surgeries/bowburn-medical-centre
http://www.chastletonmedicalgroup.co.uk/
http://www.durhamstudenthealth.co.uk/
http://www.coxhoemedicalpractice.co.uk/
http://www.cheveleyparkmedicalcentre.co.uk/
http://www.dunelmmedicalpractice.co.uk/
http://www.themedicalgroup.co.uk/
http://www.westraintonsurgery.co.uk/
http://www.aucklandmedicalgroup.co.uk/
http://www.barnardcastlesurgery.co.uk/
http://www.bishopgate.co.uk/
http://www.evenwoodsurgery.co.uk/
http://www.gainfordsurgery.co.uk/
http://www.northhousesurgery.org.uk/
http://www.oldforgesurgery.net/
http://www.pinfoldmedical.co.uk/
http://www.stationviewmedicalcentre.co.uk/
https://www.theweardalepractice.nhs.uk/
http://www.willingtonmedicalgroup.org.uk/
http://www.woodviewmedicalpractice.co.uk/
https://www.shottonmedicalpractice.nhs.uk/
http://www.blackhallandpeterleepractice.co.uk/
https://www.byronmedicalpractice.co.uk/
https://www.eastdurhammedicalgroup.co.uk/index.aspx?nomobile=1
http://www.hordengrouppractice.co.uk/
http://www.marlboroughsurgery.co.uk/
http://www.murtonmedicalgroup.nhs.uk/
http://www.newseahammedicalgroup.co.uk/
http://www.silverdalefamilypractice.co.uk/
http://www.southdenemedicalcentre.co.uk/
http://www.intrahealth.co.uk/surgeries/william-brown-medical-centre
http://www.wingatemedicalcentre.co.uk/
http://www.bewickcrescentsurgery.nhs.uk/
https://www.bishopsclosemedicalpractice.co.uk/
http://www.ferryhillandchilton.nhs.uk/
http://www.intrahealth.co.uk/surgeries/hallgarth-surgery
http://www.jubileemedical.co.uk/
http://www.peaseway.com/
http://www.doctorsnhs.co.uk/
http://www.standrewsmedicalpracticespennymoor.nhs.uk/
http://www.intrahealth.co.uk/surgeries/west-cornforth-medical-centre
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The Governing Body is responsible for ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in 
place to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and economically and in accordance with 
the principles of good governance.     
 
The Governing Body is also responsible for the CCG’s budget of over £1 billion ensuring this is 
spent as efficiently as possible to provide high quality healthcare for the local population. 
 
Further details of the governance framework and organisational structure operating within the 
CCG, including the role of the Governing Body and related committees can be found in the 
Governance Statement.  
 
On 1 April 2020, NHS County Durham CCG was established from the former two CCGs of 
North Durham CCG and Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG.  
 
The CCG's Governance Structure is outlined below:   
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Members who have left or joined the CCG Governing Body during 2020/21 
 
There have been some temporary changes to the membership of the Governing Body during 
2020/21 as set out below:  
 

1. From 1 June 2020 Jane Robinson, Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services at 
Durham County Council replaced Denise Elliott, Head of Commissioning at Durham 
County Council as the Health and Wellbeing Board representative on the Governing 
Body. 

 
2. Keith Holyman, Patient Reference Group Chair for the former North Durham Patient 

Reference  Group joined the Governing Body membership as a non-voting, in 
attendance member from 1 April 2020. 
 

3. From 13 July 2020 to 4 December 2020, Gill Findley, Director of Nursing and Quality 
undertook a secondment at Bradford District Care NHS Foundation Trust and was 
replaced on a temporary basis by Jason Cram (in relation to the Director of Nursing 
aspect of the role) and by Anne Greenley (in relation to the Director of Quality aspect of 
her role).  
 
As Interim Director of Nursing, Jason Cram undertook the role of voting member on the 
Governing Body, with Anne Greenley's aspect of the role being a non-voting, in 
attendance member for the period.  
 
Jason Cram's substantive post was as Associate Director of Nursing  at County Durham 
and Darlington CCG and Anne Greenley's substantive post was as Head of 
Commissioning Delivery (Provider Management)/Account Director at North of England 
Commissioning Support.  
 
Following the return of Gill Findley to her substantive post on 4 December 2020, Jason 
Cram left the CCG and his role on Governing Body but Anne Greenley remained within 
a Director of Quality position at the CCG as a non-voting, in attendance member of the 
Governing Body.  
 

4. From 1 February 2021, the CCG's Director of Nursing and Quality, Gill Findley, 
undertook a further secondment to Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust 
and as a result of that, Anne Greenley's secondment to the CCG was made full time to 
enable her to undertake the entire role of Director of Nursing and Quality and be a 
voting member of the Governing Body.  

 
5. In September 2020 Sue Mole, PRG Chair for Easington Locality was replaced by Linda 

Allinson, Interim Chair for Easington PRG as a non-voting, in attendance member of the 
Governing Body.  

 
Membership of the Governing Body and CCG Committees is shown in the table below, along 
with the membership of all other committees and details of attendance at relevant meetings 
throughout the year.   
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April 2020 – March 2021 
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M = Member 
IA= In attendance 
NVM= non-voting member 

Total number of meetings to attend: 6 5 6 3  30 5 7  3 
Name Title         

Andrew Atkin Lay Member M 
6 

M 
5 

M 
6 

M 
3     

Nicola Bailey Chief Officer M 
6 

IA 
4 

M 
6 

IA 
3 

M 
25   M 

0 

Daniel Blagdon Engagement Manager 
      IA 

5   

Mike Brierley Director of Commissioning Strategy and Delivery MH/LD 
 

IA 
4  M 

2  M 
24    

Sarah Burns Joint Head of Integrated Strategic Commissioning IA 
6  M 

5  M 
25 

IA 
1   

Dr James Carlton Medical Director  M 
6    M 

21  M 
7  

Joseph Chandy Director of Commissioning Strategy and Delivery (Primary Care) IA 
5  IA 

6  M 
25    

Jason Cram Interim Director of Nursing (secondment 13/7/20 – 4/12/21) M 
2  M 

2  M 
10  M 

3  

Dr Ian Davidson Medical Director M 
4  IA 

2  M 
20  M 

6  

Denise Elliott Head of Commissioning, Adult and Health Services, Durham 
County Council (until 31.5.20) 

 IA 
0 

       

Gill Findley Director of Nursing and Quality (substantive post – seconded to 
other organisations twice throughout the year) 

M 
2 

 M 
2 

 M 
11 

 M 
2 

 

Stewart Findlay  
 

Chief Officer 
(secondment to CDDFT from 1.6.20) 
 

M 
1  M 

6 
IA 
0 

M 
12   M 

0 

Anne Greenley Account Director NECS/Interim Director of Nursing and Quality M  M  M  M  
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M = Member 
IA= In attendance 
NVM= non-voting member 

 (secondment 13/7/2020 to date) 3 3 18 4 

Barbara Harker Head of Finance  IA 
5       

Amanda Healy Director of Public Health, Durham County Council/ Health and 
Wellbeing Board representative 

IA 
0  M 

0      

Richard Henderson Chief Finance Officer M 
6 

IA 
5 

M 
6 

IA 
3 

M 
28    

Feisal Jassat Lay Member, Patient and Public Involvement M 
6 

M 
5 

M 
6 

M 
3  M 

5  NVM 
0 

Lesley Jeavons Director of Integrated Community Services until 30.6.20     IA 
0    

Michael Laing Director of Integrated Community Services from 1.7.20     IA 
11    

Jill Matthewson Head of Corporate Services     IA 
13 

IA 
0   

Diane Murphy Director of Commissioning and Delivery (Continuing Health Care) IA 
0    M 

8    

Dr Neil O’Brien Clinical Chief Officer/Accountable Officer M 
4 

IA 
0  IA 

1 
M 
18   M 

2 

Jane Robinson Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services IA 
4 

       

Rachel Rooney Head of Engagement      IA 
2 

  

Dr Jonathan Smith Clinical Chair  M 
5 

IA 
0 

IA 
3 

M 
3 

IA 
9 

M 
1 

 M 
3 

Dr Ian Spencer  Secondary Care Clinician M 
6 

  M 
3 

  IA 
3 

 

John Whitehouse Lay Member, Audit and Governance M 
6 

M 
5 
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M = Member 
IA= In attendance 
NVM= non-voting member 

Elected Healthcare Professional Chris Marwick M 
5 

       

GP Clinical Lead representative 
/ Executive GP 

Dilys Waller 
Rushi Mudalagiri 
Winny Jose 
Ellen Osborne 
Jan Panke 
Pat Wright 
Mike Smith 

 
 

 IA 
5 
 

 M 
24 

 

 M 
5 
 
 

 

Quality Improvement NECS Anne Greenley until 1.7.20      IA 
3 

   

NECS representative - Finance Yvonne Warne     IA 
1 

   

NECS representative - 
Performance Jeanette Brockbank     IA 

4 
   

Quality and Development 
Manager  

Kim Lawther  
Rob Milner  
Susan Hepburn (alternating) 

      M 
7 
 

 

Research and Innovation Lead James Larcombe       IA 
5 

 

Patient Reference Group 
Representative 
Chester le Street 

Ian Doyle 
Keith Holyman 

     M 
5 

  

Patient Reference Group 
Representative 
Derwentside  

Marian Morrison 
Nancy Carr 

     M 
5 
 

  

Patient Reference Group 
Representative 
Durham  

Pat Rafferty/Jen Mole 
     M 

5 
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M = Member 
IA= In attendance 
NVM= non-voting member 

Patient Reference Group 
Representation North Durham 
PRG 

Keith Holyman 
 IA 
5 

     
1 

  

Patient Reference Group 
Representative Durham Dales Angela Seward/Brewis Henderson)  IA 

6 
    M 

4 
  

Patient Reference Group 
Representative Easington Sue Mole/Linda Allison  IA 

1 
    M 

3 
  

Patient Reference Group 
Representative Sedgefield Chris Cunnington-Shore / Hilary Stoker  IA 

5 
    M 

5 
  

Public Member  
(Stephen Hann) 

      M 
4 

  

Public Member  
(John Hitchman) 

      M 
5 

  

Public Member  
(Paul James) 

      M 
0 

  

Public Health representative 
DCC 

Gill O’Neill 
Chris Allan 

IA    IA 
18 

 M 
5 

 

Practice Nurse Links 
representative 

       M 
1 

 

Commissioning Team 
representative 

       M 
0 

 

Medicines Optimisation Team 
representative 

       M 
7 

 

Voluntary Community Sector 
representative - AAP 

      M 
2 
 

  

NECS Clinical Quality Team 
representative 

       M 
3 

 

Voluntary Community Sector Kate Burrows      M   
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M = Member 
IA= In attendance 
NVM= non-voting member 

representative - Durham 
Community Action 
representative 

Abby Thompson 4 
 

Finance and Performance 
Manager 

Mark Booth 
Barbara Harker 

 IA 
5 

      

External Audit representative   IA 
4 

      

Public Health representative        M 
 

 

Practice Manager 
representative DDES 

       M 
 

 

Safeguarding Lead 
representative 

I've changed this to just Safeguarding Lead representative because 
I don't know who is from Adults and who is from Children and the 
TOR just say Safeguarding Lead 

      M 
7 
 

 

Safeguarding Children 
representative 

         

Infection Control Team 
representative 

       M 
7 

 

Durham County Council 
Communication representative 

       M 
2 

 

Healthwatch representative Denise Rudkin 
Julia Catherall 

  IA 
3 

  M 
4 

  

NHS England representative David Steel 
Christopher Black 

  IA 
5 

     

HR Lead NECS     IA 
3 

    

Internal Audit representative   IA 
5 

      

Local Counter Fraud Specialist   IA       
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M = Member 
IA= In attendance 
NVM= non-voting member 

1 

Senior Finance Manager NECS   IA 
2 

      

Senior Governance Manager 
NECS (as required) 

  IA 
0 
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Governing Body Member Profiles  
 
Statutory Roles – Voting members 
 
Andrew Atkin, Lay Member on the Governing Body 
Andrew worked in local government for over 25 years.  For the last 14 years he was 
Assistant Chief Executive for Hartlepool Borough Council with a focus on 
performance management, effective governance and leading major change 
programmes in the Council. Andrew is committed to making all services to the public 
the best they can be. 
 
Andrew is our Freedom to Speak Up Guardian in accordance with our CCG’s 
Raising Concerns (formerly whistle-blowing) Policy. 
 
Jason Cram, Interim Director of Nursing (13 July 2020 – 4 December 2020) 
Living, working and studying in the North East Jason, is proud of what this region 
has to offer. Being part of the NHS is a privilege. His 28 year career as a nurse has 
provided fantastic opportunities to him afforded by access to a wide variety of clinical 
and management roles across a number services areas.    
 
Jason joined the organisation as the Interim Director of Nursing from County Durham 
and Darlington Foundation Trust where he worked as an Associate Director of 
Nursing covering a broad portfolio such as safeguarding, patient experience and 
legal services. 
 
Gill Findley, Director of Nursing and Quality 
Gill has held various nursing posts in community, secondary and tertiary care 
settings. Recent posts have included Associate Director of Nursing at County 
Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT) covering safeguarding, risk 
and clinical governance, a spell at the North East Leadership Academy and working 
in North East Ambulance Services NHS Foundation Trust (NEAS) as Accident and 
Emergency (A&E) Business Manager. Gill trained as a Registered General Nurse 
and Registered Sick Children’s Nurse at Great Ormond Street hospital in 
London.  Following a period of time as a research nurse at St James’s hospital in 
Leeds, she moved to the North East and has lived here for over 20 years. 
 
Anne Greenley, Interim Director of Nursing and Quality 
Anne Greenley is currently assigned to the CCG full time covering Gill Findlay as 
Director of Nursing and Quality. She has worked within the CCG over the last 6 
months as the Director of Quality Improvement.   She has held various posts in 
senior leadership positions in commissioning including Assistant Director of system 
development in a PCT. More recent roles include Head of Clinical Quality and latterly 
Provider management in the North of England Commissioning Support Unit (NECS).  
Anne's current substantive post is Account Director and head of provider 
management in NECS. Anne qualified as a Registered General Nurse in 1983. She 
has led on a range of quality initiatives working across systems with primary, 
secondary and social care partners and service users.  
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Richard Henderson, Chief Finance Officer 
Richard is a qualified accountant (ACA) and brings significant financial experience to 
the CCG from a broad range of private and public sector organisations. Richard 
trained as an auditor with Deloitte LLP, working with a variety of organisations, 
before joining the NHS in County Durham.  Richard was previously the Chief 
Finance Officer of North Durham CCG. 
 
Feisal Jassat, Lay Member, Patient and Public Involvement 
Feisal has worked in both the NHS and Local Government for over 30 years. His 
NHS career began in operating theatres where he worked as a paramedic 
supporting both anaesthetists and surgeons in theatre procedures. He moved into 
public health and developed his public health career by working in local government 
pursuing healthy public policy. He moved to work for Durham County Council in 2006 
where he led and managed the Overview and Scrutiny process. Feisal is committed 
to reducing health inequalities and improving the health and health care services for 
local communities. He is passionate about involving people in decisions about their 
health.  
 
Dr Neil O’Brien, Chief Clinical Officer and Accountable Officer. 
Dr O’Brien has been a local GP in Chester-le-Street for over 20 years. He has 
developed a special interest in cardiology and has previously worked as a GP with 
special interest in this area. Neil is a practicing clinician, which strengthens his 
influence with local practices and other clinicians.   
 
Dr O'Brien is also the Clinical Accountable Officer for two other CCGs - NHS 
Sunderland CCG and NHS South Tyneside CCG. Neil is a member of the Integrated 
Care System (ICS) Management Group representing the needs of local populations 
at the North East and North Cumbria ICS. 
 
During the last year Neil has chaired the ICS vaccination board overseeing the roll 
out of the flu vaccination programme and the Covid-19 vaccination programme, Neil 
is also a member of the national clinical advisory group advising the national roll out 
of the Covid-19 vaccination. 
 
Dr Jonathan Smith, Clinical Chair 
Living in the North East all his life and originally from Stockton-on-Tees, Jonathan 
went to Medical School in Newcastle, and qualified in 2003. During his work as a 
hospital doctor and GP trainee he has spent time in most of the hospitals in our 
region. As a GP trainee Jonathan worked in practices in Gateshead, Derwentside, 
Sunderland and Durham Dales. He has been a full time GP Partner in South Hetton 
since 2008 and has been involved in Medical student teaching and research as well 
as clinical work during this time. Within the CCG he is currently the Clinical Chair, 
holding a previous post as Locality Lead for Easington and is currently leading the 
CCG’s GP Career Start training scheme. Outside of work he enjoys spending time 
with his young family and tries to keep fit running and rowing. 
 
Dr Ian Spencer, Secondary Care Clinician 
Ian Spencer was a Consultant Anaesthetist for almost 30 years before retiring in 
2011. Initially his medical career was in the Royal Air Force, where he was promoted 
to Group Captain and was made the RAF Consultant Adviser for his specialty. 
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Following the closure of military hospitals, he became an NHS Consultant in 1995 
and worked thereafter at CDDFT (formerly Dryburn Hospital) in Durham. 
Additionally, he was an Examiner for the Royal College of Anaesthetists for 13 years, 
Chairman of his hospital's Medical Advisory Committee and also its BMA 
Representative. Since retiring he has worked as a Volunteer for the CAB, dealing 
with clients who wish to claim medically-related benefits, walking, grandchildren and 
his new pastime of bowls. In his role in the CCG he hopes his wide experience in 
Secondary Care, as well as risk management, quality and audit, will be of benefit to 
the Board. 
 
John Whitehouse, Lay Member Governance and Audit 
John is a qualified public finance accountant. In a career spanning 37 years he has 
worked in local government, the private sector and the NHS. Within the NHS he held 
a number of senior roles in finance but most significantly in internal audit. He lives in 
Hartlepool with his wife. He has two daughters and a growing number of 
grandchildren with whom he spends a great deal of his time. 
 
In addition to chairing the Audit and Risk Committee, John is our Conflicts of Interest 
Guardian in accordance with our Standards of Business Conduct Policy. 
 
He is also a governing body member at North Cumbria CCG and South Tyneside 
CCG 
 
Other Governing Body Roles – Voting members 
 
Nicola Bailey, Chief Officer 
Prior to joining the CCG Nicola had worked in Local Government at an Executive 
level including as interim Chief Executive for Hartlepool Borough Council and as 
Director of Child and Adult Services. Nicola began her early career by training and 
working as a nurse in the NHS before working in integrated services between the 
NHS and the Local Government in Cheshire. With over 25 years of working in a 
managerial and leadership capacity within health and Local Government she has 
had extensive experience of managing and leading organisations through change, 
developing integrated services and solutions and working at a senior board level. 
Nicola previously held roles as shared Chief Operating Officer between North 
Durham CCG and DDES CCG and Chief Officer in the Southern CCG Collaborative. 
As County Durham CCG was formed Nicola remained with County Durham CCG as 
a Chief Officer.  
 
She is the Cumbria and North East Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) for Learning 
Disabilities Transforming Care (LDTC) Programme and Chair of the Mental Health 
and Learning Disabilities Partnership Board covering Tees Valley and County 
Durham, with Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust.  
 
Nicola is our Senior Information Risk Officer (SIRO). 
 
Dr James Carlton, Medical Director  
James works as a Salaried GP three days a week in Bishop Auckland and 
Evenwood. He Has been a GP in County Durham and Darlington since 2002; prior to 
this he was a Doctor in the Army. He is the Medical Director to DDES CCG 
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supporting clinical input to the CCG on the wide range of responsibilities in the CCG 
remit, with particular emphasis on clinical quality and clinical leadership.  James is a 
GP.  
 
Dr Ian Davidson, Medical Director 
Dr Davidson has been a GP Principal at Lanchester Medical Centre since 2003. He 
currently chairs the Northern Treatment Advisory Group and County Durham and 
Tees Valley Area Prescribing Committee. He is also a member of the Regional 
Medicine Optimisation Committee. 
 
Dr Davidson was awarded a fellowship of the Royal College of General Practitioners 
in 2011.  
 
Dr Davidson is our Caldicott Guardian. 
 
Dr Stewart Findlay, Chief Officer 
Stewart was a GP Partner at Bishopgate Medical Centre in Bishop Auckland from 
1983 and retired from clinical practice in August 2015. He has been involved in 
commissioning health care services for the local population for over 30 years. In 
addition to his current role as Chief Officer he is also Vice Chair of the County 
Durham Health and Wellbeing Board, Co-Chair of the County Durham and 
Darlington Local Accident and Emergency (A&E) Delivery Board and Co-Chair of the 
North East and North Cumbria Urgent and Emergency Care Operational Network.  
 
He is currently focused on integrating health and social care in County Durham and 
has been seconded to CDDFT for 2 days per week. He is also responsible for 
developing Primary Care Networks and their integration with community and mental 
health services. 
 
More recently he has become the Primary Care lead for the Covid-19 Vaccination 
programme across the North East and North Cumbria 
 
Dr Chris Markwick, Elected Health Care Professional 
Chris is a GP working in Middleton-in-Teesdale. He joined the Governing Body of the 
newly established NHS County Durham CCG in April 202 as an elected Health Care 
Professional representing our practice members.  
 
Non-voting attendees 
 
Sarah Burns – Joint Head of Integrated Strategic Commissioning 
Sarah has worked in the public sector for over 20 years, with the past 18 years in the 
NHS. During her time in the NHS, Sarah has worked in a range of roles including 
performance management, intelligence, contract management and commissioning. 
She has led a number of complex service changes programmes. In March 2020 
Sarah took up a role focussed on commissioning across Health and Social Care 
appointed jointly by County Durham CCG and Durham County Council.  Sarah lives 
in Durham with her husband and two young sons. 
 
Mike Brierley, Director of Commissioning Strategy and Delivery 
At a strategic level Mike has worked with both the public and private sector and 
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assignments have ranged from leading a large Informatics service to implementing 
strategic planning frameworks and the development of organisation wide strategic 
plans.  Mike is an experienced senior programme manager and has strong 
leadership skills and stakeholder and relationship management experience; with an 
ability to achieve results in complex environments. He has led numerous large-
scale change and redesign programmes, as well as short high intensity projects. 
Mike holds an MBA and has extensive experience in change management, 
supporting teams and individuals to implement whole system redesign 
programmes. Mike enjoys various sports and lives with his wife and family in 
Escomb outside of Bishop Auckland. 
 
Joseph Chandy, Director of Commissioning Strategy and Delivery 
Joseph joined the NHS in 1996 as a Practice Manager in Easington. He led on GP 
Fundholding within his practice and developed his local GP Out-of-Hours co-
operative from 1998-2004. He was elected Chair of Easington Practice Based 
Commissioning Group from 2005-2012. In 2011 he was appointed Director of 
Practice Based Commissioning for Durham Primary Care Trust (PCT).  In 2012 
Joseph founded Easington South Federation CIC which later evolved to South 
Durham Federation CIC. In 2013 he was appointed as Director of Performance for 
DDES CCG before being appointed as Director of Primary Care in 2014.  Joseph 
also took up the role of Director of Primary Care for North Durham CCG in April 2016 
and since the merger of the CCGs his role transferred to Co Durham CCG. Joseph 
remains Managing Partner in his GP Practice and is also a GP surgery premises 
owner/developer. 
 
Chris Cunnington-Shore, Patient Reference Group (PRG) Chair,  
Sedgefield Locality 
This is Chris's fourth year as the Chair of the Sedgefield Locality Patient Reference 
Group and his third year as an invited member of the Clinical Commissioning 
Group's Governing Body. Having retired from a career in health, he wanted to 
support the local healthcare delivery within the locality and joined his local Practice 
Patient Group eight years ago.  
 
Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Durham County Council 
Amanda has been a Director of Public Health for five years and previously worked 
across Gateshead, South Tyneside and Sunderland as a consultant in public health. 
She has worked on reducing health inequalities using an assets approach for over 
twenty years and plays a key role in understanding both the health challenges and 
the positive aspects of health and wellbeing locally. Amanda works in collaboration 
with a range of partners to develop plans e.g., Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
and has a pivotal part in communicating and co-ordinating key health messages and 
campaigns. 
 
The key aspects of work over her career include teenage pregnancy, long term 
conditions, Health and Social Care integration and she has a long-standing 
commitment to reduce smoking levels.  
 
Amanda took up the role of Director of Public Health in County Durham in May 2017 
and is committed to improving and protecting the health of local residents.  She is 
Chair of the Association of Directors of Public Health for the North East and involved 
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in public health at a local, North East and national level. Amanda is the Senior 
Responsible Officer for the Prevention Board of the Integrated Care System, 
Cumbria and North East.  
 
Keith Holyman, PRG Chair, North Durham 
As a member of Chastleton Patient Participation Group (Forum), joined the North 
Durham Patient Reference Group in August 2012, taking over as its Chair in April 
2016. Keith’s early working life was spent in Engineering, leaving his position as a 
Design Engineer with Timex behind and re-training in 1981/82 to teach Design 
Technology to 11 to 16 year olds in secondary education in Darlington before retiring 
in July 2007. Hope this is of some help Keith Holyman Chair North Durham PRG. 
 
Sue Mole, PRG Chair, Easington Locality 
Sue has been a volunteer with the CCG, and the Primary Care Trust before that, for 
over ten years. Working on various health committees as a lay member helping to 
bring us Saint John's Health Centre.  She has also been the Secretary 
of Marlborough Surgery Patient Practice Group for seven years. Sue also chaired 
the Breathe Easy East Durham working with the British Lung Foundation and has 
been Secretary of Seaham Physically Disabled Club since 1998.  Sue has said that 
her own health problems since childhood and her husband's disability has made her 
passionate about the health care of her community within Easington. 
 
Sue stepped down from her role on the Governing Body in September 2020.  
 
Angela Seward, Durham Dales Patient Reference Group 
Angela joined Durham Dales PRG in February 2015 and became Chair in 2018. She 
is also Chair of Barnard Castle Surgery Patient Participation Group (PPG). Angela is 
in her 3rd and final three-year term as an Elected governor at South Tees Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust. In March 2017 she was elected Lead Governor for the 30 
Governors on the Trust's Governing Body, and again re-elected Lead Governor in 
February 2021.  
 
During her working life, Angela has held a number of posts, the most rewarding of 
which was teaching adults with mental and learning difficulties, demanding a high 
degree of patience, empathy, effective team-working and good communication. 
 
Jane Robinson, Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services – Durham 
County Council 
Jane Robinson qualified as an Occupational Therapist in 1991 and worked during 
the 1990’s in a range of Services in Newcastle, with a focus on Orthopaedic 
rehabilitation and community-based services, establishing Occupational Therapy 
services with GP practices. 
 
In 2000 Jane led the development of intermediate care services in Newcastle.  
Leaving Newcastle in 2003 to join Darlington Borough Council as a Commissioning 
Manager, Jane led services for older and disabled people.  Jane completed an 
Executive MBA at Newcastle Business School in 2006 and became Assistant 
Director for Adults and Health in Darlington. 
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In July 2009 Jane joined South Tyneside as Head of Adult Social Care leading on 
Service Improvement and Quality across a broad range of Services. 
 
In September 2014 Jane was appointed as Head of Commissioning for Durham 
County Council during which time she led on the Commissioning of services for 
Adults, Children and Public Health. 
 
In July 2016 Jane became the Interim Director for Adults and Health subsequently 
being appointed into the post in October 2016, and then appointed to Corporate 
Director for Adults and Health Services in October 2016. 
 
Jane’s areas of responsibility in this role include: 

• Social Care for Adults 
• Public Health 
• Commissioning Health and Social Care Services 

 
 
Disclosure of information to auditors 
 
Each individual who is a member of the Governing Body at the time the Members’ 
Report is approved confirms: 
 

• so far as the member is aware, that there is no relevant audit information of 
which the CCG’s external auditor is unaware; and, 
 

• that the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a 
member in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information 
and to establish that the CCG’s auditor is aware of that information. 
 

Register of Interests 
 
All members of the Governing Body and its committees are required to declare any 
interests that they have in accordance with the CCG’s Standards of Business 
Conduct and Declarations of Interest Policy. They are required to review and update 
their declarations of interest on a bi-monthly basis. The registers of declarations of 
interest are maintained throughout the year and include details of when declarations 
were added or removed. The registers are made available to the public via the 
CCG’s website: 
 
Register of Interests 
 
Where any interests are identified within meetings, these are declared by the 
relevant individual and appropriate action is agreed, including whether the individual 
concerned should withdraw from discussions if appropriate. 
 
In order to further support CCGs to manage conflicts of interest, CCG staff are 
required to complete Conflict of Interest online training on an annual basis. For the 
year 2020/21 the CCG achieved a compliance of 100% of the training be undertaken 
by CCG decision makers.  
 

https://countydurhamccg.nhs.uk/documents/declarations-conflict-interest-and-register-of-decision-and-contracts-awarded/
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Personal data related incidents 
 
There have been no personal data related incidents or data security breaches during 
2020/21 that required disclosure to the Information Commissioner. 
 
Modern Slavery Act  
 
County Durham CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate 
modern slavery and human trafficking. Our Slavery and Human Trafficking 
Statement is published on our website:  
Modern Slavery Statement. 
 
 
 

  

https://countydurhamccg.nhs.uk/our-work/safeguarding/
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s 
Responsibilities  
 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer 
shall be appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England 
has appointed the Clinical Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer of County 
Durham CCG. 
 
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  They include 
responsibilities for:  
 

• the propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable 
Officer is answerable,  

• for keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning 
Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the 
requirements of the Accounts Direction),  

• for safeguarding the CCG’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for 
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities). 

• the relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public 
Money, 

• ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and 
economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service 
Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement 
in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)), 

• ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H 
to 223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

 
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has 
directed each CCG to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the form 
and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are 
prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the CCG and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash 
flows for the financial year. 
 
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to: 
 

• observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the 
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable 
accounting policies on a consistent basis; 

• make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 
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• state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any 
material departures in the accounts; and, 

• prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and 
• confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and 

understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and 
Accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced 
and understandable. 

 
To the best of my knowledge and belief I have properly discharged the 
responsibilities set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), 
Managing Public Money and in my CCG Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 
 
I also confirm that:  
 

• as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s 
auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the 
steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that 
information.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dr Neil O’Brien 
Accountable Officer 
11 June 2021 
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Governance Statement 
 
Governance Statement by Dr Neil O’Brien as the Accountable Officer of NHS County 
Durham Clinical Commissioning Group 
 
Introduction and Context 
 
County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is a body corporate established by 
NHS England on 1 April 2020 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).  
The CCG was formed from the merger of Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 
and North Durham CCG. 
 
The CCG’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of services for persons for 
the purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange 
for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet 
the reasonable requirements of its local population.   
 
As at 1 April 2020, the CCG was not subject to any directions from NHS England issued 
under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006. 
 
Scope of Responsibility 
 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of the CCG’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst 
safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally responsible, in 
accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money. I also 
acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended) and in my CCG Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 
 
I am responsible for ensuring that the CCG is administered prudently and economically and 
that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial propriety and 
regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control within the CCG as set out in this governance statement. 
 
Governance Arrangements and Effectiveness 
 
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the CCG has made appropriate 
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and 
economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as 
are relevant to it. 
 
The CCG has a Constitution based on NHS England’s original model template. The 
Constitution was developed for the establishment of the merged CCG on 1 April 2020 
and has been reviewed against NHS England’s revised Model Template, released in 
2019/20.   

 
Review of the CCG’s Constitution confirms that it complies with the elements of the self-
certification checklist, including: 
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• specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of its functions, 
• specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of the functions of 

the Governing Body, 
• the procedures to be followed by the CCG in making decisions, 
• the arrangements it has made to secure that individuals to whom health services are 

being, or may be, provided pursuant to its commissioning arrangements are involved, 
• arrangements made by the CCG for discharging its duties in respect of registers of 

interests and management of conflicts of interests, 
• arrangements made by the CCG for ensuring that there is transparency about the 

decisions of the group and the manner in which they are made. 
 
Throughout 2020/21 the CCG has operated with a governance structure that reflects 
guidance and best practice.  This is largely consistent with the governance arrangements 
implemented across the two former CCGs as part of previous joint working arrangements.  
All committee meetings were previously held ‘in common’ across the two former CCGs.  
These committees have continued in 2020/21 for the newly merged single CCG. 

 
Terms of reference have been agreed for all committees, which support the organisation in 
the delivery of effective governance. The terms of reference are included as appendices to 
the CCG’s Constitution which can be found on the CCG’s website. 
 
The Members’ Report provides further detail relating to the membership practices, the 
role of the Council of Members, Governing Body and other committees, including 
membership and meeting attendance records. 
 
The governance arrangements in place meet the requirements of best practice guidance 
in respect of risk management and ensure that a strong accountability framework has 
been established. They reflect the public service values of accountability, probity and 
openness and specify as Accountable Officer my responsibility for ensuring that these 
values are met within the CCG. 
 
The Governing Body has an ongoing role in reviewing the CCG’s governance 
arrangements to ensure that these continue to reflect the principles of good governance. 
The Audit and Assurance Committee plays a key role in supporting this by providing 
assurance to the Governing Body around the risk and governance processes within the 
CCG. 
 
During the year 2020/21 the CCG’s Governing Body met formally on six occasions, which 
included two extra-ordinary meetings, with some meetings live streamed on the CCG's 
Facebook page.  An annual business cycle is in place, with agendas structured to deal 
with items for decision, discussion and information covering strategic, performance, quality 
assurance, risk and governance issues. Highlights of the work performed during the year 
by the Governing Body within this business cycle include: 
 

• approval of the new CCG's key documentation; strategies and plans, key roles, 
vision, aims and values, 

• review and approval of CCG budgets for the year, 
• approval of the CCG's Business Continuity Plan, and Emergency Preparedness, 

Resilience and Response (EPRR) annual assurance submission,  
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• review of the CCG's Covid-19 Pandemic financial arrangements, 
• approval of the County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan 

2020/25 
• review of Integrated Care System plans throughout the year, 
• approval of recommendations made by the Remuneration Committee,  
• regular review of progress against plans, financial targets, performance measures, 

clinical quality standards and significant risks to the CCG. 
 
The Governing Body also met on five occasions during 2020/21 as part of a programme 
of development sessions covering a range of areas including; the impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic, Covid-19 recovery plans, Covid-19 vaccination arrangements, strategic and 
financial planning, Integrated Care System (ICS) and Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) 
working, health and social care integration across County Durham, County Durham 
Primary Care Commissioning and Investment Strategy and EU-Exit.   
 
Description of the Established Governing Body Committees 

 
The roles of each of the Governing Body committees are set out broadly below. The 
Governing Body committees have authority under the Scheme of Delegation to establish 
sub committees or sub-groups to enable them to fulfil their role. Each of the Governing Body 
Committees has detailed terms of reference. Each committee is authorised by the 
Governing Body to pursue any activity within their terms of reference which are 
subsequently approved by the CCG’s Council of Members.   
 
Each committee is authorised by the Governing Body to operate within the scheme of 
reservation and delegation. The Governing Body receives the confirmed minutes of its 
Committees to enable it to consider the work and effectiveness of the respective Committee 
and to receive assurance relating to the delivery of their terms of reference.  
 
Executive Committee 
 
The Executive Committee is a committee of the Governing Body that operates as a forum 
for discussion, decision and assurance of the operational management of the CCG in 
support of the Governing Body and its committees in: 
 

• ensuring the continued development of the CCG; 
• overseeing and accounting for delivery of the CCG’s strategic objectives and their 

supporting plans; 
• supporting the development of effective collaboration across the local health 

economy, and 
• managing and monitoring clinical quality, financial performance and activity. 

 
The Governing Body has delegated the day to day operational management of the CCG to 
the Executive Committee. As with all other committees, the Executive Committee has an 
agreed business cycle. It usually meets formally twice per month and has met 30 times 
during 2020/21. Highlights of the work performed during the year by the Executive 
Committee include: 
 

• detailed discussions and decision making around plans to address the impact of the 
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Covid-19 pandemic and subsequent vaccination programmes, 
• detailed review of the County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery 

Plan 2020-25, 
• review of clinical quality indicators and concerns, 
• detailed review of financial performance as well as delivery against NHS 

Constitutional Standards and other performance metrics, 
• quarterly review of CCG risk register and detailed review of the assurance 

framework, 
• regular review of continuing health care (CHC) financial, quality and performance 

highlights, 
• review and approval of CCG policies and procedures, 
• received regular updates relating to ‘Transforming Care for people with Learning 

Disabilities’,  
• monitoring of the development of local Primary Care Networks (PCNs), 
• at several points throughout the year, the Executive Committee considered items 

from the Quality Committee, which had been stood down for some months to release 
CCG clinician time to concentrate on the Covid-19 pandemic.  

 
Quality Committee  
 
The role of the Quality Committee is to examine and make recommendations with regard 
to the quality standards of commissioned services, pathway developments and quality 
indicators of new services.   It supports the delivery of the CCG’s statutory duties to 
reduce inequalities in the health of the local population and to ensure equity of health and 
access to services. It also ensures that innovative ways of working are considered and 
tested by using safe and measured approaches. It approves and ratifies any necessary 
quality related documents prior to submission to the Governing Body. 
 
The primary objectives of the committee are to safeguard patients from harm, develop 
high quality services and foster a culture of safety. 
 
The Quality Committee met seven times, compared to the usual ten meetings per year 
due to the committee being stood down on some months to release CCG clinician 
capacity to manage the Covid-19 pandemic.  Highlights of the work performed by the 
Committee during the year are: 

 
• received regular verbal updates with regard to the position of Covid-19 in the County 

Durham area,  
• review of the clinical quality standards of our health care providers, 
• review of the work of the CCG's Medicines Optimisation team,  
• monthly review of safeguarding adults and safeguarding children concerns,  
• development of a quality improvement scheme to drive up quality in primary care, 
• clinical agreement and assurance with regard to the CCG’s clinical support 

information, 
• clinical agreement of new service specifications and expected clinical outcomes for 

patients, 
• clinical review of the CCG's Primary Care Commissioning and Investment Strategy, 
• regular review and management of clinical quality risks, 
• oversight of the programme of clinical research and implications for practices, 
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• approval of the CCG's arrangements for working with the pharmaceutical industry, 
• quarterly assurance that we meet statutory safeguarding requirements, 
• compliance with the safe management and storage of controlled drugs. 

 
Patient, Public and Carer Engagement (PPCE) Committee 
 
The PPCE Committee was established to provide assurance to the CCG’s Governing 
Body in relation to patient, public and carer engagement. The committee is responsible 
for developing the communications and engagement strategy of the CCG, reviewing, 
challenging and evaluating CCG engagement processes and providing a two-way 
communication channel between the CCG and patients, public and carers. 
 
The Committee meets formally on a bi-monthly basis, meeting four times during the year, 
and its work included: 

 
• review of future engagement strategy development in County Durham, 
• reviewing of the CCG’s engagement work plan and delivery against these objectives, 
• receiving regular quarterly engagement reports and feedback from the Patient 

Reference Group and Voluntary and Community Sector representatives, 
• having a key role in relation to the continued work to review healthcare across 

County Durham, including plans for the use of Shotley Bridge Hospital,  
• considering the Covid-19 system recovery plan – communication and engagement 

plan, 
• considering the County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan 

2020-25, 
• considering the Primary Care Commissioning and Investment Strategy. 

 
Audit and Assurance Committee 
 
The Audit and Assurance Committee supports the Governing Body in its main function of 
ensuring the CCG has made appropriate arrangements to ensure functions are exercised 
effectively, efficiently and economically and that all relevant principles of good governance 
are adhered to. 
 
In line with the requirements of the NHS Audit Committee Handbook and NHS Codes of 
Conduct and Accountability, the committee provides the CCG with an independent and 
objective review of systems of internal control, risk and governance processes and 
arrangements, and compliance with laws, guidance, and regulations governing the NHS. 
The committee is a non-executive committee of the Governing Body and has no executive 
powers. Its work aligns with that of the Quality Committee to seek assurance that robust 
clinical quality systems are in place. 
 
The committee’s business cycle includes review of the CCG’s risk management processes, 
including the Assurance Framework and corporate risk register. The committee considers 
the work of both internal and external audit, together with other assurance functions 
including in particular those relating to North of England Commissioning Support (NECS), 
upon which the CCG is dependent for the majority of commissioning support, to fulfil its role 
of providing assurance to the Governing Body. 
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The Audit and Assurance Committee, as part of its terms of reference, provides regular 
updates to the Governing Body together with an Annual Report of its work. The draft report 
covering the financial year 2020/21 was made available alongside the final Annual Report 
and Accounts in June 2021 to support the final Governance Statement. The principal 
purpose of the report is to provide assurance to the Governing Body and to support the 
Accountable Officer’s review of the internal control arrangements. The Audit and Assurance 
Committee has a business cycle which enables the committee to carry out its key objectives 
necessary to support its assurances regarding the effectiveness of the CCG’s internal 
controls. 
 
The Audit and Assurance Committee met five times during the financial year 2020/21, and 
highlights from the year’s work include:  

 
• agreement of the internal audit plan and review of progress against that plan, 
• agreement of annual counter fraud plan and remedial action plan to improve CCG 

counter fraud arrangements, 
• review of risk management processes, including risk management policy, assurance 

framework and corporate risk register, 
• consideration of cyber security arrangements and potential risks and assurances, 
• review of assurance processes and reports in respect of outsourced functions, 
• review and approval of the Annual Report and Accounts of the CCG under delegated 

authority from the Governing Body. 
 
The requirements of the Audit Committee Handbook and the committee’s terms of reference 
are used to develop the committee’s annual work plan. 
  
Remuneration Committee 

 
The Committee is established to make recommendations to the Governing Body on 
remuneration, fees, pensions, allowances and conditions for senior employees of the CCG 
and people who provide services to the CCG. This includes remuneration for executive 
officers as well as the Chair and independent Lay Members and other Governing Body 
members. The committee also considers any business cases for early retirement and 
redundancy. The committee reviews the performance of the Accountable Officer and other 
senior team members and determines annual salary awards. It is also responsible for 
considering the severance payments of the Accountable Officer and of other senior staff. 
 
The Committee met on three occasions throughout the year and reviewed senior managers’ 
remuneration for the year whilst making recommendations to the Governing Body.  
 
Key areas that the Committee have focussed on during the year include: 

• the secondment of one of the CCG's Chief Officers to County Durham and Darlington 
NHS Foundation Trust to strengthen integrated working, 

• consideration of secondment arrangements for the CCG's Director of Nursing, 
• consideration of senior manager on-call arrangements, 
• consideration of the recommended Very Senior Manager cost of living pay award 

2020/21 



 

 Page 85  
 

• agreement of the remuneration for the Joint Head of Integrated Strategic 
Commissioning, a role which had been developed to progress County Durham 
integration arrangements, 

 
Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
 
The Primary Care Commissioning Committee has been established in accordance with the 
statutory provisions enabling NHS England to delegate to the CCG authority to exercise the 
primary care commissioning functions set out in Schedule 2 in accordance with section 13Z 
of the NHS Act.  The Committee makes collective decisions on the review, planning and 
procurement of primary care services in County Durham under delegated authority from 
NHS England. The role of the Committee is to carry out the functions relating to the 
commissioning of primary medical services under section 83 of the NHS Act, including: 

 
• GMS, PMS and APMS contracts, 
• Newly designed enhanced services, 
• Design of local incentive schemes as an alternative to the Quality Outcomes 

Framework (QOF), 
• Decision making on whether to establish new GP practices in an area; 
• Approving practice mergers, 
• Making decisions on ‘discretionary’ payment (e.g., returner/retainer schemes). 

 
In addition, the Committee carries out the following activities: 
 

• Planning, including needs assessment, primary medical care services in County 
Durham. 

• Undertaking reviews of primary medical care services in County Durham. 
• Co-ordinating a common approach to the commissioning of primary care services 

generally. 
• Managing the budget for commissioning of primary medical care services in County 

Durham. 
 
The terms of reference of the Committee reflect relevant national guidance, with the 
committee made up of a majority of non-conflicted members. The committee met six times 
during 2020/21. 
 
Key areas that the Committee have focussed on during the year include: 
 

• GP preparedness for supporting Covid-19 arrangements, 
• Primary Care and Primary Care Network development updates, 
• merger of Craghead Medical Practice and Gardner Crescent Surgery into The 

Villages Medical Practice, 
• Primary Care Network and GP alignment to care homes, 
• regular review of primary care financial arrangements, primary care quality and 

primary care risks on the Corporate risk register, 
• consideration of the GP practice staff and patient survey results, 
• consideration of an overview and scrutiny review of GP services in County Durham,  
• closure of Brandon Lane Surgery, 
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• consideration of the County Durham Primary Care and Commissioning Strategy 
2020/21 and 2021/22 

 
Joint Committees 
 
Northern CCGs Joint Committee (Cumbria and the North East) 
 
The CCG is an active member of the Northern CCGs Joint Committee. Organisation 
membership includes: 
 

• NHS County Durham CCG 
• NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG 
• NHS North Cumbria CCG 
• NHS Northumberland CCG 
• NHS North Tyneside CCG 
• NHS South Tyneside CCG 
• NHS Sunderland CCG 
• NHS Tees Valley CCG 

 
A work plan for the Joint Committee for 2020/21 was agreed and included: 
 

• proposals for jointly commissioning breast diagnostic services across the ICS area, 
• to jointly commission cardiology and specialised neuro-rehabilitation services within 

NHS England/NHS Improvement’s Specialised Commissioning team for the North 
East and North Cumbria, 

• the development of a consistent policy to be applied across the Integrated Care 
System (ICS) area for Value-Based Clinical Commissioning (VBCC) and Individual 
Funding Requests (IFRs), 

• working with the North Cumbria North East Prescribing Forum, 
• plans for rheumatology services in our Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) (County 

Durham, South Tyneside and Sunderland) as they develop and for any other 
services being developed on an ICP footprint which may have an impact on areas of 
the region. 

 
In 2020/21 the Joint Committee met on three occasions. Highlights of the work performed 
during the year include: 
 

• receipt of updates regarding specialised commissioning areas,  
• approval of the Value Based Clinical Commissioning policies,  
• approval of arrangements for the North Cumbria and North East Prescribing Forum,  
• receipt of the North of England Commissioning Support Annual Review. 

 
The Joint Committee also considered: 
 

• developing an Integrated Care System (ICS) in the North East and North Cumbria, 
• governance items, 
• research and evidence, 
• the use of Avastin for the treatment of wet AMD (age-related macular degeneration), 
• Academic Health Science Network, 
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• Northern Joint Committee Annual Report 2019/20, 
• Northern Treatment Advisory Group (NTAG) Annual Report, 
• How-Fit Programme,      
• Learning Disability inpatient provision across the region, 
• commissioning of the Maternal Medicine Network, 
• North of England Commissioning Support (NECS) Annual Review, Business Plan 

2021/22-2022/23 and Customer Board reports. 
 
Due to Covid-19, it was not possible to hold meetings of the Joint Committee in public. 
However, papers were published on our website together with recordings of more recent 
meetings. 
 
Joint Committee of County Durham CCG, Tees Valley CCG and North Yorkshire CCG. 
 
As a result of CCG mergers and changed emphasis relating to ICP working, this Joint 
Committee was established to replace the previous Joint Committee of the Southern 
Collaborative of CCGs.  The review of the previous Committee and the formation of the new 
Committee aims to provide an effective mechanism for the purpose of making decisions 
normally delegated to the Governing Bodies, where those decisions must be made together 
to ensure a consistent and efficient approach to the commissioning and reconfiguration of 
services that meet the needs of the populations served by the member CCGs. 
 
There was no requirement for either the Southern Collaborative Joint Committee or the Joint 
Committee of County Durham CCG, Tees Valley CCG and North Yorkshire CCG to meet 
during 2020/21. 
 
Other committees on which the CCG is a partner  
 
Health and Wellbeing Board – Durham County Council 
The CCG is a member of the County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board and membership 
is in accordance with the Council’s governance arrangements.  
 
Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board and Durham County Council 
Safeguarding Adults Board 
The CCG is also a statutory member on the County Durham Local Safeguarding Children 
Board, County Durham Safeguarding Adults Board, and the County Durham-wide 
Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults Board.  These bodies are led by our Local Authority 
partners. 
 
Mental Health and Learning Disabilities Partnership Board 
The CCG is a key partner of the Durham, Darlington and Tees Valley NHS Mental Health 
and Learning Disability Partnership. The aim of the partnership is to enable the three local 
CCGs of the Southern Collaborative to work together with our main provider Tees, Esk and 
Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust, to improve the quality of care across the system.  
 
 
UK Corporate Governance Code 
 
Although NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate 
Governance, the CCG takes a robust approach to its application of good governance 
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principles and continuous improvement. Throughout 2020/21, this has included holding 
dedicated development sessions held with the Governing Body as well as regular staff 
meetings that have also incorporated elements of governance to ensure an embedded 
approach.  
 
The guidance contained within the Code enables assessment of Governing Body 
effectiveness against the criteria of: leadership, effectiveness, accountability, remuneration 
and relations with stakeholders. There are numerous arrangements in place within the 
CCG’s assurance processes that capture performance and progress against these, for 
example the Improvement Assessment Framework carried out by NHS England and 
Improvement. 
 
Discharge of Statutory Functions 
 
During establishment of the CCG (and its predecessor CCGs), the arrangements put in 
place to govern the organisation were developed with extensive expert, external legal input 
to ensure compliance with all relevant legislation. That legal advice also informed the 
matters reserved for the Council of Members and Governing Body decisions and scheme of 
delegation. All subsequent changes to the Constitution or Scheme of Delegation have been 
confirmed as appropriate by NHS England. 
 
In light of recommendations of the 2013 Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the 
statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended) and other associated legislation and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that 
the CCG is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory 
functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those 
functions. 
 
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director. 
 
Risk management arrangements and effectiveness  
 
Our comprehensive approach to risk management employs best practice in compliance with 
accepted standards. A Risk Management Policy is in place which takes into account current 
guidance on risk management best practice and incorporates guidance provided by ISO 
31000:2009 (formerly AZ/NZ Standard 4360:2004) and the former National Patient Safety 
Agency in its approach to assessing risk. It is also consistent with NHS England’s Risk 
Management Policy and Process guidance. 
 
The Risk Management Policy sets out the CCG’s approach to the assessment and 
management of clinical and non-clinical risk in fulfilment of our overall objective to 
commission high quality and safe services. This includes clear CCG processes and 
procedures to identify, evaluate and control risks. The Risk Management Policy provides 
guidance for the systematic and effective management of risk to prevent risk, to deter risks 
from arising and to manage current risks. Key elements of the Risk Management Policy 
include: 
 

• a clear statement of Governing Body and individual accountability for delivery of the 
policy, 

• clear principles, aims and objectives of the risk management process, 
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• a clearly defined process for delivering the framework including an implementation 
plan to ensure that the framework and risk management awareness is communicated 
to all staff, 

• details of the approach to be undertaken to assess and report risk, 
• an agreed process for reporting, managing, analysing and learning from adverse 

events supported by a “fair blame” culture and approach, 
• confirmation of the arrangements for reporting risk through the risk register. 

 
Our risk management framework is the systematic application of management policies, 
procedures and practices to the tasks of identifying, monitoring, mitigating and managing 
risk. All CCG risks are, once identified, recorded and managed in the electronic Safeguard 
Incident Risk Management System (SIRMS). Additionally, the CCG assurance framework 
enables the Executive Committee, Audit and Assurance Committee and the Governing 
Body to ensure effective arrangements are in place for the management of risks to principal 
strategic objectives and for the sound governance of the organisation. 
 
Our approach to risk management ensures: 
 

• risk management is a cohesive element of the internal control systems within the 
corporate governance framework supported by robust risk management systems and 
processes, 

• the organisation meets statutory obligations including those relating to health and 
safety and data protection, 

• all stakeholders, staff and partner organisations are assured that the CCG is 
committed to managing risk appropriately, 

• staff can access support and risk management training and development is provided 
across the organisation by the NECS Governance team, 

• updates and guidance reviews are communicated to all staff. 
 
The Risk Management Policy sets out the CCG’s position in respect of risk appetite, being 
the amount of risk that the organisation is prepared to accept, tolerate or be exposed to at 
any point in time. The CCG endeavours to reduce risks to the lowest possible level 
reasonably practicable. Where risks cannot reasonably be avoided, every effort will be 
made to mitigate the remaining risk. 
 
All our policies are assessed utilising a nationally recognised Equality Impact Assessment 
(EIA) tool. This process of analysing a new or existing service, policy or process enables us 
to identify what is the (likely) effect of implementation for different groups within the 
community (including patients, public and staff), allowing risks to be identified and managed 
appropriately. 
 
The CCG has a well-established and transparent incident reporting and management 
system which is embedded across the organisation and used to identify any related risks. 
The CCG openly encourages and supports incident reporting by ensuring that there a 
robust Incident Reporting and Management Policy and Standard Operating Procedure 
(SOP) in place which is reviewed annually and that the appropriate training is provided in a 
timely manner. 
 
  



 

 Page 90  
 

Capacity to Handle Risk  
 
Strong leadership and an effective governance structure are vital elements of the CCG’s 
capacity to handling risk. The governance arrangements as outlined above meet the 
requirements of best practice guidance in respect of risk management and ensure that a 
strong accountability framework has been established and is maintained. 
 
The CCG has clear lines of accountability with defined responsibilities and objectives 
relating to all aspects of risk reporting and management. The Accountable Officer has 
overall responsibility for ensuring the implementation of an effective risk management 
strategy, systems and controls. Each of the directors of the CCG is responsible for the 
management of strategic and operational risk in their specific areas, including ensuring that 
all areas of risk are assessed appropriately, in a timely manner and action taken to 
implement improvements. 
 
The Governing Body has overall responsibility for governance, assurance and management 
of risk and therefore a clear oversight of the CCG’s performance. The Governing Body has 
a duty to assure itself that the CCG has properly identified the risks it faces and that it has 
processes and controls in place to mitigate those risks and the impact they have. The 
Governing Body monitors the key risks relating to the achievement of the strategic 
objectives through the Governing Body Assurance Framework. 
 
The Audit and Assurance Committee is responsible for reviewing and providing assurance 
to the Governing Body on the systems in place across the CCG for governance and risk 
management including internal control. 
 
The Executive Committee, Quality Committee and the Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee are responsible for ensuring that all risks relevant to their respective areas of 
responsibility are identified, addressed and reported to the Governing Body as appropriate.  
 
Identifying, reporting and management of risk is ‘everybody’s’ responsibility within the CCG 
and all staff are familiar with the main risks in their area of activity which ensures the 
submission of timely and accurate information to support the assessment of CCG risks to 
ensure compliance with statutory obligations. 
 
Risk management training is provided to all executive members and risk leads/risk 
coordinators where requested. An annual training requirements discussion is undertaken by 
the CCG risk lead and NECS Senior Governance Officer. Staff at present have a good 
working knowledge and understanding of the risk management framework and the 
risk/incident module of SIRMS and generally refer to the “Risk Management Standard 
Operating Procedure” (SOP) instruction guide for the information they need. However, if 
staff require refresher risk management training or if there is a new starter to the 
organisation, modules of risk management training are provided on request. 
 
Risk Assessment  
 
Whenever risks have been identified it is important to assess and record the risk so that 
appropriate controls are put in place to eliminate the risk or mitigate its effect.  To do this, a 
standard risk matrix is used, as outlined in the CCG Risk Management Policy, the matrix in 
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our risk assessment guidance is based on current national guidance and also adapted to 
suit the CCG risk appetite. 
 
Risk is identified and embedded in the organisation via a number of mechanisms including a 
comprehensive risk register which identifies current and prospective risks to the 
organisation. The risk register incorporates the full comprehensive list of all risks facing the 
organisation at an operational and strategic level, across the five areas of delivery, 
development and transition, finance, performance and quality. 
 
The risk register captures details of the assessment of each risk in terms of consequence 
and likelihood to produce an overall risk score, together with the mitigating action then being 
taken to manage those risks. 
 
Each risk is assigned to a responsible director/senior manager, who maintains overall 
responsibility for the risk, with each risk also aligned to a Governing Body committee based 
on the respective delivery area. Finance, performance, delivery and development risks are 
aligned to the Executive Committee and quality risks aligned to the Quality Committee. 
Risks relating to primary care commissioning are aligned to the Primary Care 
Commissioning Committee. 
 
All risks are reviewed on a monthly basis by risk owners and by the respective aligned 
committee at each committee meeting to ensure that risks are appropriately assessed and 
that where required action is being taken, with the Executive Committee and Governing 
Body performing an overall review of all risks. 
 
All corporate red risks identified as having the potential to have a significant impact on the 
CCG corporate objectives are then escalated and specifically reviewed by Governing Body. 
 
The Audit and Assurance Committee ensures the CCG works within and adheres to robust 
risk reporting and management processes and systems. An annual review and update of 
the CCG’s Risk Management Policy ensures that risk management processes and systems 
are updated in line with current best practice guidance. The process for identifying and 
assessing risks within the CCG has remained unchanged throughout the year (and the 
process is the same as that applied in the predecessor CCGs); see diagram 1 below for the 
CCG risk process. 
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Diagram 1 Identifying and Assessing Risk 
 
  
Current major risks to governance, risk management and internal control 
 
A summary of the significant corporate risks which the CCG has faced during the year and 
which continue to be the most significant risks to the CCG currently is set out below: 
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Risk 
Ref Description Controls Assurances Score 

0010 

Delivery of NHS 
Constitutional 
Standards  
There is a risk of failure 
to achieve NHS 
Constitutional Standards 
for our patients. 
Significant pressures are 
evident in certain 
standards, particularly in 
respect of A&E 4 hour 
waits, cancer waiting 
times, HCAI targets and 
ambulance response 
times. Any failure to 
deliver the standards has 
the potential to adversely 
impact on patient care, 
as well as posing a 
reputational risk for the 
CCG.  

Contract management processes in 
place to manage delivery of 
constitutional standards  
 
Performance is monitored in detail 
by the Executive Committee, as well 
as via contract meetings with 
providers  
 
Same Day Emergency Care 
(SDEC) has been implemented, 
along with the implementation of the 
Clinical Advice Line (CAL) keeping 
the provision in house to provide 
better support and management    
 
Resilience schemes have proved 
successful and are now an 
embedded part of daily practice in 
with supporting patients with long 
term conditions in the community.   
 
A new tele-triage pathway was 
implemented for 2ww for skin 
cancer which has reduced the need 
for patients to be seen 
unnecessarily in clinics.  This is now 
being considered on how this can 
work with other specialities  
 
Action plans in place with providers 
to manage relevant pressure areas 

Performance monitored 
quarterly by Governing Body 
and monthly by Executive 
Committee 
 
Director leads established  
Contract review meetings 
 
Performance reviewed 
monthly by Local A&E Delivery 
Board. 
 
Several initiatives 
implemented and monitored by 
Local A&E Delivery Board 
 
Task and finish group 
established to improve 
ambulance handover delays  
 
Root cause analysis 
undertaken on HCAI and 
cancer breaches  
 
Quarterly review against NHS 
Assurance Framework 
indicators          

16 

0002 

Coronavirus (Covid-19) 
There is a risk around 
the ability of the local 
health system to manage 
increased demand, 
whilst maintaining quality 
and safe services for 
patients. There is 
potential for the 
coronavirus outbreak to 
interrupt the business of 
the CCG, either due to 
increased staff sickness 
or potential disruption to 
supply chain 

The CCGs have tested business 
continuity plans in operation, which 
will be invoked should the situation 
arise  
 
Covid-19 Tactical Command Cell 
(TCC) implemented to manage 
CCG response  
 
Weekly CCG directors call to review 
progress and actions  
 
Working with providers to agree re-
prioritisation of clinical services, 
following NHSE guidance, as 
appropriate 
 
Review and monitoring of quality of 
services continues as normal  
 
Identified lead Director to support 
enquiries and national mandates.                         

Business continuity plans have 
been tested and enacted  
 
 
 
Action log and updates 
provided to daily directors call  
 
 
Action/decisions log in place, 
reported to formal Executive 
Committee meetings  
 
 
 
 
Well established quality review 
arrangements  
 
Provide senior decision maker 
in the process Point of contact 
for major concerns                                  

15 
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The outcomes and assessment of all risks reported and managed across the organisation 
are firmly aligned to good management practice and ensures that effective processes and 
responsibilities for managing the risks are clear within the organisation. All risks are 
managed and aligned actions assessed on an individual risk by risk basis. The CCG is keen 
to ensure that risk management is not seen as an end in itself, but rather a part of an overall 
management approach that supports the organisation in developing achievable 
management action plans. 
 
Potential future risks 
 
The current pressures on the health service as a result of Covid-19 are substantial and well 
documented. The challenge of meeting the current additional demands on services arising 
from Covid-19, whilst continuing to maintain quality and ensure services are safe for all 
patients will continue to be a significant risk in the short term.   
 
In addition to the immediate pressure and demand on the health economy, the longer-term 
recovery of services to meet the demands of less urgent treatment for patients will represent 
a potential risk and challenge through 2021/22.   
 
The proposed legislative changes to Integrated Care Systems (ICS), which have been 
recommended by NHS England and NHS Improvement and form part of the Government 
Whitepaper, would essentially result in CCG functions and responsibilities transferring to the 
ICS from April 2022.  Whilst there are a number of potential benefits and opportunities from 
these proposals, there are clearly significant implications for the CCG and its staff, and a 
potential risk of destabilising existing local place-based arrangements that have developed 
in County Durham.  These potential risks will need to be carefully managed over the coming 
year.        
 
Other Sources of Assurance  
 
Internal Control Framework 
 
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the CCG to 
ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to identify and prioritise the 
risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be 
realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of 
internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than eliminating all 
risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 
The system of internal control was in place in the CCG for the year ended 31 March 2021 
and was based on that in place across the two predecessor CCGs previously.   
 
The CCG’s system of internal control includes the governance framework and 
arrangements highlighted in the governance arrangements and effectiveness section above, 
with the Scheme of Reservation and Delegation, Standing Financial Instructions and 
supporting financial and operational policies. The Audit and Assurance Committee plays a 
key role in reviewing the adequacy of the internal control framework and providing 
assurance to the Governing Body on the effectiveness of internal control arrangements. 
 
This includes, but is not limited to, reviewing the work of internal audit who evaluate the 
effectiveness of the design and operation of the CCG’s system of internal control. 
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Annual audit of conflicts of interest management  
 
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June 
2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest 
management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a 
template audit framework.  
 
An internal audit was undertaken during quarter four of 2020/21. The objective of this audit 
is to review the arrangements that the CCGs have in place to manage conflicts of interest 
and gifts and hospitality, including compliance with NHS England's statutory guidance on 
managing conflicts of interest for CCGs.  
 
The scope of the audit included: 
 

• governance arrangements, including that: policies/procedures comply with legal 
requirements and statutory guidance; appropriate number of Lay Members and a 
conflict of interest guardian is/are appointed; and required training has been 
provided;  

 
• declarations of interests and gifts and hospitality, including that: declarations are 

being made and recorded in accordance with legal requirements and statutory 
guidance;  

 
• registers of interests, gifts and hospitality and procurement decisions, including that: 

each of these registers are maintained and published in accordance with legal 
requirements and statutory guidance; 

 
• decision making processes and contract monitoring, including that: there are 

mechanisms for the management of conflicts within meetings, when making 
procurement decisions and in relation to contract management; and 

 
• reporting concerns and identifying and managing breaches/ non-compliance, 

including that: processes are in place for managing breaches and for the publications 
of anonymised details of breaches on the CCGs' websites.  

 
The CCG received substantial assurance with no recommendations.  
 
Data Quality  
 
The NECS Data Management service has processes and systems in place to assess the 
quality and completeness of commissioning data managed on behalf of the CCG. Data is 
checked at all stages of processing through CSU systems and finally on publication of 
reports/analysis. Data is compared against historic and planned levels to provide assurance 
on completeness as well as with peer organisations in the form of benchmarking analysis. 
 
Processes are in place to raise any data quality issues with providers on a monthly basis, 
feedback from these challenges is utilised to alter any processing routines as required. The 
CCG utilises contract levers where necessary to ensure high quality data is captured at 
source and to minimise any updating of data once received by commissioners. 
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Reconciliation accounts for each contract highlight any discrepancies between provider and 
commissioner data that are then investigated and resolved. 
 
Significant validation steps are in place in all routine data processing tasks to ensure poor 
quality data is not made available for analysis and then subsequently used as the basis for 
commissioning decisions. 
 
The CCG relies on NECS to process other types of personal data, for example Human 
Resources or some patient data in order to fulfil its functions. NECS complies with the data 
quality requirements of the Data Security and Protection Toolkit and has procedures in 
place to ensure the quality of the data. 
 
Data Security and Protection / Information Governance 
 
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which 
the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal 
identifiable information.  The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by a 
Data Security and Protection Toolkit and the annual submission process provides 
assurances to the CCG, other organisations and to individuals that personal information is 
dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. 
 
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems 
and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information.  We have 
established an information governance management framework comprising an approved 
strategy, a suite of approved policies and procedures, a programme of mandatory training, 
an Information Governance Handbook for staff, information risk management and incident 
management.  We have also adopted and implemented NHS Digital’s (HSCIC) Guide to the 
Notification of Data Security and Protection Incidents. 
 
We have in place an incident reporting and management framework for the reporting of data 
security and protection incidents to the Information Commissioner. This framework outlines 
the scope of responsibilities and details the reporting procedures to be used in the event of 
a data security breach. There have been no Information Governance ‘reportable’ breaches 
during 2020/21. 
 
The Information Governance agenda is heard at the Executive Committee which also 
oversees the day-to-day management of Information Governance systems and processes. 
The CCG has also appointed a Caldicott Guardian (Dr Ian Davison, Medical Director) and 
Senior Information Risk Owner (Nicola Bailey, Chief Officer). 

 
 
The Data Security and Protection Toolkit has been provided by NHS Digital to support 
performance monitoring of progress on Information Governance in the NHS. The CCG 
intends to publish the Data Security and Protection Toolkit Version for 2020/21 by 30 June 
2021 and has answered all mandatory requirements. 
 
The CCG complies with its statutory duty to respond to requests for information. During the 
year, the CCG received 162 requests under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and 7 
subject access requests under the Data Protection Act 2018. All the requests were 
responded to within the statutory timescales. 
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Business Critical Models 
 
The CCG is aware of the quality assurance requirements in respect of business critical 
models contained within the recommendations in the Macpherson report and it is 
considered that appropriate arrangements are in place to provide sufficient quality 
assurance. 
 
Third Party Assurances   
 
The majority of commissioning support services are procured from our CSU, NECS, 
including risk and governance expertise, together with the management of the majority of 
internal control systems and processes, for example in relation to finance systems and 
controls. 
 
A service auditor reporting process has continued to provide assurance over the 
effectiveness of controls and processes within NECS.  A report has been received to cover 
the year to 31 March 2021. The detailed findings of the report and in particular those control 
objectives which were not achieved for the full period have been reviewed and are not 
considered to significantly impact on the CCG. Additional controls are in place within the 
CCG in terms of the review of transactions processed by NECS which mitigate any risk 
arising from deficiencies in these control objectives.  
 
The CCG also has additional systems of control and review mechanisms internally over the 
work performed by the CSU which provide additional assurance that there have been no 
significant internal control issues which have impacted on the CCG. 
 
In addition to the majority of commissioning support services which are provided by the 
CSU, the CCG has also outsourced certain other systems and services to third party 
providers. The national Integrated Single Financial Environment (ISFE) and procurement 
systems are provided by NHS Shared Business Services and the national Electronic Staff 
Records (ESR) system is operated by NHS Business Services Authority. There are also 
various other outsourced services and systems relating to primary care services, including 
the Exeter System provided by NHS Digital and systems operated by Capita which provides 
the services of all primary care support teams. 
 
Assurance over the relevant control environments in place for these systems has been 
gained from independent auditor reports for the year ended 31 March 2021, in accordance 
with ISAE 3000 or 3402 (International Standard on Assurance Engagements). No significant 
control deficiencies have been identified from these auditor reports which cause a concern 
for the CCG. 
 
Payroll services are also received from a third party provider in Northumbria Healthcare 
NHS Foundation Trust. The CCG’s own system of internal controls provides assurance over 
the operation of payroll, this includes the Scheme of Reservation and Delegation and prime 
financial policies which govern and set levels of authorisation, together with subsequent 
monthly payroll reviews. Again, no significant issues have been identified from the review of 
payroll information during the year, with substantial assurance being provided from internal 
audit review of the payroll services. 
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Control Issues 
 
No significant control issues have been identified during the year requiring disclosure within 
this governance statement. 
 
Review of Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness of the use of Resources 
 
The CCG has well developed systems and processes in place for managing its resources. 
Robust financial governance arrangements have been maintained throughout the year, 
including the Standing Orders, Scheme of Reservation and Delegation, and Prime Financial 
Policies incorporated within the CCG Constitution, supplemented by the CCG’s Standing 
Financial Instructions and detailed financial limits, all of which provide the framework 
through which the CCG discharges its business. This is supported by comprehensive and 
well established systems of internal control which help to govern the effective use of 
resources. 
  
Annual budgets were set by the CCG prior to the start of the financial year and these have 
been revised during the year in light of temporary financial arrangements implemented by 
NHS England and Improvement. 
 
The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic and the revised NHS financial regime have 
significantly altered the usual planning and investment prioritisation process during the year. 
The CCG reviewed financial governance arrangements at the start of the year in light of the 
revised financial regime and related guidance, to ensure arrangements were fit for purpose 
to efficiently and effectively manage the response to the pandemic, with no changes 
required. The CCG has implemented appropriate arrangements for managing additional 
Covid-19 costs and has followed relevant NHS England and improvement guidance in 
managing the response to the pandemic, including relevant Hospital Discharge 
arrangements.  
 
The CCG was selected to be part of a national audit of Covid-19 costs commissioned by 
NHS England and Improvement.  As part of this, costs for the first two months of the year 
were reviewed with no significant issues identified. 
 
The Executive Committee plays a key role in managing performance and delivery against 
financial plans, ensuring appropriate action is taken to address any issues as required and 
providing assurance to the Governing Body that resources are being utilised in line with 
plans, and that expected outcomes are being delivered. In addition, reports are also 
reviewed at each Governing Body meeting, showing both performance against budgets and 
financial targets, as well as progress against the CCG’s delivery plan and performance 
against health outcome indicators. 
 
The Audit and Assurance Committee also plays a key role in providing assurance to the 
Governing Body in relation to financial governance arrangements and the effectiveness of 
systems and processes of internal control. A significant component of this assurance is the 
work of the CCG’s internal and external auditors. 
 
Specifically, as part of their annual audit, the CCG’s external auditors are required to satisfy 
themselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
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and effectiveness in the use of its resources. They do this by examining documentary 
evidence and through discussions with senior managers. Their audit work is made available 
to and reviewed by the Audit and Assurance Committee. Although the work of the external 
auditors does not form part of the CCG’s internal control environment, their conclusions in 
respect of this use of resources work provides further assurance that the processes 
implemented by the CCG are robust. 
 
The CCG’s internal control framework comprises several elements including the CCG 
Constitution, assurance framework, risk management, incident management, financial 
management, policy management, audit and governance assurance reporting, which work 
in harmony to complement each other. Controls and assurances are monitored through the 
Governing Body and committee structure as described above. 
 
As part of the CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF) developed by NHS 
England, the quality of the CCG’s leadership was assessed. The CCG IAF was incorporated 
into the NHS Oversight Framework 2019/20.  The final assessment of CCG performance for 
2019/20 was published in November 2020 with both predecessor CCGs being rated as 
‘good’ overall.  Further information about the assessment and the latest available 
information can be found at https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/regulation/ccg-
assess/iaf/ 
 
Due to the impact of Covid-19 there are no further updates available for 2020/21. 
 
Delegation of Functions  
 
Delegation arrangements exist through the CCG's governance process and committee 
structures, as set out in the role and remit of each committee. The systems and processes 
to ensure resources are used economically, efficiently and effectively, together with the 
related assurance mechanisms highlighted above, apply throughout the organisation, 
covering all relevant committees and delegations.  
 
This includes the governing body which oversees the work of all committees, with formal 
reporting arrangements, together with the other assurance processes summarised above.  
 
Specifically, in respect of primary care delegated arrangements with effect from 1 April 
2020, the Primary Care Commissioning Committee was established to carry out the relevant 
functions relating to that delegation, with relevant reporting and assurance arrangements 
summarised above.  This follows on from the primary care delegated arrangements within 
the two predecessor CCGs from 1 April 2015. 
 
Counter Fraud Arrangements 
 
The CCG has adhered to NHS Counter Fraud Authority (NHS CFA) Standards for 
Commissioners: Fraud, Bribery and Corruption, and now the replacement NHS CFA 
requirements which were released in January 2021.  A comprehensive counter fraud 
service, including an accredited Counter Fraud Specialist is commissioned through our 
internal auditors to undertake counter fraud work proportionate to identified risks. 
 
Our Counter Fraud activity plays a key part in deterring risks to the organisation’s financial 
viability and probity. An annual Counter Fraud Plan is agreed by the Audit and Assurance 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/regulation/ccg-assess/iaf/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/regulation/ccg-assess/iaf/
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Committee which focuses on the deterrence, prevention, detection and investigation of 
fraud.  Progress against this plan is regularly monitored by the Audit and Assurance 
Committee with an annual counter fraud report also received. 
 
The Audit and Assurance Committee also receives a report against the Standards for 
Commissioners at least annually and considers the relevant actions being implemented to 
address any identified deficiencies. There is executive support and direction for a 
proportionate work plan to address identified risks. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer is proactively responsible for tackling fraud, bribery and 
corruption.  Counter-fraud requirements and regulations have been specifically discussed 
with both the Governing Body and wider CCG employees during the year to cement their 
knowledge and understanding of counter-fraud arrangements, with all employees also 
required to complete e-learning training. In addition, notifications and briefings regarding 
actual and potential fraud are circulated to key staff to ensure counter-fraud vigilance is 
maintained and enable payment systems to be reviewed for emerging risks. 
 
Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
 
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the CCG, the Head 
of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the CCG’s system of risk management, governance and internal control.  
The Head of Internal Audit concluded that:   
 
Final Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
 
The purpose of my annual Head of Internal Audit Opinion is to contribute to the assurances 
available to the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which underpins the 
organisation’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the system of internal control. This 
Opinion will in turn assist in the completion of the Annual Governance Statement. 
 
My opinion is set out as follows: 
 
• Overall opinion; 
• Basis of the opinion; 

 
Overall Opinion 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Basis of the Opinion  
 
The basis for forming my opinion is as follows: 
 

1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance 
Framework and supporting processes for governance and the management of risk; 

 

From my review of your systems of internal control, I am providing substantial 
assurance that there is a sound system of internal control, governance and risk 
management designed to meet the organisation’s objectives and that controls are being 
consistently applied.   
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2. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from audit assignments, 
contained within risk-based plans that have been reported throughout the year. This 
assessment has taken account of the relative materiality of these areas and 
management’s progress in respect of addressing control weaknesses; 

 
3. Brought forward Internal Audit assurances; 

 
4. An assessment of the organisation’s response to Internal Audit recommendations; 

and 
 

5. Consideration of significant factors outside the work of Internal Audit. 
 

In providing this opinion, it is important to recognise the additional limitations on our work 
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. These limitations include access to CCG personnel 
and the timely supply of information that would be available to us under normal 
circumstances. However, as your Head of Internal Audit I am satisfied that we have 
sufficient evidence, to provide the CCG with a robust Head of Internal Audit Opinion.    
 
I would like to take this opportunity to thank the staff at NHS County Durham CCG for the 
co-operation and assistance provided to my team during the year.  
 
Carl Best 
Director of Internal Audit 
AuditOne 
 
2nd June 2021 

 
Audit area Assurance Level 

Core Assurance  
CD CCG 2020-21/01: Governance Structures and Risk Management 
Arrangements [Final] 

Substantial 

CD CCG 2020-21/02: Conflicts of Interest [Final] Substantial 
CD CCG 2020-21/08: Data Security and Protection Toolkit [Interim] Unsatisfactory/ 

Limited 
CD CCG 2020-21/05: Primary Medical Care Commissioning [Final] Substantial 
CICP 2020-21/05: Implementing Phase 3 of the NHS Response to Covid-
19 [Final] 
 
[Audit carried out jointly across the Central ICP, consisting of Sunderland 
CCG, South Tyneside CCG and County Durham CCG] 

Substantial 

CD CCG 2020-21/07: Key Financial Controls [Final] Substantial 
CD CCG 2020-21/08: Continuing Healthcare – The Hospital Discharge 
Scheme [Final] 
 
[Audit carried out jointly across County Durham CCG and Tees Valley 
CCG] 

Substantial 

CD CCG 2020-21/10: Covid-19 Commissioning and Costing [Final] Substantial 
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Review of the Effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management and Internal Control 
 
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of 
the internal auditors and the executive managers and clinical leads within the CCG who 
have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I 
have drawn on performance information available to me. My review is also informed by 
comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter and other reports. I have 
been advised on the implications of the result of this review by the Governing Body, 
Executive Committee, the Audit and Assurance Committee, and a plan to address 
weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place. 
 
As part of the CCG’s risk management processes, an Assurance Framework has been in 
place throughout the year which provides a simple yet comprehensive method for the 
effective and focused management of the principal risks and assurances to meeting and 
delivering the CCG’s objectives. The Assurance Framework reflects the principal risks 
associated with the delivery of the CCG's strategic objectives. This includes risks around 
the delivery of the CCG's strategic aims, financial stability including QIPP delivery, and 
development of effective corporate governance and risk management. 
 
The Assurance Framework details with the key controls and assurances in place against 
each risk, together with any relevant action being taken to address gaps in controls and 
assurances where required. This is supplemented by detailed risk registers that record the 
full comprehensive list of all risks facing the CCG at an operational and strategic level 
across the five areas of delivery, development and transition, finance, performance and 
quality. 
 
The Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of 
controls that manage risks to the CCG achieving its principal objectives have been 
reviewed. 
 
As highlighted above, the Audit and Assurance Committee plays a key role in providing 
assurance to the Governing Body on the effectiveness of the systems of internal control and 
governance arrangements operated by the CCG. As part of this the work of both internal 
and external audit and other sources of assurance are considered. No significant internal 
control issues have been identified from the work of the Audit and Assurance Committee. 
 
Similarly, no significant governance or internal control issues have been identified through 
Governing Body, Executive Committee or any other assurance process which impact upon 
my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control. 
 
As described within the third party assurances section above, external assurances have 
been obtained over all significant outsourced services, including commissioning support 
services from NECS. No significant issues have been identified which impact upon the CCG 
or this review. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit opinion is set out above. This contributes to the assurances 
available to the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which underpin the Governing 
Body’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the CCG’s system of internal control. The 
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Head of Internal Audit opinion provides substantial assurance that there is a generally 
sound system of internal control. 
 
Conclusion 
 
No significant internal control issues have been identified.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dr Neil O’Brien 
Accountable Officer 
11 June 2021 
 
 
 

 
 
  



 

 Page 104  
 

Remuneration and Staff Report  
 
Remuneration report  
 
Remuneration Committee 
 
The Remuneration Committee was established to advise the Governing Body about pay, 
other benefits and terms of employment for senior employees of the CCG and people who 
provide services to the CCG.  This includes any potential severance payments for relevant 
senior staff. 
 
The Committee is established in accordance with the CCG’s constitution, standing orders 
and scheme of delegation. The Committee was made up as follows for the year ended      
31 March 2021: 
 
Andrew Atkin Lay Member and Chair of Remuneration Committee 
Feisal Jassat Lay Member, Patient and Public Involvement 
Dr Jonathan Smith CCG Chair  
Ian Spencer Secondary Care Clinician  
 
The terms of reference of the Remuneration and Terms of Service Committees of the two 
predecessor CCGs were reviewed and amended as a result of the establishment of the new 
County Durham CCG on 1 April 2020.  The membership of the Remuneration Committee 
has remained unchanged since then. 
 
The Remuneration Committee provides recommendations to the Governing Body on pay 
and remuneration for senior employees of the CCG and people who provide services to the 
CCG.   
 
The Accountable Officer, Chief Officers, Chief Financial Officer and HR advisor have 
provided advice and guidance to the Committee in relation to pay rates and terms and 
conditions for relevant staff, although they were specifically excluded from any discussions 
in relation to their own pay rates and terms and conditions.  
 
Policy on the remuneration of senior managers 
 
The remuneration for senior managers for current and future financial years is determined in 
accordance with relevant guidance, best practice and national policy.   
 
Continuation of employment for all senior managers is subject to satisfactory performance. 
Performance in post and progress in achieving set objectives is reviewed annually. There 
were no individual performance review payments made to any senior managers during the 
year and there are no plans to make such payments in future years. This is in accordance 
with standard NHS terms and conditions of service and guidance issued by the Department 
of Health and Social Care.  
 
Contracts of employment in relation to the majority of senior managers employed by the 
CCG are permanent in nature and subject to between three and six months’ notice of 
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termination by either party.  The Elected Health Care Professionals are usually employed on 
a fixed term of three years.  From 1 April 2020, lay members and the Secondary Care 
Doctor have been appointed for a period of three years for County Durham CCG. 
 
Termination payments are limited to those laid down in statute and those provided for within 
NHS terms and conditions of service and under the NHS Pension Scheme Regulations for 
those who are members of the scheme.  No awards have been made during the year to 
past senior managers. 
 
Remuneration of Senior Managers 
 
For the purpose of this remuneration report, the CCG has considered the definition of 
‘senior managers’ within the 2020/21 CCG Annual Reporting Guidance and the Department 
of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual and considers that the regular 
attendees of the Governing Body represent the senior managers of the CCG.  
 
Details of the relevant salaries and allowances for all of the senior managers of the CCG for 
2020/21 can be found in the table below.  As this was the first year of the CCG, there are no 
comparative figures for 2019/20.  Relevant figures for the two predecessor CCGs can be 
found in the 2019/20 Annual Report and Accounts for the respective CCGs. 
 
The following disclosures within the Remuneration and Staff Report are subject to audit by 
the CCG’s external auditors: 

• the table of salaries and allowances of senior officers on page 106 and related 
narrative notes on pages 107 to 108; 

• the table of pension benefits of senior managers on page 109; 

• the analysis of staff numbers and costs on page 111; and 

• the table of pay multiples and related narrative notes on page 108. 
 
 
Important Note regarding ‘All Pension Related Benefits’ stated in the tables below: 
 
Please note the amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement 
expected over twenty years. This value has been determined in accordance with the 
HMRC method of calculation, in accordance with guidance from NHS England. Employee 
pension contributions made in 2020/21 have been deducted from the total. Pension related 
benefits shown in the table above relate to the NHS pension scheme members only.  The 
figure shown is not intended to reflect annual remuneration received by the 
individual during the financial year. 
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NHS County Durham CCG senior officers’ salaries and allowances - 2020/21:  
Name  Title 2020/21 

   
Salary 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

Performance 
pay and 

bonuses 

Long-term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

All Pension 
related 

benefits 
Total 

  (Bands of (Rounded to  (Bands of (Bands of (Bands of (Bands of 
  £5,000) the nearest £5,000) £5,000) £2,500) £5,000) 
    £100) 

 
     

  £000 £ £000 £000 £000 £000 
Dr N O’Brien Accountable Officer 50 – 55 1,700 - - 12.5 - 15 65 - 70 
N Bailey Chief Officer 150 – 155 7,200 - - 2.5 – 5 160 – 165 
S Findlay Chief Officer  160 – 165 5,900 - - - 165 – 170 
Dr J Carlton Medical Director 80 – 85 7,000 - - 32.5 – 35 120 – 125 
Dr I Davidson Medical Director 45 – 50 - - - - 45 - 50 
R Henderson Chief Finance Officer 105 – 110 - - - 27.5 – 30 135 – 140 

G Findley 
Director of Nursing and Quality (until 13 July 2020, 
then from 4 December 2020 to 31 January 2021) 40 – 45 - - - 20 - 22.5 65 – 70 

J Cram 
Director of Nursing (from 13 July 2020 to 4 
December 2020) 15 - 20 - - - - 15 - 20 

A Greenley 
Director of Nursing and Quality (from 1 February 
2021) 15 - 20 - - - 5 – 7.5 20 - 25 

M Brierley Director of Commissioning, Strategy and Delivery  50 – 55 - - - - 50 - 55 
J Chandy Director of Commissioning, Strategy and Delivery  120 – 125 - - - 57.5 - 60 180 – 185 
S Burns Joint Head of Integrated Strategic Commissioning  55 - 60 2,700 - - 45 – 47.5 105 – 110 
        
Dr J Smith Chair 60 – 65 - - - 25 – 27.5 85 - 90 
F Jassat Lay Member, Patient and Public Involvement 15 – 20 - - - - 15 – 20 
J Whitehouse Lay Member, Governance and Audit 15 – 20 - - - - 15 – 20 
A Atkin Lay Member 15 – 20 - - - - 15 – 20 
Dr I Spencer Secondary Care Clinician 10 – 15 - - - - 10 – 15 
Dr C Markwick Elected Health Care Professional (GP) 5 – 10 - - - - 5 – 10 
        

 
The values in the table above show the remuneration for J Cram for the period 1 October to 4 December 2020.  For the period 
13 July to 30 September this was paid by County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust as part of the block contract 
arrangements.  Total remuneration for the period of this role is £35-£40k. 
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The taxable benefits included above all relate to car allowance and lease car benefits.   
 
No performance related benefits have been agreed for any senior officers. 
 
All pension related benefits disclosed in this report relate to ‘officer employment’ only, i.e. 
for any general practitioners, the figures exclude any benefits derived from practitioner 
employment.   
 
All senior officer remuneration is processed through the CCG’s payroll. 
 
Shared Management Arrangements 
 
Throughout 2020/21, the Accountable Officer has operated in a shared role across the 
following three CCGs; County Durham CCG, South Tyneside CCG and Sunderland CCG.  
The costs of this role are split equally across the three CCGs. 
 
In addition, the following senior officer operated in a shared management role across both 
County Durham CCG and Tees Valley CCG throughout 2020/21, with costs split equally 
across the two CCGs: 
M Brierley   Director of Commissioning, Strategy and Delivery 
 
The following senior officer operated in a shared management role across both County 
Durham CCG and Durham County Council throughout 2020/21, with costs split equally 
across the two organisations: 
S Burns   Joint Head of Integrated Strategic Commissioning 
 
The remuneration shown above for these three posts represents only the share that 
relates to the County Durham CCG role.  The total remuneration earned by each individual 
for all work across the relevant CCGs in 2020/21 is shown below: 
 
Name  Title 2020/21 

   Salary 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

Total 

  (Bands of (Rounded to  (Bands of 
  £5,000) the nearest £5,000) 
    £100)   
  £000 £ £000 
Dr N O’Brien Accountable Officer 160 - 165 5,100 165 - 170 

M Brierley 
Director of Commissioning, 
Strategy and Delivery 105 – 110 - 105 – 110 

S Burns 
Joint Head of Integrated 
Strategic Commissioning 115 – 120 5,400 120 - 125 

 
The level of total annual remuneration for the Accountable Officer reflects that the role is 
being performed across multiple CCGs, together with the clinical nature of the role, and 
has been benchmarked against other Clinical Chief Officer roles and equivalent general 
practice earnings.   
 
The remuneration of the two Chief Officer roles reflects historical arrangements in place 
within the former CCGs, with relevant pay protection arrangements applying based on 
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former roles.  The Chief Officer remuneration has previously been benchmarked against 
equivalent roles during appointment of the posts with the Chief Officer salary initially 
agreed within the £145-150k salary band. 
 
The following senior officers are not employed by the CCG and receive no remuneration 
from the CCG for their role as Governing Body members: 
 
A Healy   Director of Public Health 
D Elliott / J Robinson Durham County Council Representative 
C Cunnington-Shore Patient Reference Group Chair (Sedgefield) 
K Holyman   Patient Reference Group Chair (North Durham) 
S Mole / L Allinson  Patient Reference Group Chair (Easington) 
A Seward   Patient Reference Group Chair (Durham Dales) 
 
Pay multiples 
 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the 
highest-paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 
organisation's workforce. 
 
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in the CCG in the financial year 
2020/21 was £165-170k.  This was 3.76 times the median remuneration of the workforce, 
which was £44,503. 
 
In 2020/21, no employees received remuneration in excess of that of the highest paid 
director.  Full time equivalent banded remuneration for employees ranged from £15-20k up 
to £165-170k. 
 
For the purposes of identifying the highest paid director for this disclosure, it is the cost to 
the CCG of an individual that is considered, rather than the total of that individual’s 
remuneration.   
 
The banded remuneration of £15-20k relates to the CCG’s lay members who receive an 
annual remuneration for a time-commitment below the CCG’s normal contractual 
hours.  As this represents the annual remuneration for the full required time-commitment, 
this is considered to represent the full time equivalent remuneration for that role although it 
relates to a time-commitment significantly below the CCG’s normal contractual hours. 
 
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and 
benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments.  It does not include employer pension 
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.  Accordingly the total 
remuneration figures reflected here exclude the pension related benefits shown in the 
salaries and allowances table on page 106. 
 
  2020/21 
Band of Highest Paid Director's Total Remuneration (£'000) 165 – 170 
Median Total Remuneration (£) 44,503 
Ratio 3.76 

Note: as 2020/21 is the first year of County Durham CCG there are no comparative figures for 2019/20 available.
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NHS County Durham CCG senior officers’ pension benefits 2020/21: 
Name and Title Real 

increase / 
(reduction) 
in pension 

at age 60 
(bands of 

£2,500) 

 Real increase / 
(reduction) in 

Pension Lump 
Sum at aged 60 

(bands of 
£2,500)  

Total accrued 
pension at age 
60 at 31 March 
2021 (bands of 

£5,000) 

Lump Sum at 
aged 60 related 

to accrued 
pension at 31 

March 2021 
(bands of 

£5,000) 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value at  1 
April 2020 

Real 
increase 

in cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer 
Value at 

31 March 
2021 

Employer’s 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Dr N O’Brien 
Clinical Chief Officer 2.5 – 5 - 20 – 25 15 – 20 257 18 303 - 

N Bailey 
Chief Officer 0 – 2.5 - 95 – 100 - 1,410 30 1,486 - 

Dr I Davidson 
Medical Director - - - - - - - 1 

Dr J Carlton 
Medical Director 0 – 2.5 - 10 – 15 0 – 5 117 18 148 - 

R Henderson 
Chief Finance Officer 0 – 2.5 - 20 – 25 - 198 11 227 - 

G Findley  
Director of Nursing and Quality 0 – 2.5 0 – 2.5 55 – 60 80 – 85 791 20 882 - 

A Greenley 
Director of Nursing and Quality 0 – 2.5 0 – 2.5 35 - 40 110 – 115 813 10 905 - 

M Brierley 
Director of Commissioning, Strategy and 
Delivery 0 – 2.5 - 25 – 30 50 – 55 503 - 524 - 

J Chandy 
Director of Commissioning, Strategy and 
Delivery 

 
2.5 - 5 2.5 - 5 25 - 30 75 – 80 489 50 565 - 

S Burns 
Joint Head of Integrated Strategic 
Commissioning 2.5 – 5 7.5 – 10 25 – 30 50 – 55 330 66 417 - 

Dr J Smith 
Chair 0 – 2.5 0 – 2.5 15 - 20 35 - 40 235 15 264 - 
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The table above includes only those senior managers who are members of the NHS 
pension scheme where the CCG made contributions to the scheme as an employer 
during the year. 
 
The figures included above reflect total pension benefits accrued within the NHS 
Pension Scheme, not just those accrued from employment within the CCG.  No lump 
sum is shown for employees who only have membership in the 2008 section of the 
NHS Pension Scheme.  
 
The real increase figures shown above relate only to the period each individual was 
in post as a senior officer. 
 
Cash Equivalent Transfer Values 
 
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of 
the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The 
benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or 
other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme.  
 
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension 
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a 
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The 
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a 
consequence of their membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a 
senior capacity to which the disclosure applies.  
 
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension 
benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to 
the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued 
to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in 
the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and 
framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.  
 
Real Increase in Cash Equivalent Transfer Values 
 
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer.  It does not 
include the increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the 
employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or 
arrangement). 
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Staff report 
  
Staff Numbers 
 
Details of staffing costs for the year and the average number of employees can be 
found in notes 3.1 and 3.2 of the financial statements respectively. 
 
The CCG’s senior officers are listed in the remuneration report.  Four of the senior 
officers are on very senior manager (VSM) bandings, four of the senior officers are 
on agenda for change band 9 and the remaining senior officers are either paid on a 
sessional basis or are non-executive members and hence have no agenda for 
change banding. 
 
Staff Composition 
 
The CCG employs 124 people, 84.13 whole time equivalents.  The staff gender 
profile is given in the table below.  This reflects our gender representation on the 
Governing Body and other CCG staff.   
 

 Female Male 
Governing Body 15% 85% 
Employees 75.4% 24.6% 

 
These figures are as at 31 March 2021 and reflect the number of employees rather than full time 
equivalent figures.   
 

 
 
The CCG can demonstrate fair and equitable recruitment, workforce engagement 
and employment terms and conditions to ensure levels of pay and related terms and 
conditions are fairly determined for all posts, with staff doing equal work, and work 
rated as of equal value, and being entitled to equal pay. 
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The staff turnover rate for 2020/21 was 13.7% with the majority of those leavers 
moving to other roles within the NHS. 
 
 
Staff Sickness Absence 
 
The table below provides staff sickness absence data for the 12 months ended 31 
December 2020, showing the total number of full time equivalent (FTE) staff days 
lost to sickness absence and the total number of FTE years available, based on the 
total number of FTE staff members within the CCG.  This equates to an average 
number of days’ sickness per FTE member of staff of 4.3: 
 
 
 2020 

Number of days 
Total number of days lost to sickness absence 359.3 
Total staff years 84.2 
Average number of working days lost to sickness absence  4.3 
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Diversity 
 
The CCG's workforce is predominantly female, predominantly white British with a 
broad spread of ages.  Other ethnic groups are represented (five individuals) 
although it should be noted that number of staff have chosen not to declare or 
specify their ethnic origin.   
 

 
 
During 2020/21 we supported our members of staff who are black or of ethnic origin 
by ensuring that we completed appropriate Covid-19 risk assessments.  We foster a 
culture of inclusion and belonging.  As part of our response to the NHS People Plan, 
we will look to increase the diversity of our workforce to ensure that it is more 
representative of the communities we serve. 
 
Trade Union Representation 
 
None of the CCG's employees had a role as a Trade Union Official during 2020/21.  
We would provide appropriate support for any individual who wished to undertake 
such a role. 
 
Staff Policies 
The CCG is committed to giving full and fair consideration to all applications for 
employment received including those received from disabled persons, having regard 
to their particular aptitudes and abilities.   
 



 

 Page 114  
 

To support the human resource function the CCG has a suite of HR policies, 
implementation of which is supported by Human Resource Team within North of 
England Commissioning Support.  They cover the full range of HR issues including 
recruitment, training and career development.   
 
All appropriate support would be provided to any employee who might become a 
disabled person during the period when they were employed by the CCG. 
 
The NHS People Plan for 2020/2021  
 
‘We are the NHS: People Plan 2020/21 – action for us all’ sets out what we can 
expect of each other and our leaders.  Work this year has been a step in the right 
direction but we will work with our HR team to develop a more structured approach 
for 2021/22 as life returns to normal to address the nine areas identified: 
 

• health and wellbeing, 
• flexible working, 
• equality and diversity, 
• culture and leadership, 
• new ways of delivering care, 
• growing the workforce, 
• recruitment, 
• retaining staff, 
• recruitment and deployment across systems. 

 
Expenditure on Consultancy 
 
Details of expenditure on consultancy services can be found in note 4 of the financial 
statements, with expenditure on agency staff shown in note 3.1 of the financial 
statements.   
 
Off-Payroll Engagements 
 
There have been no off-payroll engagements during the year of greater than £245 
per day and lasting longer than 6 months. 
 
Exit Packages 
 
No exit packages have been agreed in the financial year.   
 
 
  
 
 
 
Dr Neil O’Brien 
Accountable Officer 
11 June 2021 
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report 
 
County Durham CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and 
Audit Report. Where relevant, disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and 
special payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included as notes in the Financial 
Statements of this report in pages 116 to 137.   
 
An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report at page 138. 

 

 
 
Dr Neil O’Brien 
Accountable Officer 
11 June 2021 
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NHS County Durham CCG - Annual Accounts 2020/21

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2021

2020/21
Note £000

Administration costs and programme expenditure
Other operating income 2 (154)                
Total operating income (154)                

Gross employee benefits 3.1 4,662               
Purchase of goods and services 4 1,051,922        
Other operating costs 4 375                  
Total operating expenditure 1,056,959        

Net operating costs for the financial year 1,056,805        

Net loss on transfer by absorption 6 70,186             
Total net expenditure for the year 1,126,991        

Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year 1,126,991        



Page 118

NHS County Durham CCG - Annual Accounts 2020/21

Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2021

31 March 2021 31 March 2020
Note £000 £000

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 8 1,962 2,371
Cash and cash equivalents 9 45 - 
Total current assets 2,007 2,371

Total assets 2,007 2,371

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 10 (69,550) (72,321)
Borrowings 11 - (236)
Total current liabilities (69,550) (72,557)

Total assets less current liabilities (67,543) (70,186)

Financed by taxpayers’ equity
General fund (67,543) (70,186)
Total taxpayers' equity (67,543) (70,186)

The notes on pages 121 to 137 of the Annual Report form part of this statement.

Dr Neil O'Brien 
Accountable Officer 
11 June 2021

The financial statements on pages 117 to 137 were approved and authorised for issue by the Audit and 
Assurance Committee on 7 June 2021 and signed on its behalf by:
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NHS County Durham CCG - Annual Accounts 2020/21

Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended
31 March 2021

General fund
Total 

reserves
£000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2020/21:

Balance at 1 April 2020 -                    -                    

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2020/21
Net operating costs for the financial year (1,056,805) (1,056,805)
Transfers by absorption (from) other bodies (70,186) (70,186)
Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial year (1,126,991) (1,126,991)

Net Parliamentary funding 1,059,448 1,059,448

Balance at 31 March 2021 (67,543) (67,543)
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NHS County Durham CCG - Annual Accounts 2020/21

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2021

2020/21
Note £000

Cash flows from operating activities
Net operating costs for the financial year (1,056,805)     
Decrease in trade and other receivables 8 409                
(Decrease) in trade and other payables 10 (2,771)            
Net cash outflow from operating activities (1,059,167)     

Net cash outflow before financing (1,059,167)     

Cash flows from financing activities
Net funding received 1,059,448      
Net cash inflow from financing activities 1,059,448      

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 9 281                

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year (236)               
Cash and cash equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the end of the 
financial year 45                  
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NHS County Durham CCG - Annual Accounts 2020/21

Notes to the financial statements

1 Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of CCGs shall meet the accounting requirements of 
the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the 
following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2020/21 
issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the Group 
Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful 
and appropriate to CCGs, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting 
Advisory Board.  Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting 
policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the CCG for the purpose of 
giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the CCG are described 
below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the 
accounts.

1.1 Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service 
in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published 
documents.

Where a CCG ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the 
same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for 
the final set of financial statements.  If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are 
prepared on the going concern basis.

In March 2021, NHS England and NHS Improvement (NHSE/I) published the planning guidance and related 
system financial envelopes for the first 6 months of 2021/22, including CCG allocations and system top-up, 
growth and covid funding. The contracting arrangements for the rest of 2021/22 and beyond are still to be 
determined. It remains the case that the Government has issued a mandate to NHSE/I for the continued 
provision of services in England in 2021/22 and CCG published allocations can be found on the NHS 
England website for 2021/22 to 2023/24. While these allocations may be subject to minor revision as a result 
of current temporary financial arrangements, the CCG expects to receive sufficient funding for the continued 
commissioning of relevant health services.

NHSE/I has indicated that legislation may be passed during the 2021 calendar year to put Integrated Care 
Services (ICS’s) on a statutory footing by 1 April 2022. CCGs will still be the statutory commissioners of NHS 
services until that point. The commissioning of health services (continuation of service) will continue after 
April 2022 but may be located in a different structure within the Department of Health and Social Care 
umbrella. Mergers or a change to the NHS Structure, such as an ICS way of working, is not considered to 
impact on going concern.

Our considerations cover the period through to 30 June 2022, being 12 months beyond the date of 
authorisation of these financial statements. Taking into account the information summarised above, the 
Governing Body have a reasonable expectation that the CCG (and any successor commissioning 
organisation) will have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.  
For this reason, we continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these financial statements.

1.2 Accounting Convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the 
revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and 
financial liabilities.



Page 122

NHS County Durham CCG - Annual Accounts 2020/21

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.3 Movement of Assets within the Department of Health and Social Care Group

NHS County Durham CCG was established with effect from 1 April 2020 following approval at the NHS England 
Assurance and Development Committee meeting of 9 March 2020. NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
CCG and NHS County Durham CCG were dissolved on 31 March 2020. 

As public sector bodies are deemed to operate under common control, business reconfigurations within the 
Department of Health and Social Care Group are outside the scope of IFRS 3 business combinations. Where functions 
transfer between two public sector bodies, the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 
requires the application of absorption accounting. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their 
transactions in the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions 
transfer within the public sector.  Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs.

Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health and Social Care Group are accounted for in line 
with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to income and expenditure entries.

1.4 Pooled Budgets

Where the CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 
2006, the CCG accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the 
pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.

1.5 Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the CCG’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be 
relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually 
reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.

1.5.1  Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that management has 
made in the process of applying the CCG’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements:

•  determining whether a substantial transfer of risks and rewards has occurred in relation to leased assets; and
•  determining whether a provision or contingent liability should be recognised in respect of certain potential future 
obligations, particularly in respect of continuing healthcare.

1.5.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the CCG’s accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

•  the assumptions applied in the estimation of activity not yet invoiced as at the Statement of Financial Position date;    
•  the estimate of potential future liabilities in respect of continuing healthcare services; and
•  the estimate of prescribing expenditure for the final two months of the year based on the ten months of actual 
charges received from the Prescription Pricing Division. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.6  Revenue

In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the standard have been employed. These
are as follows:
• as per paragraph 121 of the standard the CCG will not disclose information regarding the performance
obligations part of a contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less;
• the CCG is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the practical expedient
offered in paragraph B16 of the standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with the value of the
performance completed to date.

The main source of funding for the CCG is from NHS England. This is drawn down and credited to the general 
fund. Funding is recognised in the period in which it is received.

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.

Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

1.7 Employee Benefits

1.7.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received 
from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.

The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial 
statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.7.2 Retirement Benefit Costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. The scheme is an 
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under 
the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that 
would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the 
scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG of participating in the 
scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health, the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the 
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the CCG 
commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.

1.8 Other Expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. 
They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive 
obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.
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1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.9 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred 
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

1.9.1 The CCG as Lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease 
incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

1.10 Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more 
than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable 
on demand and that form an integral part of the CCG’s cash management.

1.11 Clinical Negligence Costs

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the CCG pays an annual contribution to NHS 
Resolution which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. 
Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability 
remains with the CCG.

1.12 Non-clinical Risk Pooling

The CCG participates in the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. This is a risk pooling scheme under which the 
CCG pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims 
arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims, are 
charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.13 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the CCG, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required 
to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent 
liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the CCG. A 
contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.
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1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.14 Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognised when the CCG becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of 
trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the 
contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.

Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
•                Financial assets at amortised cost;
•                Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income;
•                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;

The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set 
out in IFRS 9, and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

All CCG assets have been classified as financial assets at amortised cost.

1.14.1 Financial Assets at Amortised cost

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved 
by collecting contractual cash flows  and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This 
includes most trade receivables and other simple debt instruments.  After initial recognition these financial assets 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment.  The effective interest rate 
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the gross 
carrying amount of the financial asset.

1.14.2 Impairment

For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (except 
equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract 
assets, the CCG recognises a loss allowance representing the expected credit losses on the financial asset.

The CCG adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss 
allowance for trade receivables, lease receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected 
credit losses.  For other financial assets, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected 
credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition (stage 
2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month expected credit losses (stage 1).

HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against 
other government departments, their executive agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer 
Funds assets where repayment is ensured by primary legislation.  The CCG therefore does not recognise loss 
allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.  Additionally the Department of Health and 
Social Care provides a guarantee of last resort against the debts of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and 
the CCG does not recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies. 

For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at 
the reporting date are measured as the difference between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present 
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate.  Any 
adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

1.15 Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the Statement of Financial Position when the CCG becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services 
have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the 
liability has been paid or has expired.

1.15.1 Other Financial Liabilities

After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, except for loans from the Department of Health and Social Care, which are carried at historic cost. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, 
to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
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1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.16 Value Added Tax

1.17 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted

2. Other Operating Revenue
2020/21

Total
£000

Other non contract revenue 154                
Total other operating revenue 154                

Most of the activities of the CCG are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not 
apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant 
expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output 
tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

• IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 April 2022), as adapted and interpreted by the FREM;
• IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts (application from 1 January 2021) but not yet adopted by the 
FREM: early adoption is not therefore permitted;

The Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual does not require the 
following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2020/21.  These standards are still subject 
to HM Treasury FREM adoption, with IFRS 16 being delayed for implementation to 2022/23, and 
the government implementation date for IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury consideration.

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 
2020/21, were they applied in that year.

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into 
the bank account of the CCG and credited to the General Fund.

Revenue is totally from the supply of services. The CCG receives no revenue from the sale of goods.
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3. Employee benefits and staff numbers

3.1 Employee benefits 2020/21

Total
Permanent 
Employees Other

£000 £000 £000
Employee benefits
Salaries and wages 3,635              3,635              -                  
Social security costs 381                 381                 -                  
Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme 630                 630                 -                  
Apprenticeship levy 8                     8                     -                  
Termination benefits 8                     8                     -                  
Gross employee benefits expenditure 4,662              4,662              -                  

No amounts were recovered in respect of employee benefits and no employee benefits were capitalised during the year.

3.2 Average number of people employed

Total
Permanently 

employed Other
Number Number Number

Total 67                   67                   -                      

None of the above people were engaged on capital projects.

Total

A contribution to 3 shared posts was made for exit packages agreed in 2019/20, the costs shown within termination 
benefits relate to an additional charge for class 1As payable from 1st  April 2020 on those exit packages.

2020/21
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3. Employee benefits and staff numbers (continued)

3.3 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits 
payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.

Both Schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed 
under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care, in England and Wales. The Schemes are not 
designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and 
liabilities.

Therefore, each Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG of participating 
in the Scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that Scheme for the accounting period.

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that 
would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FREM requires that “the period between 
formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:

The employer contribution rate for NHS Pension Schemes increased from 14.3% to 20.6% from 1st April 2019. For 
2020/21, the CCG continued to pay over contributions at the former rate with the additional amount being paid by NHS 
England on behalf of the CCG. The full cost and related funding has been recognised in these accounts.

3.3.1 Accounting valuation 

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s 
Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period 
in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing 
suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2021, is based 
on valuation data at 31 March 2020, updated to 31 March 2021 with summary global member and accounting data. In 
undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FREM interpretations, and the 
discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of 
the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are 
published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

3.3.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the Scheme (taking into 
account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates to be paid by employers and 
scheme members. 

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2016.   The results 
of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 to 20.6% of pensionable pay. The 2016 funding 
valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap that was set following the 
2012 valuation. In January 2019, the Government announced a pause to the cost control element of the 2016 valuations, 
due to the uncertainty around member benefits caused by the discrimination ruling relating to the McCloud case. 

The Government subsequently announced in July 2020 that the pause had been lifted, and so the cost control element of
the 2016 valuations could be completed. The Government has set out that the costs of remedy of the discrimination will be
included in this process. HMT valuation directions will set out the technical detail of how the costs of remedy will be
included in the valuation process. The Government has also confirmed that the Government Actuary is reviewing the cost
control mechanism (as was originally announced in 2018). The review will assess whether the cost control mechanism is
working in line with original government objectives and reported to Government in April 2021. The findings of this review
will not impact the 2016 valuations, with the aim for any changes to the cost cap mechanism to be made in time for the
completion of the 2020 actuarial valuations.
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4. Operating expenses
2020/21

£000
Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England 8,306          
Services from foundation trusts 681,761      
Services from other NHS trusts 14               
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 165,142      
Prescribing costs 105,478      
Pharmaceutical services 195             
Primary Medical Services Costs (GPMS/APMS and PCTMS) 84,679        
Supplies and services – clinical 1                 
Supplies and services – general 43               
Consultancy services 40               
Establishment 344             
Transport 1                 
Premises 5,249          
Audit fees 71               
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·          Other services 1                 
Other professional fees 471             
Legal fees 78               
Education and training 48               
 Total Purchase of goods and services 1,051,922   

Other Operating Expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members 145             
Clinical negligence 6                 
Expected credit loss on receivables 215             
Other expenditure 9                 
Total other costs 375             

Total operating expenses 1,052,297   

Included within Other professional fees is £31,781 paid for Internal Audit Services.

Limitation of auditor's liability:
The CCG's contract for external audit services provides for a limitation of the auditor’s liability of £2,000,000.
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5. Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance 2020/21 2020/21
Number £000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the year 41,105         270,059       
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 41,015         269,001       
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 99.78% 99.61%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade invoices paid in the year 1,677           696,632       
Total NHS Trade invoices paid within target 1,667           696,470       
Percentage of NHS Trade invoices paid within target 99.40% 99.98%

6. Net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption

2020/21
£000

Transfer of receivables 2,371
Transfer of payables (72,321)
Transfer of borrowings (236)
Net loss on transfer by absorption (70,186)

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 
30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.

Transfers as part of a reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the 
Government Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting 
Manual does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been accounted for 
under merger accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their 
transactions in the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions 
transfer within the public sector.  Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs. 
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7. Operating Leases

7.1 As lessee

7.1.1 Payments recognised as an expense 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21
Buildings Other Total

£000 £000 £000
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments 407                  2                      409                  
Total 407                  2                      409                  

7.1.2 Future minimum lease payments 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21
Buildings Other Total

£000 £000 £000
Payable:
No later than one year 55                    -                       55                    
Total 55                    -                       55                    

The CCG has a lease with NHS Property Services Limited for the occupation of premises at the Lavender Centre. This 
note includes future minimum lease payments for the Lavender Centre only.

The CCG occupies property owned and managed by NHS Property Services Limited and Community Health 
Partnerships Limited.  The charges shown in note 7.1.1 from NHS Property Services Limited are intended to reflect the 
cost of occupancy, calculated based on market rents by NHS Property Services Limited. 

The CCG has entered into a small number of formal operating lease arrangements, relating to leased cars and the 
lease of photocopying equipment, none of which are individually significant.  Specific lease terms vary by individual 
arrangement but are based upon standard practice for the type of arrangement involved.
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8.  Trade and other receivables Current Non-current Current Non-current
31 March 2021 31 March 2021 31 March 2020 31 March 2020

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS receivables: Revenue 647                  -                        839                   -                        
NHS accrued income 102                  -                        202                   -                        
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue 670                  -                        723                   -                        
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 617                  -                        245                   -                        
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income 74                    -                        -                        -                        
Expected credit loss allowance - receivables (215)                 -                        -                        -                        
VAT 66                    -                        135                   -                        
Other receivables 1                      -                        2                       -                        
Total trade and other receivables 1,962               -                        2,371                -                        

Total current and non current 1,962               2,371

8.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired 31 March 2021 31 March 2020
£000 £000

By up to three months 115                   158
By three to six months 32                     77
By more than six months 86                     88
Total 233                   323

£51k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the Statement of Financial Position date.

The CCG did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2021 (31 March 2020: none).

8.2  Expected credit losses on financial assets

The great majority of trade is with other NHS bodies, including other CCGs as commissioners for NHS patient care services.  As CCGs are 
funded by Government to commission NHS patient care services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.

The CCG has reviewed all receivables to determine whether an impairment value is required.  In determining the recoverability of a 
receivable, the CCG considers any change in credit quality of the receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting 
date.  The overall level of credit risk is considered to be relatively low due to the proportion of the customer base which is comprised of 
NHS bodies.

The CCG has expected credit losses on trade and other receivables of £215k in 2020/21 (2019/20 £nil).
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9. Cash and cash equivalents
2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000
Balance at 1 April (236)                 265                 
Net change in year 281                  (501)                
Balance at 31 March 45                    (236)                

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service 45                    -                      
Cash and cash equivalents as in Statement of Financial Position 45                    -                      

Balance at 31 March 45                    (236)                

The CCG held £nil cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2021 on behalf of patients (31 March 2020: £nil).

10. Trade and other payables Current Non-current Current Non-current
31 March 2021 31 March 2021 31 March 2020 31 March 2020

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS payables: revenue 1,607               -                      7,356               -                      
NHS accruals 1,017               -                      4,223               -                      
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue 6,118               -                      3,079               -                      
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 59,145             -                      51,855             -                      
Social security costs 67                    -                      68                    -                      
Tax 68                    -                      69                    -                      
Other payables 1,528               -                      5,671               -                      
Total trade and other payables 69,550             -                      72,321             -                      

Total current and non-current 69,550             72,321             

Other payables include £786k in respect of outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2021 (31 March 2020: £700k).

11. Borrowings Current Non-current Current Non-current
31 March 2021 31 March 2021 31 March 2020 31 March 2020

Bank Overdrafts £000 £000 £000 £000
Government Banking Service -                       -                      236                  -                      
Total Overdrafts -                       -                      236                  -                      

Total current and non-current -                       236                  

11.1 Repayment of Principal falling due 31 March 2021 31 March 2021 31 March 2020 31 March 2020
Other Total Other Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Within one year -                       -                      236                  236                 
Total -                       -                      236                  236                 

At 31 March 2021, the CCG had no liabilities due in future years under arrangements to buy out the liability for early retirement 
over 5 years.
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12. Commitments

13. Financial instruments

13.1 Financial risk management

13.1.1 Currency risk

13.1.2 Interest rate risk

13.1.3 Credit risk

13.1.4 Liquidity risk

The CCG has no borrowings and has only limited powers to borrow funds from government for capital 
expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The CCG therefore has low exposure to 
interest rate fluctuations.

Because the majority of the CCG's revenue comes from Parliamentary funding, the CCG has low exposure to 
credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as 
disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.

The CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources 
voted annually by Parliament. The CCG draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The CCG 
is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during 
the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

As the CCG is financed through Parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced 
by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than 
would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The CCG has 
limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-
day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the CCG in undertaking its 
activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined 
formally within the CCG's standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Any 
treasury activity would be subject to review by the CCG's internal auditors.

The CCG is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities 
being in the UK and sterling based. The CCG has no overseas operations. The CCG therefore has low 
exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

There were no contracted or non-cancellable contracts entered into by the CCG at 31 March 2021 which are 
not otherwise included in these financial statements.
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13. Financial instruments (continued)

13.2 Financial assets
Financial Assets 

measured at 
amortised cost Total
31 March 2021 31 March 2021

£000 £000
Trade and other receivables:
·          NHSE bodies 712                      712                    
·          Other DHSC group bodies 240                      240                    
·          External bodies 542                      542                    
Cash and cash equivalents 45                        45                      
Total at 31 March 1,539                   1,539                 

13.3 Financial liabilities
Other Total

31 March 2021 31 March 2021
£000 £000

Trade and other payables:
·          NHSE bodies 1,586                   1,586                 
·          Other DHSC group bodies 27,968                 27,968               
·          External bodies 39,861                 39,861               
Total at 31 March 69,415                 69,415               

14. Operating segments

15. Pooled budgets

No other pooled budget arrangements are in place.

The CCG has considered the definition of an operating segment contained within IFRS 8 in determining its operating 
segments, in particular considering the internal reporting to the CCG's Governing Body, considered to be the 'chief 
operating decision maker' of the CCG, which was used for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of 
performance.

All activity performed by the CCG relates to its role as a commissioner of healthcare for its relevant population.  As a 
result, the CCG considers that it has only one operating segment, being the commissioning of healthcare services.

The CCG received delegated responsibility for the commissioning of certain primary medical care services from NHS 
England with effect from 1 April 2015.  The CCG has reviewed this against the definition of an operating segment but 
does not consider it to be a separate operating segment as the value of the delegated budgets amount to less than 
10% of the total CCG budget and the performance of those budgets are reported and managed as part of the CCGs 
overall commissioning budgets.

An analysis of both the income and expenditure and net assets relating to the segment can be found in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Net Expenditure and Statement of Financial Position respectively.

A pooled budget arrangement exists between Durham County Council and NHS County Durham CCG in respect of 
the Better Care Fund, through a section 75 agreement.  The BCF operates under a lead commissioner arrangement, 
with services being commissioned by a lead organisation on behalf of the pooled budget, rather than being a jointly 
controlled operation or jointly controlled asset arrangement.

The CCG contribution to the pooled budget in 2020/21 was £45,235k which was used to commission a range of 
health and social care services in line with the agreed objectives of the Better Care Fund.  This contribution to the 
Better Care Fund is recognised within the financial statements as CCG expenditure.



Page 136

NHS County Durham CCG - Annual Accounts 2020/21

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

16. Related party transactions

CCG Governing Body member Related Party

Payments to 
Related 

Party

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party

Amounts 
due from 

Related 
Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS Sunderland CCG 521              (71)               162             -                  
NHS South Tyneside CCG 131              (71)               -                 -                  

Dr N O'Brien Cestria Health Centre 1,943           -                   180             -                  
Accountable Officer Chester le Street Health Federation 952              -                   19               -                  

S Findlay Bishopgate Medical Centre 2,047           -                   92               -                  
Chief Officer North of England Commissioning Support Unit 8,025           (749)             1,182          (9)                

Evenwood Medical Practice 646              -                   157             -                  
Bishopgate Medical Centre 2,047           -                   92               -                  

Dr J Carlton Durham Dales Health Federation 3,522           (5)                 138             -                  
Medical Director NHS Tees Valley CCG 384              (640)             25               (184)            

Dr I Davidson Lanchester Medical Centre 752              -                   25               (28)              
Medical Director Derwentside Healthcare Limited 1,945           -                   299             (9)                

M Brierley
Director of Commissioning, Strategy and Delivery NHS Tees Valley CCG 384              (640)             25               (184)            

J Chandy South Durham Health CIC 5,199           (14)               194             -                  
Director of Commissioning, Strategy and Delivery East Durham Medical Group 3,231           (2)                 98               -                  

S Burns
Joint Head of Integrated Strategic Commissioning Durham County Council 82,113         (15,141)        10,815        (133)            

Dr J Smith GP Partner Silverdale Family Practice 830              -                   35               -                  
Chair South Durham Health CIC 5,199           (14)               194             -                  

J Whitehouse 
Lay Member, Governance and Audit NHS South Tyneside CCG 131              (71)               -                 -                  

Dr C Markwick Old Forge Surgery 690              -                   23               -                  
Elected Healthcare Professional (GP) Durham Dales Health Federation 3,522           (5)                 138             -                  

A Greenley
Director of Nursing and Quality North of England Commissioning Support Unit 8,025           (749)             1,182          (9)                

J Cram
Director of Nursing and Quality County Durham and Darlington NHS FT 369,735       (1)                 762             -                  

A Healy
Director of Public Health (DCC) Durham County Council 82,113         (15,141)        10,815        (133)            

J Robinson
Durham County Council Durham County Council 82,113         (15,141)        10,815        (133)            

All of these transactions were undertaken under standard terms and conditions in the normal course of business.

• NHS England;
• NHS Foundation Trusts;
• NHS Trusts;
• NHS Resolution; and,
• NHS Business Services Authority.

During the year the CCG has undertaken transactions with the following CCG Governing Body members or members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of 
them:

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year the CCG has had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which 
the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:

In addition, the CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies. Most of these transactions 
have been with Durham County Council.
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17. Events after the end of the reporting period

18. Financial performance targets

CCGs have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

The CCG's performance against those duties was as follows:

2020/21 2020/21
Target Performance

£000 £000
Expenditure not to exceed income 1,059,307          1,056,959          

-                         -                         
1,059,153          1,056,805          

10,487               9,538                 

Performance against the revenue expenditure duties is further analysed below:

2020/21 2020/21 2020/21
Programme 

Resource
Administration 

Resource Total
£000 £000 £000

Revenue resource 1,048,666          10,487               1,059,153          
Net operating cost for the financial year 1,047,267          9,538                 1,056,805          
Underspend against revenue resource 1,399                 949                    2,348                 

The CCG has delivered an in-year surplus of £2.348m in 2020/21, in line with plans agreed with NHS England.  

CCG financial performance is reported on an in-year basis.  The figures within this note reflect only the in-year position, 
being the difference between the in-year allocation (plus any pre-approved surplus drawdown) and total expenditure.

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions

The CCG received no capital resource during 2020/21 and incurred no capital expenditure.

There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the CCG.

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF NHS 
COUNTY DURHAM CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of NHS County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group for the year 
ended 31 March 2021 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. The financial statements comprise the 
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in 
Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes 1 to 18. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the 2020/21 HM Treasury’s 
Financial Reporting Manual (the 2020/21 FReM) as contained in the Department of Health and Social Care 
Group Accounting Manual 2020/21 and the Accounts Direction issued by the NHS Commissioning Board with the 
approval of the Secretary of State as relevant to the National Health Service in England (the Accounts Direction). 
 
In our opinion the financial statements: 
 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group 
as at 31 March 2021 and of its net operating costs for the year then ended; and 

• have been prepared properly in accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and the Accounts 
Directions issued thereunder. 

 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements section of our report below. We are independent of NHS County Durham Clinical 
Commissioning Group (the CCG)in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard and the Comptroller and Auditor General’s 
(C&AG) AGN01 and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 
 
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Clinical Commissioning Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern for a period up to the end of June 2022 from when the financial statements 
are authorised for issue. 
 
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Accountable Officer with respect to going concern are 
described in the relevant sections of this report.  However, because not all future events or conditions can be 
predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the CCG’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
 
 
Other information  

The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.  The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information 
contained within the Annual Report. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in this report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements 
themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the 
other information, we are required to report that fact. 
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We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Health and Social Care Act 2012 
 
In our opinion the part of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited has been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and the Accounts Directions issued thereunder. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 
We are required to report to you if: 
 

• in our opinion the governance statement does not comply with the guidance issued by the NHS 
Commissioning Board; or 

• we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or 
has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is 
about to take, or has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be 
unlawful and  likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or 

• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; 
or 

• we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability 
Act 2014; or 

• we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2021. 

 
We have nothing to report in these respects. 
 
 
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer 
 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities in respect of the Accounts, set 
out on page 77, the Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for 
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and for such internal control as the Accountable Officer 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Accountable Officer is also responsible for ensuring the 
regularity of expenditure and income. In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is 
responsible for assessing the CCG’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Accountable Officer either 
intends to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
As explained in the Annual Governance Statement the Accountable Officer is responsible for the arrangements to 
secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the CCG's resources.  
 
 
Auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.   
 
 
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures 
in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect irregularities, including fraud. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.   
The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below. 
However, the primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud rests with both those charged with 
governance of the entity and management. 
 

• We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the CCG 
and determined that the most significant are the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and other legislation 
governing NHS CCGs, as well as relevant employment laws of the United Kingdom. In addition, the 



Page 140 
 

CCG has to comply with laws and regulations in the areas of anti-bribery and corruption and data 
protection. 

 
• We understood how the CCG is complying with those frameworks by understanding the incentive, 

opportunities and motives for non-compliance, including inquiring of the Chief Financial Officer, Internal 
Audit Manager and Those Charged with Governance and obtaining and reviewing documentation 
relating to the procedures in place to identify, evaluate and comply with laws and regulations, and 
whether they are aware of instances of non-compliance.  

 
• We assessed the susceptibility of the CCG’s financial statements to material misstatement, including 

how fraud might occur by planning and executing a journal testing strategy, testing the appropriateness 
of relevant entries and adjustments. We have considered whether judgements made in the calculation of 
manual accruals, outside of the standard accounts payable process, are indicative of potential bias, and 
considered whether the CCG is engaging in any transactions outside the usual course of business.  

 
• Based on this understanding we designed our audit procedures to identify noncompliance with such 

laws and regulations. Our procedures involved enquiry of the Chief Financial Officer, Internal Audit 
Manager and Those Charged with Governance, reading and reviewing relevant meeting minutes of 
those charged with governance and the Governing Body and understanding the internal controls in 
place to mitigate risks related to fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations.  

 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.  This description forms part of our 
auditor’s report. 
 
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the 
use of resources 
 
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance on 
the specified reporting criteria issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2021, as to whether the 
CCG had proper arrangements for financial sustainability, governance and improving economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness.  The Comptroller and Auditor General determined these criteria as that necessary for us to 
consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 
March 2021. 
 
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we 
undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on whether, in all significant respects, the CCG 
had put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 
 
We are required under Section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the 
CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 
Section 21(5)(b) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires that our report must not contain our 
opinion if we are satisfied that proper arrangements are in place. 
 
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively. 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
Regularity opinion 
 
We are responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in accordance with the 
Code of Audit Practice prepared by the Comptroller and Auditor General as required by the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 (the "Code of Audit Practice"). 
 
We are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the expenditure and income 
recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial 
transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. 
 
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the financial statements have been 
applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which 
govern them. 
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Delay in certification of completion of the audit  
We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate until we have completed our procedures on 
the CCG’s value for money arrangements for the year ended 31 March 2021. We are satisfied that this work does 
not have a material effect on the financial statements. We will report the outcome of our work on the CCG’s 
arrangements in our commentary on those arrangements within the Auditor’s Annual Report.  Our audit 
completion certificate will set out any matters which we are required to report by exception. 

Until we have completed these procedures, we are unable to certify that we have completed the audit of the 
accounts in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of 
Audit Practice issued by the National Audit Office.  

 
Use of our report 
 
This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of NHS County Durham Clinical 
Commissioning Group in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and for no other 
purpose. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the members of the Governing Body of 
the CCG those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the members as a 
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 
 
Maria Grindley (Key Audit Partner) 
Ernst & Young LLP (Local Auditor) 
Reading 
14 June 2021 
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	Assurance over the relevant control environments in place for these systems has been gained from independent auditor reports for the year ended 31 March 2021, in accordance with ISAE 3000 or 3402 (International Standard on Assurance Engagements). No s...
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